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Chief Executive’s Foreword
Welcome to this year’s annual report our very first as Birmingham Women’s and
Children’s NHS Foundation Trust.
As you will see, our report contains information on both
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust
(BWC) reflecting our exciting integration on 1 February 2017.
Well, what a year 2016/17 has been, one of the most
memorable yet in the history of Birmingham Children’s Hospital
as we have journeyed towards our newly integrated Trust – the
first of its kind in the UK. I am so excited about what we are
going to be able to achieve together, impacting on healthcare
for women, children and families across our city, region and
beyond.
The planning and preparation that has gone into making our
vision a reality has been immense. Not only in terms of securing
the financial support needed to make the integration happen,
but also all of the practical work that has gone on behind
the scenes to merge a number of support services such as
IT, finance and HR, along with ensuring communication and
engagement with staff during uncertain times.
All this has been set against a very busy year with ever
increasing demand on our services. Indeed activity across
the Children’s Hospital has once again been record-breaking.
We’ve seen on average 22 more outpatients every day
compared to last year and almost 192,000 outpatient visits for
the year, an increase of 4.4% from 2015/16.
We have also seen around 10 more children and young people
every day in our Emergency Department (ED), with almost
59,500 attending during the year – a 6.6% increase on the
previous 12 months. And with a record number of emergencies
in March 2017 (185 per day and 5,732 for the month), it seems
even more incredible that the team has worked together and
pulled out all of the stops to ensure we met our end of year
target of just over 95% of patients departing our ED within four
hours of arriving - one of the only a small number organisations
to achieve this in the NHS.

It will probably not come as a surprise to you that finances have
once again been a huge challenge too, so we were delighted to
meet our savings target reporting a £8.9million surplus. Again,
we finished in the black. Those savings are now in the bank,
ready to go towards future investments in our hospitals’ estate
and equipment. However, this is the only start of the efficiency
challenge and we now face the mammoth task of saving over
£19million in 2017/18.

Continuing to make our Trust a great place to work has
remained a top priority as well, because without happy,
motivated and engaged teams realising our ambitions would
not have been possible. We had some good staff survey
scores this year, which shows that staff do feel engaged,
but also some areas where we know we need to do more to
support staff, and we have plans in place to address these in
2017/18.

This year also saw our amazing new clinical building, Waterfall
House, come to life, and it’s only a few short months now until
we’re treating our children and young people with cancer and
rare diseases in a modern building designed around their needs,
as well as enjoying a new theatre suite.

So, it’s been a monumental year for both Birmingham
Children’s Hospital and Birmingham Women’s. There is now
a real excitement about our joint future and what this new
chapter will bring. Later in 2017/18 we welcome the arrival of
Professor Sir Bruce Keogh, one of the UK’s leading medics,
as he takes up the role of Chairman and continues the work
of Dame Christine Braddock who achieved so much in her
three-year tenure. It will also be the year in which we create
our shared vision and values for the future.

The opening of Magnolia House, our unique support centre, was
probably the most special moment of the year. The space we
have created, working with some of our bereaved families, is like
nothing else we have. Feedback so far has been overwhelmingly
positive and we cannot thank The Wesleyan enough for their
£750,000 fundraising contribution that made the project possible.
But the icing on the cake, for everyone at the Children’s Hospital,
has been the ‘Outstanding’ Care Quality Commission (CQC)
rating we received in February 2017. This truly remarkable
achievement would not have been possible without our
incredible teams who work tirelessly every day to deliver the very
best care to our children, young people and families.

So, it’s onwards and upwards for everyone at Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s, learning from each other and
ensuring our women, children and families receive the very
highest standards of care available anywhere in the world.

However, ‘Outstanding’ does not mean perfect, and will not be
resting on our laurels; remaining as committed and passionate
as ever. Our integration will allow our teams to work even more
closely; learning from each other to improve even further.
Just one example of how staff from across our organisation
have come together to great effect is this year’s award-winning
‘Get a Jab, Give a Jab’ flu campaign, with 10 tetanus jabs sent
to expectant mothers and children in Africa for every flu jab we
gave. By March we had secured a whopping 40,000 tetanus
vaccines, and I am very proud of the team at the Children’s
who were top of the national leader board with 95.7% of our
frontline staff getting themselves, their patients and their
loved ones protected.
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Chairman’s Foreword
As Interim Chairman, I’m delighted to be in
a position where I can reflect on what has
been a truly outstanding year.
I officially took up the role at the beginning of April but I
have been a Non-Executive Director for the last two years,
deputising for former Chairman, Dame Christine Braddock,
who successfully led us through our integration to become
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust. A
huge thank you to her for getting us to where we are now.
This is a really exciting time to be part of the Board and I am
so privileged to have taken the reins from Christine for a short
period before I hand over to our new Chairman Professor Sir
Bruce Keogh, who joins us later this year.
Both the Women’s and Children’s Hospitals have truly
remarkable histories and despite periods of change we have
proved that we can still achieve greatness, if we keep our
women, children and families at the heart of what we do.
Over the coming months I’m looking forward to seeing the
building blocks being put in place that will help to cement our
new integrated women’s and children’s identity.
We already have a new visual identity for our united trust with
the strapline By Your Side, which we feel represents exactly
what we do across both hospitals - supporting families every
step of the way through their treatment and beyond.

clear that there are some distinct areas of work that we need to
focus on across the whole Trust including bullying, harassment
and discrimination. We also want to do more to involve and
empower staff in helping us to make the quality and safety of
our care even better across both hospitals.
There were some real positives to come out of the Children’s
Staff Survey namely the highest staff engagement scores in the
country. In addition to that, 76% of Children’s staff (5% more
than last year) said that they would recommend us as a place
to work and 90% (same as last year) would recommend us as a
place to be treated.
Financially, it has been a tough year but with very careful
management of our finances we were in a much better position
than many other Trusts at the end of March. The biggest
challenges now lie ahead as our integrated Trust works hard to
save over £19million. I am confident that with Sarah-Jane and
her Executive team at the helm, it’s something we can achieve.
This year has been an exciting chapter in the hospital’s history
and I’ve been delighted to play a small role in making this
happen. The excellent appointment of Sir Bruce as our new
Chairman will bring even more expertise to an already strong
team and I am confident that he will continue to take the Trust
from strength to strength, building on the fabulous knowledge
and skills of our 5,700 staff.

The next step will be to develop and agree our organisational
strategy and objectives and of course those all-important vision
and values.
And to do this, we must have our staff on board which is why
over the last few months we have held a number of focus
groups and drop in sessions to really draw out what it is that
truly drives and motivates them in their roles.

Vij Randeniya

Interim Chairman

The knock-on effect of this is a happy, motivated, engaged
workforce, which will hopefully have a positive impact on our
Staff Survey figures. The 2016 Staff Survey results were broken
down according to each hospital (before integration), but it’s
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Who we are and what we do
Introduction

comprehensive genetics service, which serves men and women. Our fertility centre is one of the
best in the country, while the fetal medicine centre receives regional and national referrals.
Our hospital is also an international centre for education, research and development with a
research budget of over £3million per year. In April 2016, we were announced as the national
miscarriage research centre – the first of its kind in the UK – in partnership with Tommy’s baby
charity.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust officially
acquired Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust on
1 February 2017 to become Birmingham Women’s and Children’s
NHS Foundation Trust – the first of its kind in the UK.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital is the UK’s leading specialist paediatric centre,

caring for sick children and young people between 0 and 16 years of age. Based in the heart of
Birmingham city centre, we are world leaders in some of the most advanced treatments, complex
surgical procedures and cutting edge research and development. We are a nationally designated
specialist centre for epilepsy surgery, and also boast a paediatric major trauma centre for the West
Midlands, a national liver and small bowel transplant centre and are a centre of excellence for
complex heart conditions, the treatment of burns, cancer and liver and kidney disease.

Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust brings together the very best in
paediatric and women’s care in the region and is proud to have many UK and world-leading
surgeons, doctors, nurses, midwives and other allied healthcare professionals on our team.
The integration of our Trusts follows months of close working to develop shared goals for the
best women’s and children’s healthcare, built around the whole family, improving care for many
generations of families to come.
Our two much loved hospitals’ names and locations remain the same, as have our incredible
teams. With our 5,700 staff working together to provide the best possible care to thousands
of patients each year, we pride ourselves on caring, listening, responding and improving, and
as a newly integrated Trust we’re currently working to bring together one mission, vision and a
combined set of values.

Birmingham Women’s Hospital is a centre of excellence, providing a range

of specialist health care services to over 50,000 women and their families every year from
Birmingham, the West Midlands and beyond. As well as delivering around 8,000 babies
every year, we offer a full range of gynaecological, maternity and neonatal care, as well as a

We are also home to one of the largest Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services in the
country, comprising of a dedicated inpatient Eating Disorder Unit and Acute Assessment Unit for
regional referrals of children and young people with the most serious of problems (Tier 4) and the
new Forward Thinking Birmingham mental health service for 0 to 25 year olds.
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Our journey through the year
This year was huge in the history of Birmingham Children’s Hospital as we were rated
‘Outstanding’ by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). The report confirmed that we are the only
standalone children’s hospital in the country, and the only hospital in the whole of the Midlands
and East Midlands region to achieve the highest rating possible.
Critical Care and Transitional Services each received five stars and Medical Care and End of Life
Care were declared to be Outstanding too. Our children, young people and families told inspectors
that we go the extra mile for them, keeping them informed and supported in their care, while
treating them with dignity and respect at some of the most difficult times imaginable.
There are areas where we know we need to do better, especially in the ‘Safe’ domain where
we received a ‘Requires Improvement’. This was mainly driven by the seven Never Events we
reported in 2015/16 plus the care on our Neonatal Surgical Ward where the CQC had a series
of concerns. We will be working closely with our colleagues in the Neonatal Unit at the Women’s
Hospital to learn as much as we can from them to raise our standards.

Research and Development
This year saw the launch of a brand new clinic for children and young people with undiagnosed
conditions. Our Syndrome Without a Name (Swan) clinic is the first of its kind in the country, a
number of our experts have been working closely with SWAN UK to help manage conditions, find
diagnoses and offer support to those who need it. A new Tuberous Sclerosis clinic also went live
to look after those patients with this genetic condition which can lead to growths in the body, most
commonly the brain, eyes, heart, kidney, skin and lungs.
Both of these clinics focus on delivering holistic and multidisciplinary care to help co-ordinate the
support we offer to our children, young people and their families. This is the key driver behind our
new pioneering Rare Diseases Centre – a UK first for children - which will be based in Waterfall
House, funded through our charity’s successful £3.65million Star Appeal.
We also celebrated success in the recruitment of 1,000 patients to the 100,000 Genomes Project
securing our place as the top recruiter within the West Midlands. Eighteen hospitals across our
region have joined together to form the West Midlands Genomic Medicine Centre, one of 13
centres nationally working together. The aim is to improve the diagnosis and treatment of rare
diseases and cancers by collecting and decoding 100,000 human genomes and pave the way
for personalised treatment. Our team continues to be dedicated to this project, driving it forward
alongside routine appointments, where they record consent and take blood samples.
Continuing the theme of successful recruitment, our RAPID (Real-Time Adaptive and Predictive
Indicator of Deterioration) study gained real momentum this year as it celebrated its 1,000th
recruit. This particular study is the first of its kind in the world and uses wireless technology to
continually monitor our young cardiac patients’ vital signs.
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unpleasant and unhealthy. We await the results and subsequent plans on this going forward.
Keeping our children, young people and families safe from getting flu is one of our top priorities
every winter, so we were delighted this year to be top of the UK leader board for vaccinating our
front line staff. Of our front line staff, 95.7% were vaccinated, over 30% higher than the national
figure (63.4%). Our innovative Get a Jab, Give a Jab campaign saw us team with Unicef to offer
10 tetanus vaccines to children and expectant mothers in Africa for every jab our staff had. Due to
our incredible uptake we were all very proud to secure more than 28,000 tetanus vaccinations that
we know will make a huge difference to families in Africa.
Our fundraising team has also been busy preparing for our second charitable public art event, The
Big Sleuth, to get one million people walking, jogging, running or cycling around our giant bear
sculpture trail in the summer of 2017. This project follows the flying success of its predecessor
in 2015, a trail of 89 large owls called The Big Hoot, which used art and creativity to promote
important healthy-living messages, encouraging all ages and demographics to explore the great
outdoors and get active.

Education and opportunity
This year the General Medical Council (GMC) ranked us as the best hospital in the country
when it comes to the experience of junior doctors training in their first year. As one of the UK’s
leading specialist paediatric training centres, we pride ourselves on listening to and acting on the
feedback of all our doctors in training and see each and every one of them as a crucial part of
the team. Each year we host 42 foundation trainees who gain invaluable practical knowledge and
hands-on skills across a wide range of specialties. The rating is based on feedback from trainee
doctors via the GMC’s annual survey that all trainee doctors are asked to complete.

Forward Thinking Birmingham

We also signed up to the national Nurse Associates Programme – an NHS and Heath Education
England initiative to develop new roles that can support nurses, by taking on some of their duties
to concentrate on other elements of patient care. Eight of our Clinical Support Workers will now
take their careers in a new direction as they begin two years of training with Birmingham City
University.

Our 0 to 25’s Forward Thinking Birmingham community mental health service celebrated its first
birthday on 1 April 2017.
Since its launch, the Access Centre team has taken more than 37,000 calls and received over
10,000 referrals into the service. More than 1,000 young people and a further 1,000 parents,
carers and professionals have visited our drop-in centre Pause in Digbeth for advice and
guidance. Staff and volunteers at Pause have also been busy running a number of successful
workshops for our young people over the last few months, on topics such as creative writing, body
image and mindfulness.

Working efficiently and effectively
This year we have seen a reduction in the number of cancelled operations, thanks to the
introduction of a new pre-operative assessment service. Led by the anaesthetic and nursing
teams this new patient tracking system has enabled us to reduce our cancellations to less than
two per month. This has been achieved by simply ensuring those who are due to come for
surgery feel more informed and comfortable about the procedure and recovery and checking they
are in the best possible health before their operation.

Our role in public health
We are committed to doing everything we can to provide excellent care and improve the
experiences of our children, young patients and their families. August saw the launch of the
first ever consultation - working with Birmingham City Council - around proposals to introduce
Birmingham’s first smoke-free zone around our Steelhouse Lane site.

The system is also effective in helping us to better manage the arrangements for admission,
discharge and pre-operative care. As well as reducing cancellations, it is thought this could
potentially save us in excess of £100,000 in software and performance reporting
costs so we’re hoping to roll this out across the hospital by the summer.

Although all of our buildings and grounds have been designated smoke-free since 2005, the
consultation was in response to concerns from children, their families and visitors that smoking in
public spaces around the site, particularly close to the main entrance, is making the environment
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Celebrating our success
Once again this year, we recognised the hard work and commitment of 150 members of staff who
have dedicated 10, 20 and 25 years to our hospital and 30, 35 and 40 years to the wider NHS. To
make it really special we put on a tea party at Birmingham Town Hall to congratulate this year’s
long service awardees and present them with certificates and a gift.
The evening after, we held our highly anticipated masquerade-themed Star Awards 2016 where
over 500 people gathered to celebrate the brilliant work of Team BCH.
We received over 250 nominations this year from patients, families and staff for 13 awards with
the Lifetime Achievement award going to one of our longer serving members of staff Kathy Green
from Switchboard. Chris Holden, former Nutritional Care Lead, meanwhile won the Special
Lifetime Achievement award.
There was international recognition for Khalid Sharif, Professor Darius Mirza and Peter
Bromley this year who were honoured by the Government of Pakistan for their voluntary work
helping to set up a pioneering transplantation programme for young children.
The work, which began in 2010, has seen the trio and a number of colleagues from both the
Children’s Hospital and University Hospitals Birmingham make the journey to Rawalpindi’s
Military Hospital to share knowledge and expertise with the aim of equipping doctors, nurses and
surgeons with the skills to run a liver unit, offering all round care to some of the poorest people in
the country. It’s the first young children’s liver transplantation programme of its kind in Pakistan
and the team’s dedicated work has already helped to save lives.
Chief Executive Sarah-Jane Marsh has also picked up her own fair share of accolades this year.
She was named as number 65 in the Health Service Journal’s (HSJ) top 100 people with the
greatest influence over the NHS, picked up the President’s award from the Greater Birmingham
Chambers of Commerce for her work to lead Birmingham Children’s Hospital to its ‘Outstanding’
status, and appeared once again in the HSJ’s Top 50 Chief Executives list.
Professor Deidre Kelly CBE was awarded the European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology,
Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) Distinguished Service Award. Recognising those who have
offered a major contribution to the development of paediatric gastroenterology, hepatology or
nutrition. Based on a philosophy that focuses on children and their families, not just their disease,
Professor Kelly has helped transform rates for young people surviving transplant operations from
40% in 1989 to around 90% today, many of whom are now young adults.
In addition, the Liver Unit received further international recognition this year after being named as
part of a specialist European network for the treatment of rare conditions.
Fresh off the back of her OBE in the Queen’s Birthday Honours list, Professor Celia Moss was
awarded the Sir Archibald Gray medal in recognition of her outstanding services to dermatology
– the highest accolade that anyone can receive in the field of British dermatology. Professor
Moss is a fantastic asset to the team and her patients and remains at the forefront of dermatology
treatment and innovation across the world.
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On the same day that our Care Quality Commission report was published, we celebrated the
official opening of Magnolia House – our brand new £1million home-from-home sanctuary based
in the centre of our Steelhouse Lane site.

Professors Jeremy Kirk and Nick Shaw were awarded honorary professorships by the University
of Birmingham. Both have been the driving forces behind the growth of our Endocrinology
department to becoming the largest of its type in the UK. Both have had prolific clinical and
academic careers and are seen as leading experts in their field. Professor Kirk is also the only
clinical director in the 15 local networks which make up the Clinical Research Network West
Midlands.

Approximately 120 life changing conversations take place every year here, and while we sadly
can’t change bad news, Magnolia House – the first centre of its kind in the UK - will provide a
much-needed quiet and relaxing space for families facing difficult circumstances.

Consultant Intensivist Barney Scholefield fought off stiff competition from other specialists
across the UK to secure a £1million Clinician Scientist Fellowship by the National Institute for
Health Research (NIHR). The grant which will be used over the next five years will research the
development and implementation of a prediction tool which could be used when treating patients
following a cardiac arrest.

The building was funded entirely by charitable donations with £750,000 kindly given by our near
neighbours Wesleyan. They joined us for the ribbon cutting along with hospital staff and bereaved
mothers, Gail Routledge and Rachel Ollerenshaw, who have been heavily involved with the look
and feel of the house.

Our Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service became one of only two NHS inpatient services
in the country to receive autism accreditation. This was awarded by the National Autistic Society
in recognition for consistently delivering high-quality care to young people who have autism, in
addition to significant mental health difficulties. The team has embedded good Autism Spectrum
Disorder practice and worked hard to introduce new training and staff resources.
Our Research and Development team was shortlisted for four Clinical Research Network West
Midlands’ Network awards. Lab Research and Development Coordinator Ian Surplice was highly
commended in the Support Service category for his work as a regional ambassador and the
significant contribution labs make to research. The Clinical Research Facility’s Public and Patient
Involvement team was also highly commended for their work with young people. Our Emergency
Department (ED) team was nominated for the Emerging New Team award in recognition of the
work they have done to get children and young people in ED involved in research studies and the
entire Research and Development team was nominated for Team of the Year.
Our Aspire team was shortlisted for a Health Service Journal award this year. The team was
nominated in the Workforce category for their internship, traineeship, work experience and
apprenticeship opportunities, as well as their employability programme for those with learning
disabilities.

Creating great buildings for great care
Building work has progressed rapidly this year on our brand new £37.5million clinical building,
called Waterfall House. The eye-catching four-storey building - which is due for completion later
in 2017 - will be home to the UK’s first pioneering Rare Diseases Centre for children, a combined
inpatient and outpatient cancer centre and three new operating theatres.

Artist’s impression of Waterfall House

This incredibly exciting and much needed development has been funded by capital monies, along
with our charitable £4million Cancer Centre Appeal and the £3.65million Star Appeal.
From the end of 2017, our oncology inpatients and outpatients will be seen and treated in the
same place by our team of dedicated specialists. For our rare diseases patients, it will improve
diagnosis, ensure our children and young people at the forefront of research and medical
advances and enable families to spend time together; sharing their experiences of living with
some of the most complex conditions imaginable.
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Fundraising
Our recently integrated Trust is privileged to benefit from the support of two leading charities that
fund some of our ground-breaking research and important extras that make Birmingham Women’s
Hospital and Birmingham Children’s Hospital so special.

The identities of both of these charities are very strong and while it will be managed by one
overarching independent board of trustees, the two brand names will remain the same.
Thanks to the generous support of fundraisers we can provide a level of patient care beyond what
NHS funding alone can deliver. Together we can make projects happen sooner and to a greater
degree than might otherwise have been possible.

Following our merger our two charities decided to follow suit and they now united together to coordinate all fundraising activities.

Following in the footsteps of 2015’s successful
The Big Hoot – which saw giant owls land all
across Birmingham – we’re excited to welcome our
second public art trail in summer 2017, called The
Big Sleuth, the collective noun for a group of bears.
The Big Sleuth will see up to one hundred, 165cmtall bear sculptures leave their paw prints all over
Birmingham for 10-weeks from July encouraging
residents and visitors to get active and walk, jog,
run or cycle the trail in order to keep healthy. After
the trail, the giant bears will be auctioned to raise
vital funds for Birmingham Children’s Hospital.
At Birmingham Women’s Hospital, the Tiny Babies,
Big Appeal continues to raise funds for muchneeded, vital equipment to help us care for sick
and premature babies, as well as activities that
help to improve the experience of our patients
across all areas of the hospital.
So, all in all, it’s been a pretty amazing year –
one that we’re all immensely proud of. We’re
all looking forward to continuing on our exciting
and united journey. Our teams working together
have even more knowledge and expertise, along
with the enthusiasm to improve and shape the
future of family-centred care in Birmingham and
the region, for generations to come.
More information about Birmingham Women’s
Hospital between April 2016 and January 2017 can
be found in a separate Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Report 2016/17.
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Performance Report
Overview

Chief Executive’s Statement on Performance
The development of a new financial management approach
across the NHS introduced a new dynamic to our approach
during the financial year. The eventual financial control target
was agreed later than we would ideally have liked after our initial
financial plans had been communicated across the organisation.
This meant that a further £3 million worth of efficiencies were
required to be delivered over and above that in the original plan.

The purpose of this overview is to provide a short summary of
the Trust, our purpose, the key risks to the achievement of our
objectives and our performance during the year.
The Birmingham and Midland Free Hospital was founded in 1862 and moved to Steelhouse
Lane in Birmingham in 1998. The Trust also owns a site located at Parkview in Moseley which
hosts the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS). The Trust provides services
from a range of accommodation in the community and in several partner acute organisations.

As this report shows, we were successful in achieving the
financial control target and the operational targets which allowed
the organisation to secure £6.3million of Sustainability and
Transformation Funding. Great credit for this achievement goes
to the hard work of the teams across Birmingham Children’s
Hospital and across Birmingham Women’s and Children’s as a
whole in the last two months of the year.

The hospital was granted Foundation Trust status on 1 February 2007 under the Health
and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 and was named Birmingham
Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.
On 1 February 2017 the Trust
acquired Birmingham Women’s
NHS Foundation Trust (BWH)
and in recognition of the extended
services of the enlarged,
integrated organisation, the Trust
changed its name to Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust.

The organisation’s headline financial performance appears strong; this includes monies
received as a result of hitting the very challenging control total and delivering our operational
performance targets. This has meant we have had to continue to make every penny count
without compromising patient care or the patient experience whilst absorbing the impact of
increased activity growth and associated bed pressures especially in our mental health services.
We continued to deliver strong operational performance whether in meeting our waiting list
targets, Emergency Department four hour targets or our cancer targets. The work we have been
undertaking renewing one of the MRI scanners at Steelhouse Lane did mean that we have not
met the six-week diagnostic wait targets; however, we continue to monitor on a case-by-case
basis to ensure that clinical safety is not compromised.

The aim of the acquisition of
Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust was to
strengthen the future for both
organisations in an increasingly
challenging environment, stabilise
Birmingham Women’s Hospital
to the benefit of patients and the
local health economy and enable
operational efficiency through
closer cooperation with fetal,
maternity and neonatal services.
It also represented the best value
for money for both organisations,
for the health economy and for the
public.
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Purpose of the Trust and activities
1 April 2016 – 31 January 2017

Key issues and risks that could affect the Trust in
delivering its objectives

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is one of the leading NHS providers
of paediatric care in the United Kingdom (UK), with over 250,000 patient visits every year.
It delivers the full range of local, regional and national services. This includes providing the
following:

The major risks that could affect the Trust in delivering its objectives are described in the Annual
Governance Statement.

l

Designated specialist centre for epilepsy surgery.

l

Regional trauma centre for the West Midlands.

l

National liver and small bowel transplant centre.

l

Centre of excellence for complex heart conditions.

l

Specialist treatment of burns, cancer, liver and kidney disease.

l

Mental health services for 0-25 year olds, including a dedicated eating disorder unit
and inpatient CAMHS facility.

		

Going concern
After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that we have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. NHS Improvement’s
(NHSI) Single Oversight Framework oversees and supports Trusts in improving financial
sustainability, efficiency and compliance with controls within the financial sector. Using these
measures we have the lowest level of risk with the Use of Resource rating being at the best
possible level. The Board of Directors approved the NHSI Operational Plan which identified that
for the next financial year the Trust will again be reporting the best possible rating.
During the course of 2016/17 as part of the integration work with Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust (BWH) the organisation’s Long Term Financial Model (LTFM), working capital
procedures and position, reporting processes and overall finances benefited from considerable
scrutiny through the assessment, due diligence and reporting accounting processes. This did
not identify any material circumstances that would impact upon the combined organisation and
its going concern status. This scrutiny included in-depth assessment and review of downside
scenarios, both from a working capital and income and expenditure (I&E) perspective. This
work was required by the Trust’s Board of Directors due to the fact that the BWH Board had
identified that there would be going concern issues if a partner organisation were not secured.

The Trust employed over 3,700 staff, working across 34 different specialties. It is recognised
as one of the UK’s leading paediatric teaching centres, whilst also pioneering international
research across the paediatric disciplines, including childhood cancer, intensive care, rare
diseases, liver disease and therapeutics.

1 February 2017 – 31 March 2017

The plan submitted for the 2017/18 incorporates some assumptions that ordinarily would be
deemed part of a downside financial case and since publication there have been no events that
warrant a revision of the forecast financial positions and ratings. However, we are mindful that
the on-going uncertainty with the healthcare tariff will impact upon the Trust.

On 1 February 2017 the Trust acquired Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust,
which provided the following services, which are now provided by this Trust in addition to the
services described above:
l

Maternity services to the South Birmingham area.

l

Specialised maternity services across the West Midlands.

l

Neonatal care services through the Southern Midlands Neonatal Network.

l

Genetics services across the West Midlands.

l

Gynaecology services for South Birmingham and the wider community.

For the reasons stated, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
accounts.
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Performance Analysis

We continue to experience record demand across elective and emergency pathways. Despite
this we have managed to achieve against our key access targets such as 18 weeks RTT for
elective patients, our cancer access targets, mental health access targets, and the four hour
wait in ED. Other challenges, most notably within the financial and workforce environments,
have required massive efforts across the organisation without compromising patient care or the
patient experience.

The Trust’s performance is reported to the Board of Directors each month, including Operations,
Safety, Finance and Workforce, via an Integrated Performance Report. This report gives a rating
of red, amber or green to each of these four areas with further, more detailed performance
reports scrutinised at the relevant Board Committee, as follows:
l

Operations – Finance and Resource Committee;

l

Safety and quality – Quality Committee;

l

Finance – Finance and Resource Committee; and

l

Workforce – Finance and Resource Committee and Quality Committee.

With 2016/17 being another very challenging period for the NHS it is pleasing that the
organisation ended the year again achieving its key financial targets. 2016/17 saw the
introduction of Control Totals for NHS provider organisations; after consideration of the
advantages and disadvantages to signing up to a challenging control target the Board agreed
that on balance it was in the best interests of the Trust to do so. Achieving the control total
allowed the Trust to access Sustainability and Transformation Funding (STF) that would provide
investment benefits for future periods.
As a consequence of the integration, the Trust’s financial performance was split between 10
months of operating per the annual plan of Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust (BCH) and two months of the integrated plan of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s
NHS Foundation Trust. Targets were adjusted accordingly by NHS Improvement.

The reports detail the measures that the Trust sees as being key to its overall performance.
Operations
Performance is reported on Access Measures (Referral to Treatment - (RTT), Diagnostic
waits, ED, PICU, Mental Health, Tertiary Referrals, and Oncology) and Utilisation (Cancelled
Operations, Theatres, Clinics and Beds). These are a mix of national and local measures.

The introduction of STF monies as well as the integration with Birmingham Women’s Hospital
does not allow direct comparisons to be made with previous financial years. However, given
the significant scrutiny and enhanced understanding of the Trust’s finances, which included
undertaking phase one of the Financial Improvement Programme, and despite the wider
financial environment, the organisation’s financial performance in 2016/17 should be regarded
as an excellent achievement with an overall a surplus of £12.1m achieved.

Safety
The Potential Quality and Safety Dashboard incorporates measures linked to Past Harm
(including SIRIs, Never Events and Infection Control), Reliability (including Nursing Care Quality
Indicators), Sensitivity to Operations (including complaints and Friends and Family Tests),
Anticipation /Preparedness and Integration and Learning.
Finance
The report measures performance against the Monitor Financial Risk Rating, Income &
Expenditure, Efficiency (Cost Improvement Plans (CIP), Productivity, Temporary Spend levels)
and Liquidity (Cash and Capital Expenditure).
Workforce
The report measures performance against Developing our People (Mandatory Training and Staff
Appraisals) and Caring for our People (Sickness, Turnover, Staff Engagement).
There were many operational challenges in 2016/17, both in terms of ensuring good access
to our services and efficiently utilising our facilities. Focus has been placed on specific
areas where performance has been below the levels we aspire to. This has seen the Board
Committees receiving detailed performance reports, presentations and action plans as part
of their routine agendas. This has enabled the Board to understand, develop and improve
performance across a range of measures. Areas where we have had these ‘deep dives’ into
performance include theatre utilisation measures, access to our Emergency Department, RTT
waiting times and access to our Radiology service in particular regarding MRI.
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The creation of the Trust’s wholly owned subsidiary, Birmingham Children’s Hospital Services
Limited and the opening of our new Outpatient Pharmacy, The Medicine Chest, in January
2013 was a fantastic development and 2016/17 has seen its operating surplus continue. The
Medicine Chest provides an opportunity to provide cost effective specialist outpatient pharmacy
services. From a financial perspective the performance of The Medicine Chest has been
consolidated into the overall accounts of the Trust, resulting in Group Accounts. The £12.1m
surplus reported above is that of the Group with the Trust generating a surplus of £11.9m and
the subsidiary a profit of £0.2m.

Overall income increased by 24.6% over the past year up to £317 million. Underpinning this
increased position was clinical income associated with services at Birmingham Women’s
Hospital for the final two months of the year and the increase linked to being awarded the 0-25
Forward Thinking Birmingham Mental Health contract and STF monies. The percentage of
total income derived through clinical activities fell by 2% to 89% of total income. This is directly
attributable to the STF monies.
Clinical income levels were driven by increases in the mix and number of patients treated. Once
again direct year on year comparisons are not possible. However, taking a full year of activity at
the BCH site shows that activity once again increased by over 4.2% compared with a year ago.
The table below shows the activity changes experienced by the organisation over the past five
years. On average we treated 32 more patients every day at the Trust compared to 2015/16
which means that in the past three years the Trust is seeing over 100 more patients every day.
The Emergency Department and elective inpatient admissions both experienced growth above
5% in the year. ED attendances have now increased by 12% in the last two years.

The £12.1m surplus includes £6.3m of STF monies and £2.6m of donations linked to capital
assets. This leaves a net surplus of £3.2m which is an increase on that achieved by BCH in
2015/16.
The improved surplus was also reflected in a rise in earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (EBITDA) which at 6.1% for the financial year was up from 4.3% in 2015/16.
Although the overall financial position has improved the Trust has also had to absorb additional
pressures in 2016/17 so this increase on 2015/16’s position is a net result of:

Patient Activity 2012/13-2016/17

a) The achievement of the control total and the subsequent receipt of Sustainability
		 and Transformation monies.

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

b) The changing nature of the national tariff. In 2015/16 the Trust was being significantly
affected by the method of reimbursement for specialised activity over a specific
		 threshold agreed with commissioners. This activity was being paid at 30% of the
national tariff and did not fully reflecting the costs incurred in treating these patients.
		 This was reversed during 2016/17.

Revised outpatient atts

152820

164370

174244

183,840 183,840

ED attendances

49335

50296

53106

55,774

59,441

Inpatient (I/P)
admissions:

c) The release of provisions set aside for the impact of workforce issues in community
		CAMHS.
d) Absorbing the cost of providing additional inpatient capacity outside of the Forward
Thinking Birmingham contract. This was the most significant pressure incurred
in 2016/17 and will, without Commissioner support, continue to impact financially
		 and operationally into 2017/18.

2016/17 %
Change
104.4%
106.6%
97.9%

Emergency admissions

14854

15039

15064

15,841

15,501

Day-case admissions

18951

20749

21761

21,795

1,721

99.7%

Inpatient admissions

6491

6719

6327

6,030

6,453

107.0%

Total I/P admissions

40,296

42,507

43,152

43,666

43,675

100.0%

Total patient episodes

42,451

257,173 270,502 283,280 295,079

104.2%

It is pleasing to report that the Trust achieved 99% of its CQUIN targets in 2016/17. Over the
past 3 years 99% of these targets have been achieved and this has a direct impact upon the
quality and safety of the care provided at the Trust.
It cost £300 million to run the Trust during the year; a 19% increase on 2015/16. The key drivers
to the increase were the two months of expenditure linked following the integration with BWH on
1 February, the contractual arrangements associated with the 0-25 FTB Mental Health contract
and costs incurred during the course of the integration with Birmingham Women’s Hospital.

e) The costs of maintaining service provision in-hours with workforce pressures in key
clinical staffing groups.
f) The costs of transforming services at the Trust and the continued implementation of
		 the Next Generation project.

The three highest spend categories are staff, clinical supplies and services (linked to the FTB
contract) and drugs. Employee expenses as a percentage of overall expenditure fell by 2%
to 60%.

g) Continued difficulty in fully realising the cost efficiency targets.
h) The impact of integrating with Birmingham Women’s Hospital; Birmingham
		 Children’s Hospital received £1.9million in year to support the integration of the two
		organisations.

The other key cost change in year was in our clinical negligence premium with the NHS
Litigation Authority (NHS Resolution from April 2017). This has continued to rise and will do so
again in 2017/18 with the increase in cost only partially offset by funding through the national
tariff.
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With the integration with BWH the number of employees at the end of March 2017 was
1,855 more than April 2016. At the time of integration BCH had 181 more employees than
April 2016. The average cost of our employees was 5.2% more in 2016/17 than in 2015/16.
This has been driven by the rise in temporary staffing and payment for work outside of core
contractual requirements in order to continue delivering on-going and increasing clinical
activity requirements. This rise has also been impacted upon by technical issues arising
out of workforce planning for the 0-25 community mental health service, Forward Thinking
Birmingham. However, benefits linked to skill mix changes across the Trust associated with key
developments, such as the continued expansion of the Clinical Support Worker programme and
further development of the Trust’s successful Apprentices scheme have served to temper the
impact of this increase.

As the pressure within the provider sector continues and the demands of our strategy require
the delivery of the control total, the setting of our target for 2017/18 is once again highly
challenging. This will be delivered through a considered mix of local and Trust-wide schemes
with the Trust-wide requirements mainly reflecting the full year impact of 2016/17 initiatives.
There will need to be significant changes to our cost base in order to deliver this and given
that over 60% of our costs are incurred through the pay bill this is an area where efficiencies
will have to be found. During the year we improved on our system of ensuring that these
cost savings did not impact on the safety and quality of services delivered; as part of this
every savings scheme was required to be signed off by at least two senior clinical staff, most
frequently the Chief Medical Officer as well as the Chief Nurse.
Investment in maintaining our estate and the development of new facilities and equipment
replacement is currently funded from the surpluses that we make. During 2016/17 £25.8 million
was invested in new capital schemes with some of these schemes due for completion during the
2017/18 financial year. The overall capital spend in the year was lower than planned as slippage
was experienced across a range of schemes.

During the year we saved £8.9 million in planned cost releasing savings (£5.8 million in
2015/16), which contributed towards the nationally determined efficiency target. This represents
89% of the target we set at the beginning of the year (58% of the 2015/16 target was achieved).
As experienced in previous years it was the impact of the non-recurrent element of the
prior year’s programme carried forward that caused difficulties combined with the impact of
increased activity levels and lead time for scheme delivery. It was acknowledged that 2016/17
would again be a difficult year for delivering savings whilst plans for Trust-wide schemes were
developed. The Trust’s efficiency challenge was made more challenging by the requirement
to achieve a further £3.1m in order to meet the control total. To assist in the delivery of this the
Trust participated in the Financial Improvement Programme (FIP) and worked with a partner
organisation to identify a minimum of £3m savings. The identification of savings in Phase
One of the FIP did not materialise leaving the Trust to formulate recurring savings to meet
this requirement and to utilise non-recurrent monies to bridge the financial gap in 2016/17.
Consequently the Trust decided not to progress through to Phase Two of the FIP.

In 2017/18, as well as completing and opening Waterfall House, the Trust will enhance the
estate at BWH as part of the integration business plan approved by the Board. All these
developments will help to increase the capacity of the hospitals and contribute to improving the
care provided.
Our expansive capital programme is reflected in our cash balances. For the second successive
year the Trust’s cash balances reduced. The Trust had £31.7m in cash or cash equivalents
at the end of the financial year (£42.1 million in 2015/16). With an I&E position partially
underpinned by technical gains the cash benefit gained by the Trust through its trading position
is lower than anticipated although the slippage on the capital programme provided temporary
relief. The challenge to protect and build cash balances for future investment has been a driver
behind the setting of the 2017/18 capital programme.
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Our operational position
The Trust delivered strong operational performance despite the increases in demand noted
above. In terms of our access targets despite year on year increases in demand for our
Emergency Department (ED) the four-hour target was achieved. Whilst additional investment
was approved for front line clinical staff within the department challenges in securing appropriate
staff meant that much of the achievement was down to the core team working additional
sessions. Whilst the Trust experienced this increase in demand through ED, emergency
admissions into hospital did not increase significantly from that source.
The Trust achieved the 18-week referral to treatment targets despite increase in demand for
outpatient services. However, as surgical capacity remains constrained the total number of
patients waiting has increased over the year and cancelled operations continue to be higher
than we would have wished. The opening of Waterfall House in December 2017 is planned
to allow the organisation to better stream planned and emergency operations and reduce
cancellations.
The Trust had to replace one of its MRI scanners during the year and we had operational plans
in place to bring in a mobile scanner during the year to reduce the inevitable impact in capacity.
Despite this the case mix of patients meant that we failed to meet the six-week diagnostic target
mainly as a result of the fact that the mobile facility is unable to be used for children requiring a
general anaesthesia prior to the scan.
Given the growth in population, changes in medical technology and high rates of inflation
compared to that assumed in the NHS financial settlement, the organisation will have to make
over £40 million of savings over the next four years. With austerity measures due to continue
and with significant cost pressures expected to occur in future years the Trust’s approach to
cost improvements and efficiencies has to change.

This was the first year of the 0-25 mental health contract operating as the Forward Thinking
Birmingham partnership with Worcestershire Healthcare NHS Trust, The Priory Group,
Beacon UK and the Children’s Society. Performance measures remained strong throughout
this period despite some inevitable challenges at the start of any new contract. However,
demand for inpatient beds throughout the year was significantly higher than had been agreed
with commissioners within the contract (28 beds) with on average 55 beds being required.
This meant that young people often being placed in facilities out of Birmingham and the
West Midlands compromised the clinical model that had been designed and put significant
financial pressure on the Trust and Birmingham health community. We continue to work with
commissioners to look at solutions to this, providing more inpatient capacity within the local
area.

Our previous financial positions have provided a sound foundation upon which to address the
challenges resulting from the national savings priorities. We have plans in place to achieve the
majority of the required savings in 2017/18 but there is no under-estimating the difficulties that
delivery presents. Our savings in 2017/18 will follow the themes introduced over the past two
years through improving operational and management effectiveness, changing the composition
and reward of our workforce, our use of information and technology, transforming the processes
across the organisation and building on our skills and knowledge to deliver commercial success.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Our efficiency programme will look outside the organisation and incorporate efficiencies linked
to the wider health economy whether this is through Sustainability and Transformation Plan
savings or more targeted schemes with other providers. As schemes move into the wider health
economy these will become more complex, have longer lead times and will require increased
levels of project management support.

Our Finance and Resources Committee oversees the cash management and investment
strategy which is based on Monitor best practice and is reviewed by our auditors. Following
previous changes to the calculation of public dividend capital all surplus cash is retained within
Government Banking Services/National Loans Funds accounts thereby negating any risk of
loss through inappropriate investments. Cashflow forecasts are updated on a weekly basis to
ensure that no cashflow and liquidity risks are evident. The working capital review undertaken
as part of the reporting accountant process as well as through phase one of the FIP work have
provided the Trust with a springboard for a more detailed cash management strategy. This
will be developed in early 2017/18 and will ensure that future cashflow planning is undertaken
for the organisation’s long-term modelling given the risk impact through the Single Oversight
Framework’s Use of Resources metric.

As part of this process we will continue to work in partnership with our commissioners to ensure
that children are treated in the most appropriate setting for their condition.
The Trust continues to be actively engaged with the Department of Health and NHSI on a
number of financially orientated national groups that enables it to be at the forefront of decision
and policy making.
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The Committee also scrutinises all our major capital investment and business cases above
the delegated threshold of the Investment Committee. The Scheme of Delegation was revised
during 2015/16 and fully implemented in 2016/17. The scrutiny of the Committee ensures such
developments fall into line with our service strategy, are affordable and provide value for money.
The Investment Committee and Finance and Resource Committee both undertook a series of
reviews of previous approved business cases to ensure that their original benefits, both financial
and non-financial, are being delivered. This review process will continue into 2017/18.

Working to meet this ambition requires us to engage with our service users and the community
to find out what they want and need. It’s also important that we look to the future to make
sure we are prepared for the challenges to come over the next 20 years. As the population in
Birmingham and the West Midlands rises it is becoming increasingly diverse and the population
of children, young people and families is expected to rise dramatically. We need to make sure
our future strategy is able to meet the changing needs of our community.
We believe that developing our position as an advocate and provider of public health advice will
help improve the lives of those who use our services and who live in Birmingham and the West
Midlands.

With the increased importance of efficiency savings the Committee has scrutinised the delivery
of the savings plan during the year to ensure that the approach does not impact on the quality
of services provided. The scrutiny of financial efficiency plans continues through the Financial
and Sustainability Group which was established late 2016/17 and is chaired by the Deputy Chief
Executive. The Quality Committee leads on ensuring that the efficiency plans do not impact on
the quality and safety of services.

We have a range of initiatives that will help us meet these goals:
l

Our health and wellbeing strategy sets out our commitment to using every
opportunity to improve the health and wellbeing of the service users we see at both
of our hospitals and at our Forward Thinking Birmingham sites.

l

Aspire at BCH is our umbrella brand for supporting young people into opportunities
for work experience, training or employment. We support over 300 work experience
placements every year, have seen over 70 individuals join our apprenticeship
programmes, and have employed over 15 young people with a learning disability
through partnership working with Calthorpe Vocational Trust.

l

The Young Person’s Advisory Group (YPAG) is growing as an influential voice both
within the hospital and in the wider NHS community. Further details of their work
can be found within the consultations section of the accountability report.

l

Maternity support is offered through various community support groups to enable
women and families from all walks of life to access the support and education they
need.

l

Our work has extended overseas this year through our ‘Get a Jab, Give a Jab’ flu
initiative which has provided 40,000 tetanus vaccinations to expectant mothers in
Africa through Unicef, as well as ensuring 87.5% of our front-line staff are protected
from flu.  

l

Our patient experience teams at the Women’s Hospital have focussed projects on
‘seldom heard women’ and the experience of partners at the Hospital, to ensure a
broad range of views are used to influence the developments of strategy at the Trust.

		
		

The Trust’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, though due to their nature the
degree of exposure is reduced compared to that faced by many business entities. The financial
risks are mainly credit and inflation risks with minimal exposure to market or liquidity risks.
The nature of how the Trust is financed exposes it to a degree of customer credit risk. The
Trust regularly reviews the level of actual and contracted activity with commissioners to ensure
that any income risk is resolved at a high level at the earliest available opportunity. The Trust
mitigates its exposure to credit risk through regular review of receivables due and by calculating
a bad debt provision.

		
		
		
		

		
		

The Trust has exposure to annual price increases of medical and non-medical supplies and
services arising out of its core healthcare activities. This risk is mitigated through, for example,
transferring the risk to suppliers by contract tendering, negotiating fixed purchase costs and,
in the case of external agency staff costs, via the operation of the Trust’s own staff bank. This
latter issue has been further controlled through the imposition of national price and wage caps
the enforcement of which has escalated since April 2016.

		
		
		
		

Details of other major risks and uncertainties facing the Trust are described in the Annual
Governance Statement.

Environmental matters

		

Details of the impact of the Trust’s business on the environment are set out in the Sustainability
Report.

Important events since the end of the financial
year affecting the Trust

Social, community and human rights issues

Since 1 April 2017 we have appointed Vij Randeniya as Interim Chairman pending the start date
of a newly appointed substantive Chairman.

It is our ambition to be the employer and service provider of choice and an advocate for
children, young people, women and families in Birmingham and the West Midlands. This means
more than providing acute health care. It also means taking the opportunities provided by
our position in the community, and using our specialist knowledge and skills to help improve
health outcomes and future opportunities for children, young people, women and their families,
whatever their ethnic, cultural or social background.

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
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Accountability Report

Finance statements
The Trust’s accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by NHS Improvement.
The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in HM
Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information Guidance.

Directors’ Report
Dame Christine Braddock

Chairman

Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer (maternity leave from 1 -18 April 2016)

Mr David Melbourne

Chief Finance Officer / Deputy Chief Executive Officer
(Interim Chief Executive from 1-17 April 2016)

Mrs Michelle McLoughlin

Chief Nursing Officer

Dr Fiona Reynolds

Chief Medical Officer

Mr Tim Atack

Chief Operating Officer

Mrs Theresa Nelson

Chief Officer for Workforce Development

Professor Helen Young

Director of Maternity Transformation (from 1 February 2017)

Mr Matthew Boazman

Chief Officer for Strategy and Innovation

Mr Vijith Randeniya

Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Director

Mr Colin Horwath

Non-Executive Director (from 1 February 2017)

Mr Roger Peace

Non-Executive Director (until 31 January 2017)

Professor Judith Smith

Non-Executive Director (1 April -30 September 2016 and from 1 February
2017) (interim member of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
Board from 1 October 2016 – 31 January 2017)

Mr Alan Edwards

Non-Executive Director

Mr William Murdoch

Non-Executive Director

Mr Paul Heaven

Non-Executive Director (1 October 2016 – 31 January 2017)

Mrs Anita Bhalla

Non-Executive Director (from 1 February 2017)

Ms Marianne Skelcher

Non-Executive Director (from 1 February 2017)

The Trust has complied with the requirement that the income from the provision of goods and
services for the purposes of the health service in England must be greater than the income from
the provision of goods and services for any other purposes.
The Trust has made no political donations.
So far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Trust’s
auditor is unaware and each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as
a director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Trust’s auditor is aware of that information.
The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging guidance issued by HM Treasury.
The income from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of health services in
England were greater than that income from the provision of goods and services for any other
purposes.

Policy and payment of creditors
We liaise closely with our suppliers to ensure there are no unintentional cash problems. We
are aiming to comply with the target of all payable invoices to be paid within 30 days. Although
it is disappointing that performance remains below the 95% target it is pleasing that actual
performance has improved on the 2015/16 position and that for the first time performance in
some periods has exceeded the 95% target. However, we recognise that there is still more
work we can do in this area. We did not incur any interest charges under the Late Payment of
Commercial Debts Act 1998.
Creditors BPPC Value % Cumulative 2015/16-2016/17
100
95

Details of all significant interests held by Directors are contained in a Register of Interests which
is open to the public and may be obtained via the Publication Scheme on the Trust’s website:
www.bwc.nhs.uk

90
85
80
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug
Target

18
18
18

Sep

Oct
15-16

Nov

Dec

Jan
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16-17

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Pensions and Benefits
Accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out in note 1.5 to the
accounts. Details of senior managers’ remuneration can be found in the Remuneration Report.

These quality governance arrangements are considered by the Audit Committee on an annual
basis to provide assurance to the Board as to the systems of internal control around quality
governance. This is supplemented by the work of the Internal Auditor, which includes reviews of
core quality governance processes, including risk management and information governance.

Ill health retirements and redundancies
There were two ill health retirements in 2016/17. These are outlined in Note 4.3 to the accounts.
A number of redundancies occurred during the year. Details associated with these are as
follows.

Prior to integration, the two separate Trusts, Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust and
Birmingham Children’s NHS Foundation Trust, worked together to synchronise their respective
quality governance arrangements to ensure a consistent approach was in place at the point
of integration. One of the key changes was the development of a new quality governance
committee structure at Birmingham Women’s Hospital, including a new Clinical Assurance
and Safety Committee, which mirrored the terms of reference of the existing Clinical Risk and
Quality Assurance Committee at Birmingham Children’s Hospital. Following integration both
committees have been maintained to ensure detailed oversight of clinical risk within all the
Clinical Groups continues.

Redundancies 2016/17

Exit Package Cost Band
<£10,000

Number of
Compulsory
Redundancies

Number of Other
Departures Agreed

Total Number of
Exit Packages by
Cost Band

0

6

6

£10,000-£25,000

0

0

0

£25,001-£50,000

3

1

4

£50,001-£100,000

0

0

0

£100,001-£150,000

0

0

0

£151,001-£200,000

0

0

0

Total Number of Exit Packages
Total Resource Cost

In May 2016 the Care Quality Commission (CQC) undertook a comprehensive review of the
Trust’s Birmingham Children’s Hospital services and provided an overall rating of Outstanding.
The report was published in February 2017. Notwithstanding this rating, a number of
Requirement Notices were issued, connected mainly with the Trust’s neonatal surgical services
and its new community mental health services as part of the Forward Thinking Birmingham
Partnership. The Quality Committee has overseen implementation of improvement actions in
these services and is assured that the actions are sufficiently robust and improvements made
have been substantial. We are also making improvements to some of quality governance
arrangements, including a revised approach to reporting on all the external regulatory and peer
reviews to which the Trust is subject.

0
£56,000

£41,000

£97,000

Prior to the integration, in April 2016, Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust also
received a review of its services by CQC, with an overall rating of Requires Improvement. Early
feedback and the publication of the report in September 2016 enabled BWH to make significant
improvements in the key areas identified. Following integration the Quality Committee continued
to monitor improvements in these areas, with a particular focus on projects in antenatal
scanning and in the abortion care service.

Enhanced quality governance reporting
The Trust’s arrangements to govern service quality ensure the standards of Monitor’s quality
governance framework are met. The basis of these arrangements is robust risk management
within the Trust’s 12 Clinical Groups supported by the expertise of and processes managed by
the corporate teams. The reporting framework requires that risks to the quality of services are
highlighted by the clinical teams through processes including incident reporting, the use of the
risk register, analysis of patient feedback and reporting to the relevant sub-committees.

As a foundation trust, we have certain freedoms to develop our services to improve patient care.
In 2012 we established a limited company as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Trust, through
which we set up an outpatient pharmacy called The Medicine Chest. The aim of this initiative
was to improve safety and patient experience. During 2016/17 The Medicine Chest continued
to deliver a high quality, effective service and the Board of Directors of this company is now
considering other areas where this model might be used for the improvement in the care and
experience of our patients.

Each of these sub-committees reports to the Board’s Quality Committee through Key Issues
and Assurance Reports, which provides clarity on the most significant risks and assurance
issues regarding quality. In addition, the Quality Committee regularly considers three detailed
reports: Quality, People, Non-Clinical Safety, which provide a comprehensive oversight of the
key quality indicators.

The Trust uses a range of means to obtain and monitor feedback from patients and their
families. This is integrated with staff feedback and with information obtained through
formal processes, such as incident reporting and complaints, to identify areas that require
improvement.

The Board receives the monthly Quality Report and is guided by the Key Issues and Assurance
Report from the Quality Committee as to the areas of the report requiring detailed focus.
The Board also considers an Integrated Performance Report each month, which draws together
key indicators within four quadrants: quality, workforce, operations and finance, which aids
the identification of possible links between these quadrants; for example, increases in activity
affecting staff turnover, staff sickness, patient safety and patient experience.
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Partnerships
During 2016/17 the Trust has entered into or continued with formal arrangements with the
following organisations, which are essential to the Trust’s business:
l

		
		
		
		
l

		
		
l

		
		
l

		
		
		
		
		

Birmingham Children’s Hospital Pharmacy Limited (BCH Pharmacy): This company
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Birmingham Children’s Hospital Health Services,
which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Trust. BCH Pharmacy is responsible for
the operation of The Medicine Chest, the outpatient pharmacy located at the front of
our hospital.

Consultations regarding the use of the main entrance of the hospital and the front of
house redesign.

l

University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust (UHB): The Trust is working
with UHB to develop and implement clinical systems with the aim of having a virtual
campus in place across the two organisations.
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust (BWH): The Trust, before formal
integration with BWH on 1 February 2017, provided executive and other support
services to BWH.

Attended the rare diseases day and supported families by welcoming patients and families
into the hospital and providing information.

l

Participated in the PLACE project.

l

Contributed to the Making Food Better work stream, including food tasting.

l

Provided data for the charity Action for Sick Children about ways in which young people
forums can be improved.

		

Birmingham Women’s Hospital patients have been involved in the following:
l

		
		

Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust, Priory Group, The Children’s Society
and Beacon UK: April 2016 saw the commencement of our new service, Forward
Thinking Birmingham (FTB) led by Birmingham Children’s Hospital working in
partnership to deliver the first national seamless community mental health service
for 0-25 year olds. Our partners in FTB are: Worcestershire Health and Care NHS
Trust, Priory Group, The Children’s Society and Beacon UK.

l

		
		

The Family and Patient Advisory Council, made up of patients, parents and families, past
and present, focusses on departments, teams and issues from a patient experience
perspective.
The Maternity Services Liaison Committee is a bi-monthly clinical meeting chaired by a
former patient, which reviews parent feedback and develops strategies for service
improvement.

l

Polish Mother and Baby Group.

l

Shared maternity care messages via Unity FM, Muslim Parenting Radio Hour.

l

Visit to Approachable Parenting Muslim parenting group.

l

Breastfeeding Support drop-in sessions at two community locations and within the hospital.

l

The Gynaecology Directorate Endometriosis Support Group attended by patients and staff
as both a support group and a service improvement consultation event.

		

YPAG came together in 2009 to empower the voice of young people within the organisation
and to ensure the Trust can benefit from the perspective of young people and their energy
for change. During 2016/17 YPAG have been involved in a range of activities, projects and
consultations, including:

More information regarding the quality of our services and quality governance arrangements
can be found in the Quality Report and the Annual Governance Statement later in this report.

Staff recruitment, including interviewing for various consultants’ jobs as well the
appointment of our new Chairman.

l

Patient experience walkabouts to the children’s hospital’s clinical areas.

l

The Takeover Challenge, a national event launched by the Children’s Commissioner for
England, which challenges young people to take over prominent job roles within
professional organisations.

		
		

l

		

Over the past year children, young people and families have consulted on a variety of issues.
Much of the involvement of children and young people has been co-ordinated through our
young people’s participation groups, the largest of which is our Young Persons’ Advisory Group
(YPAG).

l

Involved in the process of co designing a new model of palliative care.

		

Consultation and involvement

		

l

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
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Remuneration Report
1. Annual Statement on Remuneration
The remuneration, terms and conditions of employment of Executive Directors are determined
by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, a committee of the Board of Directors,
chaired by the Trust Chairman.
During 2016/17 the Committee:
l

Reviewed and approved the executive leadership structure of the integrated organisation;

l

Reviewed the appraisal of the executive directors;

l

Undertook an executive salary review;

The Committee’s decisions were made in the context of the Trust’s strategy, the performance
of the Trust, the increased size of the organisation following integration and the operational and
financial challenges within which the Board operates.
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2. Senior managers’ remuneration policy
Senior Managers’ Remuneration Package: Future policy table
A description of the framework used to assess performance
Element 

Description 

How does this
component
support short
and long-term
strategic
objectives of
BCH

How the
component
operates

Maximum
amount that
can be paid

Description

Performance
measures that
apply (indication
of weighting
where more
than one
applies)

Details of the
performance
period

The amount (£)
that may be
paid in respect
of minimum
level of
performance
which results
in a payment

The amount (£)
that may be
paid in respect
of any further
levels of
performance
set in
accordance
with the policy

Provisions for
recovery of
sums paid or
for
withholding
payment of
sums

Aligned to
national award
if performance
targets met
and agreed
annually

None

None

None

None

Salary

Annual salary

Takes into
account
attraction and
retention
considerations
essential to the
Trust’s
strategy

In accordance
with agreed
rates of pay

In accordance
with agreed
rates of pay
awarded
nationally

Taxable
Benefits

Lease car/
contribution to
car or
allowance
absorbed into
base salary

Takes into
account
attraction and
retention
considerations
essential to the
Trust’s
strategy

Paid in equal
monthly
instalments

£5,000

None

None

None

None

None

None

Performance
related
Bonus

To award
exceptional
performance
beyond
achievement of
objectives

Executive
directors are
set objectives
related to
Trust’s
strategic
objectives

Following
annual
individual
performance
assessment

Considered
annually.

Assessment by
A&R
Committee of
exceptional
performance
beyond
achievement
of objectives

Graded
performance
from objectives
not met to
exceeded well
beyond
organisational
and
regional/national
expectations

Financial year.

Agreed
annually by
A&R
committee and
based on
organisational
performance
and financial
position

None

Any award is for
retrospective
performance
and
guaranteed
only for that
year and salary
levels set again
the following
year. No claw
back therefore
required

Notes
No changes were made to the components of the remuneration package for Very Senior
Managers during 2016/17, however, in May 2017 the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee agreed a Very Senior Manager (VSM) reward strategy.

There are no provisions for the recovery of sums paid to the directors or for withholding the
payment of sums to senior managers.
The general policy for employee remuneration is to apply the national agreement as
recommended by the Pay Review Body (PRB) and accepted by the treasury. The Trust would
not normally deviate from this position except for VSMs.

This includes an assessment of performance linked to pay, which could result in an increase
or a reduction in salary.
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Non-Executive Director remuneration
Fee payable

Additional fees for other duties

Other items considered to be
remuneration

Annual remuneration for nonexecutive Board member role

The Deputy Chairman is paid additional fees to reflect additional
responsibilities.

None

Salary benchmarking
Three senior managers were paid more than £142,500 a year: the Chief Executive Officer, the
Deputy Chief Executive Officer, and the Chief Medical Officer (including salary for clinical work).
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee awarded these salaries having considered
the depth and breadth of each role, and benchmarking including established pay ranges in
acute foundation trusts published by NHS Improvement in 2017, and is satisfied that they are
appropriate. An opinion has been sought from NHS Improvement in each case.

Service contracts obligations
No obligations on the Trust are contained in any senior managers’ service contracts which could
give rise to or impact on remuneration payments or payments for loss of office. The Trust does
not propose to include any such obligations in any future senior manager contracts.

Policy on payment for loss of office
The notice period for all non-executive directors is set at one month. The notice period for all
other senior managers is set at six months.
The Trust does not have a policy for the payment of loss of office and does not propose to set
such a policy. No payments were made for loss of office in 2016/17.

Statement of consideration of employment
conditions
In making its decisions regarding components of and increases to senior managers’
remuneration packages the Appointments and Remuneration Committee takes into account the
pay and conditions of the Trust’s employees, including any annual NHS pay award.
The Trust’s employees were not consulted in 2016/17 regarding decisions relating to senior
managers’ remuneration.
The executive salary strategy was set in March 2016 and is based on benchmarking as
described above.
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3. Annual report on remuneration
a) Information not subject to audit

Senior managers’ service contracts
A senior manager is defined as an Executive or Non-Executive Director of the Board of Directors

Senior Manager Service Contract Details
Date of
Contract

Unexpired Term

Notice Period

Provision for compensation
for early termination

Chairman

01/05/2014

1 month

1 month (informal)

None

Mr Colin Horwath

Non- Executive Director

01/02/2017

5 months

1 month (informal)

None

Mr Roger Peace

Non- Executive Director

03/07/2012

None – term ended 31/01/2017

N/A

None

Professor Judith Smith

Non- Executive Director

01/06/2014

3 months

1 month (informal)

None

Mr Alan Edwards

Non- Executive Director

01/02/2015

10 months

1 month (informal)

None

Dr Will Murdoch

Non- Executive Director

01/03/2015

11 months

1 month (informal)

None

Mr Vijith Randeniya

Non- Executive Director/Deputy Chairman

01/02/2015

10 months

1 month (informal)

None

Mr Paul Heaven

Non- Executive Director

01/10/2016

None – term ended 31/01/2017

n/a

None

Ms Marianne Skelcher

Non- Executive Director

01/02/2017

5 months

1 month (informal)

None

Ms Anita Bhalla

Non- Executive Director

01/02/2017

5 months

1 month (informal)

None

Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer (maternity leave 1- 18 April 2016)

01/09/2010

N/A - Permanent appointment

6 months

None

Mr David Melbourne

Deputy Chief Executive Officer/Chief Finance Officer (Interim
Chief Executive Officer 1-17 April 2016)

01/11/2009

N/A - Permanent appointment

6 months

None

Mrs Michelle McLoughlin

Chief Nursing Officer

01/08/2007

N/A - Permanent appointment

6 months

None

Mr Tim Atack

Chief Operating Officer

17/09/2012

N/A - Permanent appointment

6 months

None

Mrs Theresa Nelson

Chief Officer for Workforce Development

06/06/2011

N/A - Permanent appointment

6 months

None

Mr Matthew Boazman

Chief Officer for Strategy

01/03/2015

N/A - Permanent appointment

6 months

None

Dr Fiona Reynolds

Chief Medical Officer

16/07/2015

N/A - Permanent appointment

6 months

None

Professor Helen Young

Director of Maternity Transformation

01/02/2017

N/A - Permanent appointment

6 months

None

Senior Manager

Title

Dame Christine
Braddock
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Appointments and Remuneration Committee
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee was established under paragraph 18 (2) of
Schedule 7 to the NHS Act 2006. The Committee met three times in 2016/17. The work of the
Committee is described above.

Appointments and Remuneration Committee: Membership and Attendance*
Member of Committee

27 April 2016

22 June 2016

1 February 2016

Christine Braddock, Chairman

4

4

4

Vijith Randeniya, Deputy Chairman

5

4

4

Colin Horwath, Non-Executive Director**

4

n/a

4

Sarah-Jane Marsh, Chief Executive Officer

4

4

4

*Theresa Nelson, Chief Officer for Workforce Development and Fiona Reynolds, Chief Medical
Officer attended meetings by invitation to provide advice and assistance to the Committee.
** Colin Horwath became a member of the Board of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation
Trust between 01/05/2016 and 31/01/2017, returning to the Board of the integrated Trust on 1
February 2017.

The Trust’s policy and procedures on pay
The Trust follows national pay arrangements for employees. The Trust has a range of policies in
place which describe any local variations to or the application of national arrangements.

Expenses paid
Directors expenses
Year

Total number of Directors
in office

Number of Directors receiving
expenses

Aggregate sum of expenses
paid to Directors

2016/17

18

7

£4,900

2015/16

16

4

£2,800

Number of Governors
receiving expenses

Aggregate sum of expenses
paid to Governors

Governors expenses
Year

Total number of Governors
in office

2016/17

19

1

£100

2015/16

17

2

£2,800
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b) Information subject to audit
Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers
2016/17 Remuneration Table
1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017

Name and Title

Notes

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
Benefits

Annual
Performance-related
Bonus

Long-term
Performance-related
Bonuses

Pension-related
Benefits

Total

(bands of
£5000)
£000

(to nearest
£100)
£00

(bands of
£5000)
£000

(bands of
£5000)
£000

(bands of
£2500)
£000

(bands of
£5000)
£000

Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer

4,5,6

105-110

-

-

-

75-77.5

180-185

Mr David Melbourne

Interim/Deputy Chief Executive
and Chief Finance Officer

4,7,8,
9,10

80-85

28

-

-

30-32.5

115-120

Mr Philip Foster

Interim Chief Finance Officer

11

5-10

-

-

-

0-2.5

5-10

Mr Tim Atack

Chief Operating Officer

4,12

85-90

-

-

-

37.5-40

120-125

Ms Michelle McLoughlin

Chief Nursing Officer

4,13

95-100

-

-

-

35-37.5

130-135

Mrs Theresa Nelson

Chief Officer for Workforce
Development

4,14

85-90

-

-

-

2.5-25

105-110

Dr Fiona Reynolds

Chief Medical Officer

4,15,16

145-150

-

-

-

-

145-150

Mr Matthew Boazman

Chief Strategy Officer/Chief
Strategy and Innovation Officer

4,17,18

85-90

-

-

-

27.5-30

110-115

Ms Helen Young

Director of Maternity
Transformation

4,19

15-20

-

-

-

5-7.5

20-25

Dame Christine Braddock

Chairman

20

15-20

-

-

-

-

15-20

Mr Roger Peace

Non-Executive Director

21

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Mr Paul Heaven

Non-Executive Director

22

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Dr Judith Smith

Non-Executive Director

23

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Mr Colin Horwath

Deputy Chair / Non-Executive
Director

24

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Mr Alan Edwards

Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Dr William Murdoch

Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Ms Anita Bhalla

Non-Executive Director

25

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Ms Marianne Skelcher

Non-Executive Director

26

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Mr Vijeth Randeniya

Deputy Chair / Non-Executive
Director

20-25

-

-

-

-

20-25

820-825

28

-

-

240-242.5

1065-1070
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1) The definition of Senior Managers includes only the Chief Officers and the Non-Executive Directors. These are the senior officers of the Trust having Board of Director voting powers.
2) In setting the remuneration of Executive Directors the Appointments and Remuneration Committee has met and considered a range of benchmark information on reward packages in the NHS.
3) Pension-related benefits do not represent an amount that will be received by the employees. This is a calculation intended to provide users of the accounts with an estimate of the benefit that
being a member of the NHS Pension Scheme could provide.
4) Pension related benefits have been apportioned for periods where dual appointments between Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham Women’s Hospital were held.
5) Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh returned from maternity leave on 18 April 2016.
6) Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh was also Chief Executive of Birmingham Women’s Hospital (BWH) from 1 July 2015 until 31 January 2017. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
7) Mr David Melbourne took up post as Interim Chief Executive on 18 September 2015 until 17 April 2016.
8) Mr David Melbourne was also Interim Chief Executive of BWH from 18 September 2015 until 17 April 2016. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
9) Mr David Melbourne was also Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer of BWH from 18 April 2016 to 31 January 2017.
10) Taxable Benefits relates to lease cars.
11) Mr Philip Foster was Interim Chief Finance Officer until 17 April 2017.
12) Mr Tim Atack was also Chief Operating Officer of Birmingham Women’s Hospital (BWH) from 4 July 2016 to 31 January 2017. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
13) Ms Michelle McLoughlin was also Chief Nursing Officer of BWH from 5 September 2016 to 31 January 2017. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
14) Mrs Theresa Nelson was also Chief Officer for Workforce Development of BWH from 4 July 2016 to 31 January 2017. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
15) Dr Fiona Reynolds was also Chief Medical Officer of BWH from 5 September 2016 to 31 January 2017. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
16) Total remuneration for Dr Fiona Reynolds included £75,000-80,000 in respect of clinical work.
17) Mr Matthew Boazman was Chief Strategy Officer until 3 July 2016 when he became Chief Strategy and Innovation Officer from 4 July 2016.
18) Mr Matthew Boazman was also Chief Strategy and Innovation Officer of BWH from 4 July 2016 to 31 January 2017. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
19) Ms Helen Young was appointed Director of Maternity Transformation on 1 February 2017.
20) Dame Christine Braddock was also Chairman of BWH from 1 May 2016 to 31 January 2017. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
21) Mr Roger Peace resigned as Non-Executive Director on 31 January 2017.
22) Mr Paul Heaven was appointed Non-Executive Director on the 01 October 2016 until 31 January 2017.
23) Dr Judith Smith was seconded to BWH for the period 3 October to 31 January 2017. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
24) Mr Colin Horwath was appointed Non-Executive Director on 1 February 2017.
25) Ms Anita Bhalla was appointed Non-Executive Director on 1 February 2017.
26) Ms Marianne Skelcher was appointed Non-Executive Director on 1 February 2017.
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2015/16 Remuneration Table
1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017

Name and Title

Notes

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
Benefits

Annual
Performance-related
Bonus

Long-term
Performance-related
Bonuses

Pension-related
Benefits

Total

(bands of
£5000)
£000

(to nearest
£100)
£00

(bands of
£5000)
£000

(bands of
£5000)
£000

(bands of
£2500)
£000

(bands of
£5000)
£000

Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer

4,5

140-145

-

-

-

-

140-145

Mr David Melbourne

Interim/Deputy Chief Executive
and Chief Finance Officer

6,7,8

120-125

27

-

-

50-52.5

175-180

Mrs Margaret Ashworth

Interim Chief Finance Officer

9,10

40-45

-

-

-

-

40-45

Mr Philip Foster

Interim Chief Finance Officer

11

20-22.5

35-40

Mr Tim Atack

Chief Operating Officer

-

-

-

80-82.5

195-200

15-20
115-120

Ms Michelle McLoughlin

Chief Nursing Officer

115-120

-

-

-

80-82.5

195-200

Mrs Theresa Nelson

Chief Officer for Workforce
Development

115-120

-

-

-

75-77.5

190-195

Dr Fiona Reynolds

Chief Medical Officer

165-170

-

-

-

202.5-205

370-375

Mr Matthew Boazman

Chief Strategy Officer

115-120

-

-

-

87.5-90

205-210

Dame Christine Braddock

Chairman

30-35

-

-

-

-

30-35

Mr Roger Peace

Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Dr Judith Smith

Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Mr Colin Horwath

Non-Executive Director

20-25

-

-

-

-

20-25

Mr Alan Edwards

Non-Executive Director

15-20

-

-

-

-

15-20

Dr William Murdoch

Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Mr Vijeth Randeniya

Non-Executive Director

20-25

-

-

-

-

20-25

1100-110

27

-

-

600-602.5

1705-1710

1) The definition of Senior Managers includes only the Chief Officers and the Non-Executive Directors. These are the senior officers of the Trust having Board of Director voting powers.
2) In setting the remuneration of Executive Directors the Appointments and Remuneration Committee has met and considered a range of benchmark information on reward packages in the NHS.
3) Pension-related benefits do not represent an amount that will be received by the employees. This is a calculation intended to provide users of the accounts with an estimate of the benefit that
being a member of the NHS Pension Scheme could provide.
4) Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh commenced maternity leave on 18 September 2015.
5) Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh was also Chief Executive of Birmingham Women’s Hospital (BWH) from 1 July 2015 until 17 September 2015. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH.
6) Mr David Melbourne took up post as Interim Chief Executive on 18 September 2015.
7) Mr David Melbourne was also Interim Chief Executive of BWH from 18 September 2015. Salary costs exclude associated recharges to BWH, but pension-related benefits are shown in full.
8) Taxable Benefits relates to lease cars.9) Mrs Margaret Ashworth was Interim Chief Finance Officer from 21 September 2015 until 8 February 2016.
10) Mrs Margaret Ashworth was engaged by BWH. The salary costs shown are the recharges from BWH, excluding VAT.
11) Mr Philip Foster was Interim Chief Finance Officer from 8 February 2016.
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2016/17 Pensions Table
1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016

Name and Title

Real increase
in pension at
retirement
age

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
retirement
age

Total
accrued
pension at
retirement
age at 31
March 2017

Lump sum at
retirement
age related
to accrued
pension at
31 March
2017

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2016

Real Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2017

Employers
Contribution
to
Stakeholder
Pension

(bands of
£2500)
£000

(bands of
£2500)
£000

(bands of
£5000)
£000

(bands of
£5000)
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer

5-7.5

10-12.5

35-40

90-95

369

114

483

-

Mr David Melbourne

Deputy Chief Executive/
Chief Finance Officer

2.5-5

7.5-10

50-55

150-155

910

91

1,001

-

Mr Philip Foster

Interim Chief Finance Officer

2.5-5

2.5-5

35-40

95-100

535

51

586

-

Mr Tim Atack

Chief Operating Officer

2.5-5

2.5-5

40-45

125-130

741

70

811

-

Ms Michelle McLoughlin

Chief Nursing Officer

2.5-5

7.5-10

40-45

130-135

753

73

826

-

Mrs Theresa Nelson

Chief Officer for Workforce
Development

0-2.5

2.5-5

20-25

50-55

298

44

342

-

Dr Fiona Reynolds

Deputy Chief Medical Officer

0-0

0-0

45-50

125-130

760

0

760

-

Mr Matthew Boazman

Chief Strategy Officer

2.5-5

0-2.5

20-25

55-60

235

29

263

-

Ms Helen Young

Director of Maternity
Transformation

0-2.5

5-7.5

35-40

105-110

519

74

593

-

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in
respect of pensions for Non-Executive members.

pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member
as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own
cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the institute and
Faculty of Actuaries.

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued
are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the
scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown
relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership
of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies.
The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 the other pension details, include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS

Real Increase/(Decrease) in CETV - This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the
employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid
by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme
or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
Employer contributions to the NHS pension scheme are 14.3% of the pensionable pay of
scheme members. Employee contributions are based on annualised, full-time salary. For
directors where this figure falls between £70,631 and £111,377 the contribution rate is 13.5% of
pensionable pay, while it is 14.5% for those where this figure is in excess of £111,377.
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2015/16 Pensions Table
1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016

Name and Title

Real increase
in pension at
retirement
age

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
retirement
age

Total
accrued
pension at
retirement
age at 31
March 2016

Lump sum at
retirement
age related
to accrued
pension at
31 March
2016

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2015

Real Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2016

Employers
Contribution
to
Stakeholder
Pension

(bands of
£2500)
£000

(bands of
£2500)
£000

(bands of
£5000)
£000

(bands of
£5000)
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Ms Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer

0-2.5

-

25-30

80-85

373

(4)

369

-

Mr David Melbourne

Deputy Chief Executive/
Chief Finance Officer

2.5-5

7.5-10

45-50

140-145

845

65

910

-

Mr Philip Foster

Interim Chief Finance Officer

0-2.5

-

30-35

90-95

516

19

535

-

Mr Tim Atack

Chief Operating Officer

2.5-5

12.5-15

40-45

120-125

660

81

741

-

Ms Michelle McLoughlin

Chief Nursing Officer

2.5-5

12.5-15

40-45

120-125

668

84

753

-

Mrs Theresa Nelson

Chief Officer for Workforce
Development

2.5-5

5-7.5

15-20

45-50

233

65

298

-

10-12.5

20-22.5

45-50

125-130

599

161

760

-

2.5-5

7.5-10

20-25

55-60

187

48

235

-

Dr Fiona Reynolds

Deputy Chief Medical Officer

Mr Matthew Boazman

Chief Strategy Officer

Median Remuneration
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director at the Trust in the financial year 2016/17 was £180,000-185,000 (2015/16, £175,000-£180,000). This was 6.41 times (2015/16, 6.30 times) the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £28,462 (2015/16, £28,180).
The increase in the ratio is a result of the remuneration of the highest paid director increasing slightly in advance of the increase in the median salary as a result of the added responsibilities of the
role. The changes in the mix of workforce reported within Note 4.2 have not impacted upon the median salary of the Trust.

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
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Staff Report

Breakdown of the gender our personnel
as at 31 January 2017

Analysis of average staff numbers
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (BCH) as at 31 January 2017

Male

Female

Male

Female

(Number)

(Number)

(%)

(%)

Board members

8

5

62%

38%

Other employees

726

3182

19%

81%

31-Jan-17
Average number of employees (WTE basis)

Total WTE

Permanent

Other

Medical & Dental

418.47

216.31

202.16

Administration & Estates

936.93

845.88

91.06

Healthcare Assistants and other Support Staff

433.84

425.8

8.04

Nursing & Midwifery

1211.42

1190.74

20.68

Scientific, Therapeutic and Technical

402.02

383.27

18.75

Healthcare Science Staff

133.62

130.02

3.6

Other

17

5

12

Total

3553.31

3197.02

356.29

Breakdown of the gender our personnel
as at 31 March 2017
Male

Female

Male

(Number)

(Number)

(%)

Female
(%)

Board members

7

9

44%

56%

Other employees

974

4707

17%

83%

Sickness absence data

Birmingham Women’s & Children’s NHS FT (BWC) as at 31 March 2017

We have continued to focus on improving attendance at work with a combination of early
intervention programmes and facilitating return to work schemes. The Trust is part of the
national pilot with NHS England for Staff Health and Wellbeing and as well as continuing to
provide the range of support already in place, we have launched a pilot to give staff fast track
access to physiotherapy. During early 2016 a number of departments that had high absences
due to musculoskeletal problems were targeted with support. Evaluation of this service has
demonstrated that it provides staff with much needed support to either prevent absences or
support an earlier return to work. We have also been able to provide health checks for over
40s, provide a weight management group, exercise and physical activity classes and general
health promotion work. We continue to work with NHS England to look at further improvements
and initiatives.

31-Jan-17
Average number of employees (WTE basis)

Total WTE

Permanent

Other

Medical & Dental

527.77

270.66

257.10

Administration & Estates

1343.47

1218.17

125.30

Healthcare Assistants and other Support Staff

643.87

632.09

11.78

Nursing & Midwifery

1709.23

1686.90

22.33

Scientific, Therapeutic and Technical

437.96

417.48

20.49

Healthcare Science Staff

371.35

342.02

29.33

Other

33.00

5.00

28.00

Total

5066.65

4572.33

494.33

The Trust takes a robust approach to monitoring sickness absence and supporting staff to
be able to undertake their role safely.  Priority continues to be given to interventions aimed at
supporting the psychological wellbeing of staff both at work and home. Our sickness rate is
regularly monitored and incorporated in our Resources Report and Safety Dashboard to help
us understand where there may be staff pressures and where this has the potential to affect the
quality of care.

Average staff numbers at BCH as at January 2017 were 3553, 145 or 4% higher than in
2015/16. The category which has reported the largest shift is “healthcare assistants and other
support staff”. The average number of employee movement in this category is 33% and reflects
the clinical support worker programme which is being successfully implemented at the Trust.

Analysis of staff costs
Costs of permanently employed staff

£174,635k

Costs of other staff

£5,939k

31
31
31

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

The top three reasons for sickness absence remain stress (both personal and work related),
musculoskeletal and gastrointestinal related illnesses and the table below indicates the
proportion of days lost to sickness absence in these areas.

The Trust has seen a reduction in overall staff sickness rates from 3.60% for the same period in
2015/16 to 3.54% in 2016/17. A comparison at Clinical Group level is shown below:
Sickness levels
Sickness levels

April 16 to Jan 17

April 15 to Jan 16

Trust-wide

3.54%

3.60%

Corporate

3.19%

3.01%

Diagnostics & Therapies

3.05%

2.52%

Head & Neck

1.85%

2.00%

Mental Health Services - FTB

4.74%

0.00%

Mental Health Services - Tier

4 4.04%

4.62%

Neurology & Haematology/Oncology

4.16%

3.54%

Specialised Medicine

4.33%

4.70%

Surgical Care

4.46%

4.64%

Transplant, GI & Cardiac

2.77%

2.81%

Urgent & Critical Care

3.09%

3.63%

Sickness Reason

3.93%
3.17%

Corporate (BWH)

3.12%

Diagnostics & Therapies

3.21%

Facilities

7.38%

Genetics

1.71%

Gynaecology

5.64%

Head & Neck

1.74%

Maternity

5.23%

Mental Health Services - FTB

4.23%

Mental Health Services - Tier

4 3.62%

Neonates

4.47%

Neurology & Haematology/Oncology

3.41%

Specialised Medicine

4.83%

Surgical Care

4.27%

Transplant, GI & Cardiac

4.00%

Urgent & Critical Care

4.09%

Apr 15 to Jan 16

Apr 16 to Jan 17

Stress (Work & Non
Work Related)

0.90%

0.82%

26.4

27.9

Musculoskeletal

0.51%

0.70%

14.5

16.7

Gastrointestinal

0.36%

0.32%

3.70

2.80

Sickness Reason

% of overall sickness absence

Average calendar days lost

Apr 15 to Jan 16

Apr 15 to Jan 16

Stress (Work & Non
Work Related)

1.05%

19.00

Musculoskeletal

0.76%

15.10

Gastrointestinal

0.40%

4.10

It is not possible to show a full year comparison against the previous year for the integrated
Trust, however, the overall average length of sickness absence for Birmingham Children’s
Hospital reduced to 7.9 calendar days for April 2016 to January 2017 compared to 8.4 calendar
days lost for April 2015 to January 2016.

Sickness levels February 2017 to March 2017

Corporate (BCH)

Average calendar days lost

Apr 16 to Jan 17

Following the formation of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust on 1
February 2017, staff sickness levels for the remainder of the year are as follows

Following the formation of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust on
1 February 2017, staff sickness levels for the remainder of the year are as follows:

Trust-wide

% of overall sickness absence
Apr 15 to Jan 16

The Trust takes a robust approach to monitoring sickness absence and supporting staff to be
able to undertake their role safely.  It is anticipated that the prioritisation of interventions aimed
at supporting the psychological wellbeing of staff both at work and home over the previous and
forthcoming year will enable the organisation to improve attendance at work.
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Staff policies and actions applied during the
financial year:

We involve our staff in all decisions about our future strategy, their working environment and the
development of services. During 2016/17 we consulted with staff in the following key areas:

Equal opportunities for disabled staff

		

We know that people perform their best when they can be themselves. Attracting and
developing a diverse workforce is essential if we are to deliver our strategic priorities and unlock
potential. Our Diversity and Inclusion Strategy sets out our commitment to ensuring equality
and human rights will be taken into account in everything we do, both as an employer and a
provider of healthcare. We have maintained our Personal, Fair and Diverse accreditation from
NHS Employers.

At the end of April 2017 we began consulting on our integrated vision, mission, values and
strategic priorities.

l

The integration of our two Trusts.

l

Learning from the past for the future – the theme of our annual week-long engagement event,
InTent in 2016.

Occupational health
The cornerstone of our strategy for improving the health and wellbeing of staff, children and
families is our responsibility to promote improved health outcomes for patients. We want to
be ambassadors for initiatives that reduce risk to health, and to promote healthy lifestyles by
example and through our services. In order to achieve this we must also meet the health and
wellbeing needs of our most valued resource – our staff. Evidence tells us that to sustain high
quality compassionate care in pressured environments, staff need to feel valued and cared for
and to care for themselves.

The standards laid out in our Recruitment and Selection Policy are applied to all candidates for
posts and the Trust’s Recruitment and Selection Toolkit provides advice on equal opportunities.
The aim of the policy is to ensure that all applicants who declare a disability are offered an
interview if they meet the minimum requirements for the post. Monitoring and auditing is used
to help identify and eliminate possible discrimination and to constantly improve recruitment
processes.

We have continued to work closely with Occupational Health and Staff Support Providers
(Confidential Care) to ensure the service meets the needs of our staff.      

Reasonable adjustments are made for staff with a disability in relation to training and all other
work related activities. This is based on individual needs with occupational health advice in
consultation with the member of staff.

Occupational Health – Management Referrals and Pre-Employment Assessments

Our work with staff on being a more inclusive organisation has seen more pace this year, with
the creation of our Inclusivity Action Group. This is a self-selected group of individuals with
a passion about diversity in the workplace. They are there to act as ‘critical friends’ to the
organisation, feeding back on good or poor practice, supporting culture change.

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Number of Referrals

376

392

352

456

435

Number of Pre-Employment Screening Assessments

1277

1379

1542

1099

1033

Consulting and involving Staff
We maintain regular contact with staff in a number of ways to ensure they are involved with the
Trust’s performance:
l

		

Daily email bulletin containing significant items of Trust and site specific news linked to
the intranet.

l

Weekly operational activity blog by the Chief Operating Officer.

l

Monthly Chief Executive Briefing sessions take place on both sites
(vodcasts stored on intranet).

		
l

Regular Managers Briefing.

l

Invitation to monthly Board of Directors meeting in public.
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Health and safety performance

Staff survey results

The most significant risks to the non-clinical safety of our patients, staff and visitors are
monitored by our Non-Clinical Risk Coordinating Committee. A Non-Clinical Safety Report is
presented regularly to our Quality Committee to provide assurance about what is being done to
make sure our environment and practices are as safe and secure as they can be.

At Birmingham Children’s Hospital we undertook at census survey again in 2016 to ensure we
gave as many staff as possible an opportunity to give feedback about what it’s like to work here,
what’s great and what’s not so great. We take our results very seriously and use these to inform
significant workstreams to improve staff experience over the year.

In 2016/17 there were:

Our results have shown that our staff are engaged and committed, would recommend us as a
place to work and be treated, that staff feel able to be involved in improvements and that they
feel the organisation supports their wellbeing. There are areas for focus such as harassment
and bullying, both from patients and staff, as well as looking further on reducing stress and
pressure.

l

		

0 Dangerous Occurrences as defined in Reporting of Injuries Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR)

l

0 Diseases as defined in RIDDOR

l

5 Major Injuries as defined in RIDDOR (over 7 days’ absence)

l

0 HSE improvement notices

l

0 HSE prohibition notices

l

0 non-clinical safety related Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation.

l

0 non-clinical safety related Never Events.

The results of the 2016 staff survey of Birmingham Women’s Hospital staff are reported in the
Annual Report 2016/17 of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust.
Summary of 2016/17 Staff Survey performance
N.B. national average is the average of specialist acute trusts, not all trusts. In 2015 we ran our
survey as a census.
Response rates

Counter fraud and corruption

2015

In accordance with Secretary of State Directions, the Trust has on-going programme to prevent
fraud and bribery and ensure proper use of public funds. The Counter Fraud service at BCH
aims to prevent fraudulent activity which threatens this principle. This is supported by the Trusts
Counter Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy.

Response rate

2016

Trust improvement

Trust

Trust

Benchmarking group average

40%

44%

44%

4%

The Trust has continued to promote the awareness of fraud and bribery throughout the year,
creating an anti-fraud culture and ensuring that all employees are aware of their role and
responsibilities with regards to identifying and preventing suspicious activity. This has been
achieved by the inclusion of counter fraud training at the core of our mandatory training
programme, supplemented with an online learning module and presentations by the Local
Counter Fraud Specialist. A staff survey was also circulated to all employees, to identify areas
for development, and to ensure that the counter fraud programme is risk based. Responses
received demonstrated clear awareness and knowledge of Fraud and bribery within the NHS
and people were aware of how to raise their concerns.
We have continued to proactively identify and prevent fraud, undertaking proactive reviews
alongside Internal Audit and assisting with the implementation and review of key policies and
procedures, in accordance with best practice guidance. Where referrals have been received,
the Trust has demonstrated a zero tolerance approach and internal and external investigations
have been undertaken where necessary. We have an established annual counter fraud plan
for 2017/2018 which will continue to raise the awareness of fraud and bribery and respond to
emerging issues identified national and locally by NHS Protect, so that appropriate controls are
implemented to safeguard public funds. The Trust has implemented recommendations following
a review of counter fraud arrangements last year and continues to perform well against this
organisational assessment.
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Areas of Improvement from 2015 Survey Results

Staff Survey 2016 - Top 5 ranking scores

Priority Area

What’s already in place?

Proposals for
improvement

Progress and
Update September
2016

Helping staff
understand the need
for working differently
and how the workforce
will need to be
redesigned in the
future (to address the
key concerns around
pressure and
resources).

Head of Clinical
Workforce Redesign in
post. Examples of
work undertaken in
some areas, for
example,
Haematology/
Oncology.
Examples of new roles
and different ways of
working.

Develop some case
studies based on work
already undertaken.
Heads of Nursing to
help messaging to
ward level.
Use InTent 2016 as a
basis for helping staff
understand context of
the NHS and the
BCH/BWH integration
– and generate ideas
and support for
change.

Discussions on
survey outcomes
held with key
groups.
Workforce planning
in progress and
redesign will be built
into process.
InTent September
2016 (annual
staff engagement
event) had a ‘Back
to the Future’
theme focused on
understanding the
Trust integration,
the role of STPs and
influencing change.

Focusing on how we
improve ‘life balance’
for staff.

A focus on how we
help staff to
understand what
constitutes bullying,
how we tackle it and
deal with it, and how
we encourage people
to speak up.

Policy in place.
Examples of different
types of flexible
working in place.

Policies in place
(Dignity at Work and
Resolving Conflict).
Ambassadors in place.
Staff support –
Confidential Care;
Psychological
Wellbeing Practitioner
post trial.

Develop a ‘simple’
version of the policy to
help raise awareness.
Look at the appeals
process to ensure
transparency.
Ask groups to review
application of policy in
their areas.
Support managers to
understand policy
application.

Communications
messaging
undertaken.
Simplified process
issued.
Awareness days
held.
Will be built into new
management
development
training.

Develop an antibullying
campaign.
Develop a ‘simple’
guide to ‘what is
bullying’ (and what it
isn’t).
Develop a step guide
on tackling bullying
behaviours.
Hold some specific
confidential ‘drop in’
sessions for anyone
wishing to discuss a
concern.

Campaign run with
messaging to staff
on how to tackle
behaviours and to
managers about
how to manage
behaviours.
National NHS
Employers
campaign regularly
promoted. Raising
concerns surgeries.

2015 (previous
year)

35
35
35

2016 (current year)

Trust improvement/
deterioration

Trust

Trust

Benchmarking
group (trust
type) average

KF13. Quality of
non-mandatory
training, learning or
development

4.15

4.14

4.07

0.01

KF32. Effective use
of patient / service
user feedback

3.85

3.96

3.81

0.11

KF7. Percentage of
staff able to
contribute towards
improvements at
work

78%

78%

73%

0%

KF6. Percentage of
staff reporting good
communication
between senior
management
and staff

41%

46%

40%

5%

KF5. Recognition
and value of staff by
managers and the
organisation

3.6

3.63

3.6

0.03
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The first four of our lowest ranking scores are the same as last year. Despite still being below
the national average, we have seen an improvement on each compared to last year’s results.

Staff Survey 2016 – Bottom 5 ranking scores
2015
Trust
KF15. Percentage of
staff satisfied with the
opportunities for flexible
working patterns

49%

KF2. Staff satisfaction with
the quality of work and
care they are able to
deliver

3.94

KF17. Percentage of staff
feeling unwell due to work
related stress in the last 12
months

36%

Trust improvement/
deterioration

2016 (current year)
Trust

The full Staff Survey 2016 report for Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust can
be found on www.NHSstaffsurveys.com

Benchmarking
group (trust
type) average

50%

53%

3.99

4.94

34%

33%

Summary of local surveys and results
1%

Staff Friends and Family Test

0.05

The Staff Friends and Family Test asks staff two key questions. We run this quarterly within the
Trust, asking different staff groups within each quarter so that as many people as possible are
asked at least once a year.

100

2%

90
80

KF22. Percentage of staff
experiencing physical
violence from patients,
relatives or the public in
last 12 months

7%

KF14. Staff satisfaction
with resourcing and
support

3.38

How likely are you to recommend Birmingham Children’s Hospital
to friends and family as a place to work?

70
8%

7%

Neither likely or
unlikely to recommend

68%

60

1%

Recommend

76%

74%

% 50

Not recommend

40

3.42

3.43

30

0.04

14% 18%

14%

2015
Q1
Survey quarters

2015
Q2

13% 13%

20

10%

10
0
Staff Survey 2016 – Key Areas of Improvement

Most Improved Where we
improved the most compared
to 2015

2016
National
Average

2016
Results

Percentage of staff witnessing
potentially harmful errors, near
misses or incidents in last month

28%

27%

31%

4%

Effective use of patient/ service
user feedback

3.81

3.96

3.85

0.11

Fairness and effectiveness of
procedures for reporting errors,
near misses and incidents

3.79

3.94

3.85

0.09

Organisation and management
interest in and action on health
and wellbeing

3.71

3.84

3.74

0.10

Percentage of staff reporting
good communication between
senior management and staff

40%

2015
Results

Variance
2015-2016

Overall
2014 score

How likely are you to recommend Birmingham Children’s Hospital
to friends and family if they needed care or treatment?
100

96%

95%

94%

90
80

Recommend

70
60

Neither likely or
unlikely to recommend

% 50
40
30

Not recommend

20
46%

41%

10

5%

0

2% 2%
Overall
2014 score

5%

1%

2015
Q1

4% 1%
2015
Q2

Survey quarters
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Theme Identified

Improvements already
on plan

Further Improvements

Improvement target for
2017 survey

Team work

Team Maker programme
launched at BWH.
Support from Staff
Experience Team
targeted at key areas.

Review of team structures
at BWH. Further targeted
leadership development
and coaching.

Overall score for key finding
to achieve >3.87

Contribution to
Improvement

Magnificent 7 Work
streams in place.
Transformation Team
encouraging ideas and
supporting Innovation
hubs. Methodology
training in leadership
offer.

Introduction of rapid
improvement event
methodology Clear
branding for improvement
methodology
Improvement for
everyone model at
induction.
Resources on intranet.

Overall score for key finding
to achieve >76%

Communication
campaign and advice
at BCH. Dignity at
work policy in place.
Ambassador for Raising
Concerns in place.

Share communication
campaign at BWH.
Review and re-launch of
dignity at work policy
Further communication
on Ambassador role.
Inclusion Group to
develop further plans.
Development of vision
values for whole
organisation

Workforce Race Equality
Standard (WRES)
KF25
White to be <22%
BME to be <17%
KF26
White to be <22%
BME to be <21%

Harassment &
Bullying

Priorities and targets
Our performance against priority areas identified in the 2015 Staff Survey is set out above.
Our future priorities and targets based on the 2016 results are set out in the table of areas of
concerns and actions above.
Improvements at a local level will be monitored as part of the Performance Management
Framework.
The Quality Committee will monitor Trust-wide improvements during 2017/18.

Expenditure on consultancy

Wellbeing
Culture

Ongoing work with
NHSE Policy and
processes in place
Confidential Care
Service in place Exercise
classes at BCH.

OH re-tender to embed
better wellbeing support
Redesign of key policies
Roll out of exercise class
offer to BWH Leadership
development in absence
management/support
Resources on internet
Specific ward/area focus

Pressure to attend work
when unwell to achieve
<54%
Organisational interest in
wellbeing to achieve >3.80
Questions around MSK and
Stress to have improved by
3% each

Equality &
Diversity
(Discrimination
and Career
Progression)

Addressed in our
Equality and Diversity
Annual Plan and
priorities.

Inclusivity Group involved
in developing ideas and
plans.
Review education and
training offer.
Focused work on
recruitment, interview
panels, unconscious bias
and observing panels.
Re-launch of dignity at
work and zero tolerance
to discrimination.

KF21
White to be >93%
BME to be >74%
Q17b
White to be <4%
BME to be <11%

The Trust’s expenditure on consultancy increased by 40% to £1.75m in 2016/17. Consultancy
is a broad category and also incorporates professional support services which were required to
progress the Trust’s key developments in 2016/17 as well as smaller projects.
As part of the process of integration with Birmingham Women’s Hospital, the Trust was
required to undertake a series of reviews by independent external organisations. Funding for
the integration-related consultancy costs was received as part of the financial support package
agreed with NHS Improvement.
Since the introduction of NHS Improvement’s controls in June 2015, the Finance and Resources
Committee has undertaken the role of approving in advance consultancy expenditure over £50k.
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High paid off-payroll engagements

Table 3: Any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017

The Trust allows off-payroll arrangements to be made only in circumstances where
vital specialised roles cannot, in the short-term, be supported through standard payroll
arrangements. The Trust regularly monitors and reviews all high paid off-payroll arrangements
to ensure alternative solutions are sought in order to reduce the duration of such arrangements
to the minimum. This includes the use of HMRC’s online employment status indicator tool. The
Trust seeks evidence that appropriate arrangements are in place in relation to tax and national
insurance from individuals with whom such arrangements are made.

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior
officials with significant financial responsibility, during 2016/17

0

Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members and/or
senior officials with significant financial responsibility” during 2016/17,
including both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

18

The Trust does not make off payroll arrangements with members of the Board of Directors.
Table 1: All off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017 for more than £220 per day that
last for longer than six months
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive Officer

1

Of which...
Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting

1

Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting

0

Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting

0

Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting

0

Number that have existed for four or more years at time

0

All the existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether assurance needs to be sought that the individual is paying the right
amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
Table 2: All new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last for
longer than six months
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017

1

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the trust
the right to request assurance in relation to income tax and National
Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

1

Of which...
Number for whom assurance has been received

1

Number for whom assurance has not been received

0

Number that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0
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NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles of the
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a comply or explain basis. The NHS Foundation
Trust Code of Governance, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on the principles of the
UK Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012.

The Board of Directors is legally accountable for the services we provide and is specifically
responsible for:

Board of Directors and Council of Governors
l

l

		

Setting the strategic direction (having taken into account the Council of Governors’ views);

l

Ensuring that clinical services provide high-quality and safe care for patients, parents and
their families;

		

Constitutionally formed, the Council of Governors has the following key responsibilities:
		

l

l

Strategic – Providing advice on our general direction and ensuring that our plans assist in the
delivery of our long-term goals.

		

Guardianship – Ensuring that the Board of Directors conform to the terms of authorisation,
acting as a trustee of the Trust.

		

l

l

Advisory – Providing advice to the Board of Directors to ensure that we continue to deliver
		 services to meet the needs of the members, patients, parents, families and the wider local
		communities.

Ensuring that governance arrangements are implemented to provide assurance that there
are safe systems of internal control in place;
Ensuring that a rigorous performance management framework is implemented which
ensures that we continue to be a high performer against national and local targets;
Ensuring that we are at all times compliant with our Terms of Authorisation.

l

The Constitution sets out the key responsibilities of the Board of Directors. The accountability
framework defines the Committees of the Board and sets out within the approved terms of
reference the responsibilities for each of these Committees. Non-Executive Directors are
members (or the Chair) of each of these Committees.

The Council of Governors is specifically responsible for:
l

		
l

		

Representing the views of the members and acting as a source of information on
members’ needs.

In the event of a dispute between the Council of Governors and the Board of Directors, the
Council of Governors and the Board of Directors should meet and attempt to resolve the dispute
by negotiation. If agreement cannot be reached, the dispute should be referred to the Chairman,
whose decision shall be final. In the event that a dispute is referred to the Chairman and the
Chairman considers that he/she has a perceived or real interest in the outcome of that dispute
and that the dispute would be better resolved externally, then the Chairman may refer the
dispute for resolution by arbitration under the Rules of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (as
amended or re-issued from time to time).

Working with the Board of Directors to inform the future strategic direction and
development plan.

l

Appointing (and removing) the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors.

l

Setting the remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors.

l

Approving the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer.

l

Appointing the External Auditor.

l

Receiving copies of our annual reports, annual accounts and the External Auditor’s report.

l

Holding the Non-Executive Directors individually and collectively to account.

l

Approving any amendments to the Core Constitution.

Governors’ views are shared with the Board of Directors through the formal meetings of the
Council of Governors, which are chaired by the Chairman who presides over the Board of
Directors and are attended by the Non-Executive Directors. The Executive Directors are invited
to attend the meetings to present reports and information. In addition, the Council of Governors
and the Board of Directors hold two joint meetings a year where the focus is on strategic issues.
The Governors’ Scrutiny Committee is a well-established committee of the Council of Governors
which provides a forum to support the Council to meet its obligations under the Health and
Social Care Act 2012, in particular, to hold the Non-Executive Directors to account. This
Committee is chaired by the Deputy Chairman and has a core membership of Governors,
including the Lead Governor, and is open to all governors to attend meetings as they wish.
Meetings of the Committee are also attended by Non-Executive Directors and Executive
Directors for appropriate agenda items.
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Board of Directors meetings
*Board members attend Council of Governors meetings by invitation. All Board members
attended Council of Governors meetings when requested to do so.
** Break in term of office between 1.10.16 and 31.1.17
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
All the Non-Executive Directors of the Board are considered to be independent
Board member

Title

Board of
Directors

*Council of
Governors

Appointments &
Remuneration
Committee

Audit
Committee

Christine Braddock

Chairman

9/11

5/6

3/3

n/a

Vijith Randeniya

Deputy Chairman/Senior
Independent Director

9/11

6/6

2/3

0/7

Colin Horwath

Non-Executive Director
(1.2.17- 31.3.17)

3/3

2/2

2/2

1/2

Roger Peace

Non-Executive Director

8/9

2/4

n/a

4/6

Judith Smith

Non-Executive Director**

7/7

2/5

n/a

0/7

Alan Edwards

Non- Executive Director

9/11

3/6

n/a

6/7

Will Murdoch

Non-Executive Director

10/11

3/6

n/a

3/7

Paul Heaven

Non-Executive Director
(1.10.16- 31.1.17)

4/4

0/2

n/a

2/2

Anita Bhalla

Non-Executive Director
(1.2.17- 31.3.17)

2/2

1/2

n/a

1/1

Marianne Skelcher

Non-Executive Director
(1.2.17- 31.3.17)

2/2

1/2

n/a

0/1

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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Board member

Title

Board of
Directors

*Council of
Governors

Sarah-Jane Marsh
David Melbourne

Appointments &
Remuneration
Committee

Chief Executive Officer (maternity
leave 1-18.4.16)

10/11

2/6

3/3

Deputy Chief Executive Officer/
Chief Finance Officer (Interim Chief
Executive Officer between 1.4.1617.4.16)

11/11

5/6

n/a

Michelle McLoughlin

Chief Nursing Officer

11/11

2/6

n/a

Tim Atack

Chief Operating Officer

1/11

3/6

n/a

Theresa Nelson

Chief Officer for Workforce
Development

9/11

1/6

n/a

Matthew Boazman

Chief Officer for Strategy and
Innovation

9/11

0/6

n/a

Fiona Reynolds

Chief Medical Officer

11/11

3/6

n/a

Helen Young

Director of Maternity Transformation
(1.2.17 - 31.3.17)

2/2

1/2

n/a
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Council of Governors and Meetings

COMPOSITION OF THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS AND ATTENDANCE AT CORE MEETINGS 2016/17
Governor

BCH
Constituency/ Class
Elected = (E)
Nominated = (N)

BWC
Constituency/ Class
Elected = (E)
Nominated = (N)

Tenure

Council of
Governors meetings

Governors
Scrutiny Committee

Nominations
Committee

Zaira Akhtar

Patient (E)

BCH Patient (E)

3 years from February 2014

5/6

n/a

n/a

Ian Blair

Birmingham City
University (N)

Birmingham City
University (N)

3 years from November 2015

5/6

2/4

3/3

Lynda Cooper

Sandwell (E)

Black Country (E)

3 years from July 2016

5/5

n/a

n/a

Philip Crombie

Birmingham (E)

n/a

Ended September 2016

1/2

0/3

1/1

Sue Davies

Staff – Nursing (E)

Staff – Nursing (E)

3 years from January 2017

0/3

n/a

n/a

Ian Evans- Fisher

Herefordshire /
Worcestershire (E)

n/a

Ended September 2016

2/2

n/a

1/1

Rachel Evitts

Staff – Nursing (E)

n/a

Ended September 2016

0/2

n/a

n/a

Robert Foster

Shropshire /
Staffordshire (E)

Rest of West Midlands (E)

3 years from September 2014 (third term)

5/6

2/4

n/a

Omega Gavaza

Coventry / Warwickshire (E)

Rest of West Midlands (E)

3 years from December 2015

1/6

n/a

n/a

Chris Jones

Birmingham (E)

Birmingham and Solihull (E)

3 years from March 2014

5/6

n/a

n/a

Karen Kelly

Staff – Non Clinical (E)

Staff – Non Clinical (E)

3 years from September 2014 (second term)

5/6

3/4

n/a

Daniel Matthews

Shropshire / Staffordshire (E)
/ Lead Governor

Rest of West Midlands (E)

3 years from September 2014

6/6

4/4
(3 as non member)

2/3

Rebecca O’Sullivan

Staff – Clinical Other (E)

Staff – Clinical Other (E)

3 years from July 2016

4/5

1/2

1/1

Claire Terry

Birmingham (E)

Birmingham and Solihull (E)

3 years from January 2017

3/3

n/a

n/a

Nicola Turner

Solihull (E)

Birmingham and Solihull (E)

3 years from January 2017

3/3

n/a

n/a

Anthony Veal

Birmingham (E)

n/a

Ended September 2016

2/2

n/a

n/a

Elizabeth Walker

Carer (E)

BCH Carer (E)

3 years from January 2017 (second term)

4/6

2/4 (as non member)

0/4

Timothy Wilson

Dudley / Walsall /
Wolverhampton (E)

Black Country (E)

3 years from January 2017 (second term)

4/6

n/a

n/a

Carola Wolf

Birmingham (E)

Birmingham and Solihull (E)

3 years from December 2015

4/6

4/4 (non member)

4/4

Completeness of the Board of Directors

management and leadership, marketing, NHS service provision, medicine, health care and
health policy, human resources, organisational development and local enterprise.

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors of the Board provide a balance and
breadth of knowledge, experience and skills. The Executive Directors have at a senior level
considerable NHS experience in a range of areas including finance, medicine, nursing,
midwifery, strategic and operational planning, research and workforce development.

The Nominations Committee and the Appointments and Remuneration Committee consider
the balance and breadth of knowledge, experience and skills required on the Board at each
appointment and reappointment of directors and have ensured the maintenance of a balanced
and complete Board throughout the integration process.

Their expertise is complemented by the Non-Executive Directors who have extensive private
and public sector experience in business, commerce, banking, accounting, audit, research,

The Chairman has no other significant commitments.
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Individual Board member skills, expertise and experience
Dame Christine
Braddock
Chairman

Anita Bhalla
Non-Executive Director

Colin Horwath
Non-Executive
Director

Marianne Skelcher
Non-Executive
Director

Appointed
May 2014

Appointed
1 February 2017

Appointed
1 February 2017

Appointed
1 February 2017

Expertise and Experience
Dame Christine has been Chair of
Birmingham Children’s Hospital for two
years and in this the second report under
her tenure is delighted to be reporting on
the developments of the trust. Christine
came from a long and very successful
career in education, being CEO of one of
the largest and most successful further
education colleges in the UK. She has
undertaken numerous board roles at a
local, regional and national level, including
the president of the Greater Birmingham
Chamber of Commerce, the LEP and CBI
council member. She has chaired a number
of key forums and sat on numerous boards
to include Engineering UK Education
and Skills, Quality Improvement Agency,
Learning and Skills Agency and was
deputy Chair of Midland Heart a large
housing association, director of Marketing
Birmingham and council member of both
Aston and Birmingham Universities.
Christine is a Deputy Lord Lieutenant
and in 2014 the High Sheriff of the West
Midlands, and was award both a CBE, and
later a DBE, for services to education and
business.

Expertise and Experience
Audit Partner, KPMG, with responsibility
to develop public sector audit practice
in the Midlands. Colin was Chair of the
Audit Committee until February 2015.

Expertise and Experience
Anita is currently Chair of Chair of
Performances Birmingham PLC (Town Hall
and Symphony Hall), Chair of Creative City
Partnership, Director of Greater Birmingham
and Solihull LEP (Local Enterprise Partnership),
Governor of the RSC, Member of the Council of
Warwick University, Director of the High Speed
Rail College, Non Exec Director of Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s NHS Trust and
Chancellor of Birmingham Children’s University.
Anita has an extensive media career of over
25 years with the BBC. She has a strong
commitment to public service and her portfolio
in this area ranges from being a Commissioner
on The Chancellor’s Commission (Warwick
University), member of Birmingham’s Social
Inclusion Commission to being the past chair
of mac (Midlands Arts Centre), a previous chair
of a Junior and Infant School, member of the
governing body of Birmingham City University
to currently being a Trustee of the Children’s
University. In 2012 Anita was the High Sheriff
for the West Midlands. Anita has been awarded
Honorary Degrees from Wolverhampton
University, Birmingham City University and
Warwick University. She is also a fellow of the
Royal Society of Arts.

Expertise and Experience
Currently combining her own consulting
and coaching business with a portfolio
of non-executive roles, Marianne has a
background in organisation development
and human resources. A graduate of the
University of Wales, with professional
qualifications in counselling, people
development, company direction and
executive coaching, Marianne is a
Chartered Fellow of the Chartered Institute
of Personnel and Development, and a
Chartered Director. She has experience in
a variety of senior roles in local authority
and not for profit settings, the most recent
being Group HR Director with a large
housing association.

Qualifications
DBE DL

Qualifications
BSc, CIPFA, ACA, PIIA

Qualifications
Chartered Fellow of the Chartered Institute
of Personnel and Development, a Fellow
of the Institute of Directors.

Qualifications
DBE DL
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Vijith Randeniya
Deputy Chairman,
Senior Independent
Director

Roger Peace
Non-Executive
Directorr

Judith Smith
Non-Executive
Director

Alan Edwards
Non-Executive
Director

Appointed
February 2015

Appointed
July 2012 – 31 January 2017

Appointed
June 2014

Appointed
February 2015

Expertise and Experience
Vij is the former Chief Fire Officer for
the West Midlands Fire Service (WMFS)
which after London is the biggest fire
service in England and Wales. He was
also the president of the Chief Fire Officers
Association for 2013 and also served as
the Chairman of Birmingham Metropolitan
College from 2009 to 2013. Vij led the
WMFS as the Deputy Chief for six years
and more recently as the Chief for five
years through difficult and ever reducing
budget settlements whilst improving 11
out of 12 performance indicators. He is
the Chairman for Birmingham St Mary’s
Hospice, a Trustee for the Royal Society
for Public Health, the Chairman of one of
the Environment Agency’s regional flood
committees and sits on one the MOD
Boards.

Expertise and Experience
Roger qualified as a Chartered Accountant
with KPMG. From 1992 to 2005 he held
various positions with Severn Trent Plc,
including Chief Financial Officer for their
environmental services division based in
the US, where he helped build a $300m
division through a series of acquisitions.
From 1999 to 2002 he was Managing
Director of the EMEA operations and
from 2002 Sustainable Development
Director looking at growth opportunities.
Roger joined Learndirect in 2005 as Chief
Financial Officer and was appointed Chief
Executive in 2013, during which time he
has been responsible for the management
buy-out with Lloyds Development Capital
and the subsequent merger with JHP Group
Ltd. More recently he led the successful
bid for the driving theory test for the Driving
Standards Agency and the acquisition of
Tabs Training Ltd.

Expertise and Experience
Judith Smith is Professor of Health Policy
and Management and Director of the Health
Services Management Centre (HSMC)
at the University of Birmingham. She
has worked in health services research
and policy analysis for over 20 years in
the UK and New Zealand, prior to which
she was a senior manager in the NHS,
and a graduate of the NHS Management
Training Scheme. Judith took up post at
HSMC in June 2015 following six years
as Director of Policy at the Nuffield Trust,
an independent charitable health research
foundation in London. Earlier in her career,
she was Fellow, Senior Lecturer and
Director at HSMC from 1995-2007. Other
roles have included: expert advisor on
NHS organisation and commissioning, and
policy assessor to the Mid Staffordshire
NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry; board
member of the Health Services Research
UK; and chair of the Royal Pharmaceutical
Society Commission on Future Models of
Care.

Expertise and Experience
Alan is Chair of CIPFA Development at the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy. He is an experienced public
sector board member having previously
been Chair of the Royal Wolverhampton
NHS Trust and an Independent Member
of the Board of the UK National Policing
Improvement Agency. Most of his career
has been spent as a management
consultant having being a consulting
Partner at PwC, KPMG and IBM. Alan
is Deputy Chair of the FEE Public Sector
Committee and a member of the IFAC PAO
Development Committee.

Qualifications
Ba (Hons) History, MA Management,
Diploma in Business Excellence, Honorary
Doctorate in Science from Aston University,
Member of the Institute of Fire Engineers,
Fellow of the Royal Society for the Arts and
a Fellow for the Royal Society for Public
Health.

Qualifications
BA (Hons) Economics, MBA, FCA

Qualifications
Chartered Fellow of the Chartered Institute
MBChB, MSc (Primary Care), PG Diploma
in Medical Education, Fellow of the Royal
College of GPs.

Qualifications
BA (Hons) French Language and Literature,
Diploma in Health Services Management,
MBA, PhD Health Services Management.

43
43
43

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Paul Heaven
Non-Executive
Director

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive
Officer

Michelle McLoughlin
Chief Nursing Officer

Tim Atack
Chief Operating
Officer

Appointed
3 October 2016 – 31 January 2017

Appointed
June 2009 (maternity leave 1-18 April 2016)

Appointed
August 2007

Appointed
September 2012

Expertise and Experience
Paul Heaven has more than 20 years
general management experience and
is by profession a qualified chartered
accountant. Paul served his articles at
Clement Keys & Co and his corporate
finance apprenticeship at Ernst & Young
before moving into the technology sector
in various financial and management
roles. Over the years Paul has become
an expert in corporate finance, venture
capital, private equity and asset lending
and has extensive experience of
acquisitions, disposals, flotation and fund
raising. Paul formed Blue Sky Corporate
Finance in 1998 and is a regular speaker
at Corporate Finance events, a member
of the West Midlands Regional Finance
Forum, Chairman of the GBSLEP Access
to Finance sub-group and Chairman
of the £21m GBSLEP Growing Places
Fund.

Expertise and Experience
Sarah-Jane joined the NHS via the Graduate
Management Scheme, holding various roles
in primary and secondary care and at the
Department of Health, before promotion
to Director of Planning and Productivity at
Walsall Hospitals NHS Trust.
Appointed Chief Operating Officer at
Birmingham Children’s Hospital in December
2007, and Chief Executive Officer in March
2009, the Trust has been under her leadership
for over seven years.
In 2015, Sarah-Jane also became the Chief
Executive of Birmingham Women’s Hospital,
with plans to create the first women and
children’s hospital in Europe, and led the
development of an innovative new mental
health partnership for 0-25 year olds in the
city - Forward Thinking Birmingham, the first
of its type in the NHS.
Most recently, Sarah-Jane has also been
appointed Chair of the NHS England Maternity
Transformation Programme Board, which
aims to make maternity care across England
safer and give women greater control and
more choice. Her passions are exceeding
the expectations of patients and families, and
making Birmingham Children’s Hospital and
Birmingham Women’s the very best places
to work.y and the acquisition of Tabs Training
Ltd.

Expertise and Experience
Michelle is an experienced Board
Director who operates as a system and
organisational leader. With extensive
healthcare knowledge, she combines
her clinical and leadership skills to put
women, children, young people and
families at the centre of Birmingham
Women and Children’s NHS Foundation
Trust. Clinically she is a trained adult
nurse, sick children’s nurse and District
Nurse. As an executive director, she has
a wide and varied portfolio ranging from
nursing to facilities. Her national profile
includes being the Chairman of the
National Association of Chief Children’s
Nurses (ACCN) and is currently
Chairman for a national project focusing
on safe and sustainable workforce for
children and young people’s inpatient
hospital care.

Expertise and Experience
Tim started his career in the field of IT,
working for both NHS and commercial
providers. With a growing interest in
using information and IT to transform
and improve healthcare, he moved
into the hospital sector, holding various
roles before becoming Director of ICT
at Sandwell and West Birmingham
Hospitals. In this role he took on
more development and operational
responsibilities, ultimately becoming
Chief Operating Officer. Tim took a
similar role in Coventry before being
appointed as the Director of Performance
and ICT at Birmingham Children’s
Hospital in 2010, and was appointed as
Chief Operating Officer in September
2012. Tim is passionate about working
smarter to improve the service to every
child we care for. Since April 2015
Tim has also been a Trustee of BCH
Charities.

Qualifications
ACA

Qualifications
MSc, RGN, RSCN, DN, Diploma in
Community Nursing

Qualifications
BSc (Hons) Maths and Computing

Qualifications
BA (Hons) History, MA Russian and Eastern
European Studies, MSc Health Care
Management
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Theresa Nelson
Chief Officer for
Workforce
Development

David Melbourne
Chief Finance
Officer/ Deputy Chief
Executive/ Interim
Chief Executive
Officer

Fiona Reynolds
Chief Medical Officer

Matthew Boazman
Chief Officer for
Strategy and
Innovation

Appointed
November 2009 (Interim Chief Executive
Officer from 1-17 April 2016)

Appointed
September 2011

Appointed
July 2015

Appointed
March 2015

Expertise and Experience
David joined the NHS from KPMG in the
late 1990s and has held a variety of Board
positions in Derbyshire, Lincolnshire and
Birmingham. David joined BCH in late
2009 and his current roles include Board
responsibility for finance, information and
technology, performance, fundraising,
estates and capital planning. He is a
board member of Birmingham Children’s
Hospital Pharmacy Limited that operates
the outpatient pharmacy. He is also a board
member and chair of finance at the Health
Exchange - a community interest company
that provides health advice to communities
across the West Midlands. He was selected
as NHS Director of Finance of the year in
December 2011.

Expertise and Experience
Theresa joined the NHS in 2003 following a
long career with Marks and Spencer. Since
joining University Hospitals Birmingham
as a HR manager, her career developed
through many senior roles including Director
of HR at Good Hope Hospital and Head
of Organisational Development at Heart
of England Foundation Trust. She held a
national role as Lead for Clinical Leadership
at the Department of Health and continues
to champion clinical leadership through
her trust and regional roles. Theresa is
passionate about workforce development
and getting the best out of people through
staff engagement, culture development and
coaching.

Expertise and Experience
Fiona joined Birmingham Children’s
Hospital in 2002 as a Consultant Paediatric
Intensivist and held a variety of clinical
leadership roles. Between 2007 and
2010 she was the clinical lead in PICU,
overseeing a major expansion of the
department. She was appointed as Deputy
Chief Medical Officer in 2010. In 2012,
Fiona led implementation of BCH becoming
a Major Trauma Centre. She has led
projects in long term ventilation, paediatric
palliative care, electronic prescribing and
e-learning. Fiona’s major interests include
patient safety and service and workforce
redesign.

Expertise and Experience
Matthew joined the NHS in 2002 via the
Graduate Management Training Scheme
and has worked across a number of roles
within adult and paediatric secondary and
primary care, the Strategic Health Authority
and spent time working abroad for the
AIDS Committee of Toronto. Before joining
BCH Matthew was Director of Operations
for the Whittington Hospital NHS Trust
and then Whittington Health following
the merger of the Whittington Hospital
and Islington and Haringey community
services. Matthew joined BCH in 2013
as the Director of Strategy and Planning
before being appointed as Chief Strategy
Officer in 2015. Matthew was also
Managing Director of the Forward Thinking
Birmingham mental health partnership
when it was set up in late 2014.

Qualifications
BA (Hons) Economics and History, ACA,
CPFA, MBA

Qualifications
BSc, MBChB, FRCA

Qualifications
FCIPD; NLP Practitioner and Executive
Coach

Qualifications
MSc (Hons) Biological Chemistry, MChem
Biological Chemistry, MSc Health Care
Management
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Helen Young
Director of Maternity
Transformation

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee is a committee of the Council of Governors, chaired by the Trust’s
Chairman. The Committee is responsible for the identification and nomination of non-executive
directors for appointment (including the Chairman), giving consideration to succession planning
and the balance of skills, expertise and experience required on the Board of Directors. The
Nominations Committee is also responsible for deciding upon the termination or non-renewal of
non-executive terms of office.

Appointed
1 February 2017

The Committee also oversees the terms and conditions of office and remuneration of all NonExecutive Directors for the approval of the Council of Governors.

Expertise and Experience
After training as a nurse at Westminster
Hospital in London, Helen held Sisters
posts in surgery and critical care and
medicine before setting up a nurse led
development unit with Leeds University.
She is passionate about developing
nursing practice, education and leadership
and completed her Masters in Education.
She has held posts as Head of Practice
Development and Education in Guys and
St Thomas and Chelsea and Westminster
as well as Chief Nurse and Deputy Chief
Nurse positions in a number of Trusts.
Helen was also in a national role as Clinical
Director and Chief Nurse for NHS Direct
for six years. Helen is a Visiting Professor
at Birmingham City University, a Florence
Nightingale Leadership Scholar and
Harvard University Graduate. She is also a
Trustee of Dorothy House Hospice, Chief
Nurse for national charity called ACROSS,
Regional Nurse for a national children’s
charity, HCPT and executive member
and President of her local Soroptimist
International Club, an organisation that
works to empower, educate and enable
women and girls in the UK and worldwide.

During 2016/17 the Nominations Committee made the following decisions, which were
recommended to and accepted by the Council of Governors:

Qualifications
RN, MEd, PGCE, BSc (Hons) Nursing,
Dip Mangt, FIoD. Florence Nightingale
Leadership Scholar. Executive Mentor/
leadership coach

l

		
l

		

To extend two Non-Executive Director terms of office (Roger Peace and Judith Smith)
by one year.
To allow the Chairman to take a dual role at Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust,
prior to integration.

l

To approve the appointment process for a new Trust Chairman.

l

To appoint three Non-Executive Directors (Anita Bhalla, Marianne Skelcher, Colin
Horwath) from Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust to become Non-Executive
members of the Board of Directors, upon integration.

		
		
l

To recommend a candidate for appointment as the new Trust Chairman.

l

To establish a Working Group to undertake a process of non-executive director recruitment.

The appointment of Colin Horwath, Marianne Skelcher and Anita Bhalla from 1 February 2017
was undertaken without an open market candidate search. All of these individuals had been
members of the Board of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust and the Nominations
Committee recommended their appointment without open advertisement based on the following:
l

A Board skill-mix review undertaken by a Governors working group.

l

The need to transfer Board level knowledge from the BWH Board to the Board of the
integrated Trust.

		
l

An assessment of performance of the individuals by the joint Chairman.

l

The need for a strong and stable Board at a time of great change for the organisation and
the pending departure of the Trust’s Chairman.

		

The appointments were made for short terms to reflect the absence of an open market search,
and the need for a further skill-mix review and longer-term non-executive appointment strategy
following the integration period and the appointment of a substantive Chairman.
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Performance evaluation of the Board, its
committees and directors

Responsibility for preparation of the Annual
Report and Accounts

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of its system of internal control.
During the year the Board obtained significant assurance from due diligence work undertaken
as part of the process of integration with Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust. This
included:

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Reports and Accounts. The Directors
consider that the Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced
and understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, regulators and other
stakeholders to assess the Trust’s performance, business model and strategy.

l

		
l

		
l

		

A report from Deloitte on the findings of an independent review of quality governance
arrangements at Birmingham Women’s Hospital.

The Audit Committee

A report from Ernst and Young on the findings of an independent review of the Trust’s
working capital projections.

The Audit Committee’s key role is to provide oversight and assurance to the Board, specifically
with regard to the Trust’s financial reporting, audit arrangements, risk management and internal
control processes and governance framework. The Committee:

A report from Ernst and Young on the findings of an independent review of the Trust’s
financial reporting procedures.

In addition, internal evaluation was also undertaken as follows:
l

Annual reviews of each Board Committee.

l

Annual appraisal and Performance Development Review for each Executive Director by
the Chief Executive (reviewed six-monthly).

		

l

Provides assurance of independence for external and internal audit.

l

Ensures that appropriate standards are set and that compliance with them is monitored.

l

Monitors corporate governance.

The Committee reviews the adequacy of:

Annual appraisal and Performance Development Review of Chief Executive by the
		Chairman.

l

The structures, processes and responsibilities for identifying and managing key risks.

l

Risk and control related disclosure statements.

l

The underlying assurance processes that indicate the degree of the achievement of our
corporate objectives.

l

l

Annual review of performance appraisal of Executive Directors and Chief Executive by
Appointments and Remuneration Committee.

		

l Annual performance and development reviews of each Non-Executive Director by the
		Chairman.
l

		
l

		
l

l

		

Annual performance and development review of the Chairman led by the Senior
Independent Director.

l

The policies for ensuring that there is compliance with relevant regulatory, legal and code
of conduct requirements.
The operational effectiveness of relevant policies and procedures.

l The policies and procedures relating to fraud and corruption as set out in Secretary of
		 State Directions and as required by the NHS Counter Fraud and Security Management
		Service.

Annual review of performance of Non-Executive Directors and Chairman by the
Nominations Committee.
Reviews by the Internal Auditor.

l
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The Audit Committee ensures that there is an effective internal audit function established
by management that meets Government Internal Audit Standards and provides appropriate
independent assurance to the Audit Committee, Chief Executive and Board of Directors. The
Internal Audit function is provided by KPMG.
The Audit Committee reviews the work and findings of the External Auditor and considers the
implications of the External Auditor’s work and our response to it.
We last tendered in respect of our external auditors in 2013. The Council of Governors awarded
a 3 year contract with the option to extend for a further 2 years, which was taken in 2015. The
value of external audit services is £86k including VAT. Our external auditor also provides non
audit services; the value of the non-audit services provided is £102k including VAT, which
includes £22k for regulatory reporting and £80k other. We will tender for external audit services
again in 2017.
Where the External Auditor provides non-audit services, these are overseen by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee is assured that the External Auditor’s internal controls and
appropriate challenge by the Committee ensure that auditor objectivity and independence is
safeguarded.
The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the financial statements of the Trust and any
formal announcements relating to the Trust’s financial performance.
In 2016/17 the Audit Committee considered the following significant issues in relation to financial
statements, operations and compliance:
l

		
l

		
l

Risk management and governance arrangements of the mobilisation of the new Forward
Thinking Birmingham service, launched on 1 April 2016.
Risk management and governance arrangements in relation the acquisition of
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust.
A financial risk relating to a payroll pension error.
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Membership report

Membership engagement
During 2016/17 we have continued our approach to membership communications through fully
electronic means and have asked all our members to update their email addresses with us so
that we can ensure we are regularly reaching as many of our members as possible. Members
were consulted regarding the name for the new integrated Trust and were updated as to the
progress of the integration.

Eligibility
Membership of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust is open to:
l

		
l

		
l

		
l

Each year we hold an Annual General Meeting (AGM) to which the public, staff, patients and
families and our members are invited to hear about how the Trust has performed over the
year. In 2016/17, as well as presenting our Annual Report and Accounts we published a video,
widening accessibility to this information.

Any person who is or has been a patient/service user of Birmingham Children’s Hospital
or Birmingham Women’s Hospital in the last five years
Any person who is or has been a parent/carer of a patient/service user of Birmingham
Children’s Hospital or Birmingham Women’s Hospital in the last five years

Our Young Person’s Advisory Group (YPAG) has evolved from our membership and has
maintained links with the Council of Governors. In 2017/18 we plan to embed a regular update
at the Council of Governors from YPAG. The achievements of YPAG in 2016/17 continue to
ensure a genuine collaboration between young people and the Trust and a significant influence
on our strategy and ways of working.

All permanent staff members and those staff members who are on a temporary contract
of 12 months or greater
Any member of the public aged 10 or over who lives in one of the following constituencies:

Our staff members are engaged continuously throughout the year on the Trust’s strategy, and
their input sets the agenda of InTent, our major engagement event of the year, which drives the
Trust’s strategy development. In 2016/17 the focus of the event was learning from the past to
improve services for the future.

Birmingham and Solihull
The Black Country
Rest of the West Midlands

Membership numbers
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust set and achieved a target of 10,000
members by 2010/11 and this has been maintained since that time.
Following integration the staff and patient members of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation
Trust automatically became members of the integrated Trust. Each patient member was
informed of the option to opt-out. The public members of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation
Trust were invited to become members of the integrated Trust and many have done so.
The numbers of members in each constituency are as follows:
Membership 2016/17
Constituency

Members at 31 March 2017

Total Public Members

3,970

Total Patient/Carer Members

5,000

Total Staff Members

5,697

GRAND TOTAL

14,667
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Membership strategy

NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework

We are able to access a wealth of information about the make-up of our membership. The data
allows us to determine whether our membership is representative of the population we serve.
This assists us to identify where sections of the population are under-represented and this helps
to inform our membership strategy.

NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework provides the framework for overseeing
providers and identifying potential support needs. The framework looks at five themes:
l

Quality of care

In 2017/18 we will work to ensure the proportions of our public, patient and carer members are
representative of the communities we serve and the services we offer, following the integration
between Birmingham Children’s and Birmingham Women’s.

l

Finance and use of resources

l

Operational performance

In 2017/18 we will also focus on continuing to increase communication and engagement with
our current members, and we will aim to achieve and maintain a membership that is truly
representative. We will do this by:

l

Strategic change

l

Leadership and improvement capability (well-led)

l

Increasing membership communication through our website and social media platforms.

l

Distributing regular information via email.

l

Inviting members to attend events, such as Council of Governors meetings and the
Annual General meeting.

		
l

		

Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4, where ‘4’
reflects providers receiving the most support, and ‘1’ reflects providers with maximum autonomy.
A foundation trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where it has been found to be in breach or
suspected breach of its licence.
The Single Oversight Framework applied from Quarter 3 of 2016/17. Prior to this, Monitor’s Risk
Assessment Framework (RAF) was in place. Information for the prior year and first two quarters
relating to the RAF has not been presented as the basis of accountability was different. This is
in line with NHS Improvement’s guidance for annual reports.

Supporting Governors to communicate with members and the public using regular email
updates and the Governor’s page on our website.

l

Actively publicising governor elections.

Area

l

Encouraging members to communicate with Governors.

Financial sustainability

Members can communicate with Governors as follows:
By email:
1. bwc.foundationtrustoffice@nhs.net
2. Find Governors’ Trust email addresses on our website

Q3 2016/17 Score

Q4 2016/17 Score

Capital service capacity

1

1

Liquidity

1

1

Financial efficiency

I&E margin

1

1

Financial controls

Distance from financial plan

1

1

Agency plan

1

1

1

1

Overall scoring

By post:
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust
Foundation Trust Office
Birmingham Children’s Hospital
Steelhouse Lane
Birmingham
B4 6NH

Metric

This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as at 31 March 2017. Current segmentation
information for NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the NHS Improvement website.

Details of all material interests held by Governors are contained in a Register of Interests which
is open to the public and may be obtained via the Publication Scheme on the Trust’s website.
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Sustainability report

Water is essential in maintaining high levels of hygiene. Water consumption has slightly
increased this year compared with the previous year (by 1%) to 83,997* m3 (equating to 76
tonnes of carbon). As the Trust takes on more services and increases in activity, further water is
required. Water systems throughout the Trust are flushed regularly in order to maintain a safe
water supply, increasing consumption. Through constant monitoring, leak detection and repair,
the Trust endeavours to keep water wastage to a minimum.

Introduction

Figure 2: Trust water consumption trends

Environmental sustainability is making sure that we meet the needs of today, without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet needs of their own.
As a major consumer of resources, Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust
is continually working to reduce our environmental impact whilst delivering high quality care. The
Trust is working to use energy and water wisely, managing waste disposal to reduce adverse
environmental impacts. We are working to embed Sustainability into the core of our everyday
work with the aim of becoming more efficient in the way we use resources.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital data:
Energy and water use in our buildings
2013/14

The total energy consumption for the Trust across all sites for 2016/17 is 46,849.68* MWH, a
total reduction of 13% from the previous year. At the main Steelhouse Lane site, a Combined
Heat and Power (CHP) unit has been running since 2010 to reduce our impact on the
environment and energy costs. This CHP unit generated 8,875.9* MWH of heat (for hot water
and heating) during 2016/17. In addition, the Steelhouse Lane site consumed 10,700* MWH of
electricity, most of which was generated by the CHP unit.

2014/15

Figure 1: Total energy consumption 2013/14 – 2016/17
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Transport and travel
The Trust has been collating transport data via the Ambulance Taxi Operational Management
(ATOM) tool. In 2016/17, the Trust travelled 244,129 miles transporting patients, staff and goods
(generating 103 tonnes of carbon). Patient transport requests have increased so the Trust is
working to improve the efficiency of our transportation services to reduce costs and associated
environmental impacts, e.g. careful and combined journey planning, use of teleconferencing.
Figure 4: Trust transport mileage from 2014/15 to 2016/17
Total transport mileage
300,000

Waste
The Trust is working reduce the amount of unnecessary waste we produce and seeking the
most sustainable methods for disposing of the waste we generate. Compared with the previous
year (2015/16), we have reduced the total combined volume of general (domestic) and clinical
waste we generate by 10% through working with our waste contractors and engaging with staff.

250,000

Transporting goods

200,000

Transporting staff

150,000

Transporting patients

100,000
50,000

Since the end of 2013, the Trust has been diverting a majority of its general (domestic) waste
from landfill. This waste is instead incinerated (burnt at very high temperatures) with energy
recovery. Energy recovery is an excellent method of avoiding landfill and allows us to capture
the energy from the incineration process. Electricity generated during this process supplies
around 30,000 homes and many businesses in and around Birmingham. Confidential paper
waste is destroyed and then recycled and clinical waste is incinerated with energy recovery.

0

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Figure 3: General and clinical waste tonnage for 2016/17
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We are also working to promote sustainable and active travel to encourage our staff and
patients to travel to hospital via public transport, by walking or cycling where possible. We have
a cycle to work scheme for staff, cycle parking facilities, promote car sharing, and work with
external transport agencies.

Sustainability and future plans
The Trust is working to operate in a resource efficient way to reduce carbon emissions
and costs. We have developed a ‘Sustainability and Environment Policy’ and an ‘Energy
Management Policy’ to embed Sustainability across the Trust and provide guidance. Our plans
include:
l

Maintaining PC shutdown software to power down computers when not in use.

l

On-going Sustainability Working Group meetings.

l

Energy efficient lighting roll-out.

l

Efficiency controls on essential air conditioning units.

l

Improved heating and ventilation controls.

l

Ensuring that future buildings are as energy efficient as possible.

l

Building a staff-based ‘Green Team’ to drive Sustainability into all departments.

l

Wider staff and patient engagement and support on Sustainability initiatives.

*Some of the data has been estimated as at the time of compiling this report the data is not yet
available from suppliers.
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities
as the accounting officer of Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust

Annual Governance Statement

The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the accounting officer of the NHS
Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable,
and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting
Officer Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets
for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I
am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my
responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Scope of responsibility

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has
given Accounts Directions which require Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation
Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis
required by those Directions. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation
Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for
the financial year.

The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based
on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the
policies, aims and objectives of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust,
to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised,
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has
been in place in Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended
31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:
l

		
		
l

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis.
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis.

Capacity to handle risk

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
		 Annual Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual) have
		 been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
		statements.
l

l

		
l

Leadership
The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for risk management and internal control.
This is managed through the Board’s corporate governance arrangements, including layers
of risk reporting through the Board’s committee structure which ensures a link between risk
management at Board and at local department level.

Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated
authorities and guidance.
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

On 1 February 2017 the Trust acquired Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust (BWH). As
part of the process of acquisition the Board undertook detailed due diligence, including a review
of quality governance and risk management. This identified areas requiring development to
ensure consistent standards of risk management across the Trust.

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and
to enable her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection
of fraud and other irregularities.

Risk Management Training
A range of risk management training is provided to staff and there are policies in place to
describe roles and responsibilities in relation to the identification and management of risk. This
begins with mandatory risk training for new staff on induction. On-going training for staff includes
an online resource for regular mandatory refresher training. The importance of feedback to
staff following incidents is stressed at all levels of training. This mandatory training also includes
training on compliance with the Duty of Candour.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
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The Trust is subject to a range of reviews by external bodies, including regulators and peer
reviewers. Processes are in place to identify and monitor the risks to compliance with the
standards assessed by these external bodies, and the implementation of actions to address
these risks and any risks identified by the external reviews. The Regulatory Compliance
Committee regularly reviews this information and reports its level of assurance to the Quality
Committee.

To ensure the quality of local management of incidents, Level 2 risk training is available to all
local managers. This interactive session covers: day-to-day management of risks at a local
level; investigation processes; techniques for managing incidents and complaints; guidance on
how to carry out robust risk assessments and how to use the risk register appropriately.
Level 3 Risk Leaders training has been designed for members of staff that need a high level
of expertise in risk management. The session is focused on Root Cause Analysis processes,
includes some advanced risk management techniques and introduces the role and development
of assurance frameworks.

The Trust’s risk management processes are used to identify any potential risks to compliance
with Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration requirements. Any areas of concern are
reviewed in depth to identify actions for any improvement required.

Training implications are considered as part of all Root Cause Analysis investigations into
serious incidents. As a direct result of learning from these investigations, changes have been
made to mandatory training related to medicines management, observation and monitoring, and
resuscitation and the way we use the WHO Safer Surgical Checklist.

In May 2016 the Trust’s services were inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC)
as part of a comprehensive inspection of the Trust’s compliance with quality standards.
Immediate feedback highlighted some areas requiring improvement; the Quality Committee
had oversight of the delivery of a comprehensive action plan to address these issues, including
detailed reviews of the relevant clinical services as part of the Committee’s business for the
remainder of the year. The CQC report was received in February 2017 providing an overall
rating of Outstanding. A number of requirement notices were issued, however, in areas already
highlighted as requiring improvement in the early feedback. The Quality Committee has full
assurance that the requirement notices have been, or continue to be, appropriately addressed.

The risk and control framework
Identification and control of risk
The Board, through engagement with staff, sets and regularly reviews its strategic objectives.
The most significant risks to achievement of those objectives are set out in the Board Assurance
Framework (BAF). The BAF describes the ways in which each risk is controlled, the actions
required to further control and manage each risk, the negative and positive assurances as to the
effective ness of those controls, the current risk score and a target risk score.

In April 2016, prior to the integration, BWH also received a review of its services by CQC, with
an overall rating of Requires Improvement. Early feedback and the publication of the report in
September 2016 enabled BWH to make significant progress on improvements in the key areas
identified. Following integration the Quality Committee continued to monitor improvements in
these areas, with a particular focus on projects in antenatal scanning and the abortion care
service.

The Board agrees its appetite or tolerance for each individual risk by setting the target risk
score.
The BAF is a live document, informed by the work of the Board and its committees through Key
Issues and Assurance Reports, which assign an assurance rating to each issue considered by
the Board’s committees and the sub-committees. In turn the agendas of the committees are
informed by the need for assurance or oversight of action implementation highlighted by the
BAF.

During 2017/18 the Board will seek assurance from the Internal Auditor regarding the Trust’s
processes for ensuring continuing compliance with the CQC registration requirements.
The Internal Auditor undertakes an annual review of IT controls, including data security, to help
the Trust identify risks and areas where improvements are required. In 2016/17 the review of
the controls in place at Birmingham Children’s Hospital provided significant assurance with
minor improvement opportunities. At Birmingham Women’s Hospital a similar review provided
only partial assurance with improvements required. The Trust has taken action to ensure these
controls are improved.

The sub-committee review of risk is informed through regular reports from the Trust’s clinical
and corporate departments and through oversight and analysis of the Trust’s Risk Register.
The Risk Assessment Policy sets out the responsibilities and accountability for the assessment
of risk and provides guidance on how to undertake a risk assessment, scoring and prioritisation
of risk and the role of the Risk Register. It defines the escalation routes from local risk
assessments to consideration at a Clinical Group and corporate level.
The Clinical Risk and Quality Assurance Committee (specific to Birmingham Children’s Hospital
services), the Clinical Assurance and Safety Committee (specific to Birmingham Women’s
Hospital services) and the Non-Clinical Risk Coordinating Committee are responsible for
reviewing information provided in reports extracted from the risk register, significant risks
escalated by the Clinical Groups and corporate departments, and for ensuring appropriate
controls and mitigations are in place. These Committees report to the Board via the Quality
Committee.
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Major risks
The major risks faced by the organisation at the end of 2016/17 are detailed below. They are
regularly reviewed as part of the Board Assurance Framework by the Board and its Committees.
RISK

IN YEAR OR FUTURE

MANAGEMENT & MITIGATION

ASSESSMENT OF OUTCOMES

Failure to successfully
implement the posttransaction
integration plan

In year

l Programme Integration Board reviewing implementation of plan on a monthly basis.

Plan fully implemented.

Failure to demonstrate
improved compliance
with quality issues
identified by regulators and
peer reviewers

In year

Failure to deliver efficiency
targets

In year

l Programme support in place.
l Project governance arrangements in place for all key quality improvement areas.

Completion of project plans. Improved ratings by CQC.

l Monitoring by sub-committees
l Oversight and deep-dive reviews by Quality Committee
l Internal Audit assurance reviews planned
l Regular meetings with CQC
l Annual approach debated and agreed by full leadership team.

Delivery of efficiency targets.

l Structured, risk-assessed CIP programme
l PMO structure to monitor CIP implementation.
l Communication campaign.
l Enhanced budgetary controls.
l Regular monitoring by Finance and Resources Committee

Uncertainty and volatility in
funding across the NHS

In year and future

l Robust, prudent, regularly reviewed financial planning.

Clarity of funding.

Failure to recruit and retain
the right staff with the right
capabilities

In year and future

l Attraction and retention strategies

Number of vacancies in key positions.

Failure to ensure adequate
leadership capability and
capacity

In year and future

Failure to deliver a viable
Forward Thinking Birmingham
model.

In future

l Workforce strategies for professional groups
l Influencing national and regional training commissioning.

Delivery of key organisational priorities.

l Revised leadership structure.
l Leadership development programme established.
l Established staff engagement programme.
l Talent strategy
l Negotiations with Commissioners

Meeting national and local performance measures.

l Partnership working across Birmingham and Solihull STP

Corporate Governance Statement
The Board received additional independent assurance in 2016/17 on the strength of its quality
governance and financial reporting arrangements from the Independent Reporting Accountants
as part of the process of integration with Birmingham Women’s Hospital.

The Board is assured that the Trust is fully compliant with NHS Foundation Trust Licence
Condition 4 (foundation trust governance).
The Board receives independent assurance on an annual basis from the External and Internal
Auditors that its corporate governance systems are appropriate, which provides validity to this
statement.

The principle risk to compliance with Condition 4 is the ability to recruit and retain the right staff
with the right skills. This risk is described in the Board Assurance Framework as above.
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Embedded risk management

Public stakeholders

The Trust’s Risk Management policies clearly set out responsibilities for risk management within
the organisation. As Chief Executive Officer I have overall responsibility and accountability for
risk management. This is shared with the Executive Directors who are responsible for ensuring
that the risk management framework is systematically implemented and developed across the
organisation.

The Trust provides information and assurance on risk management to the public through the
Council of Governors, which includes Governors elected by the public, patients, carers and
staff, and Governors appointed to represent our key partners.
This information and assurance is provided in a range of ways, including:

In addition they, through the Board of Directors’ Committee structure, are responsible for
providing assurance to the Board that risk management continues to be an essential element
of all management systems and corporate planning, as well as the setting of strategy and
objectives.

l

		
l

		

Incident reporting is openly encouraged through risk management training of all staff and
through communications such as staff publications and a safety blog, with a particular focus
on demonstrable change as a result of incident or complaint investigation. Through staff
engagement the Trust has identified a need to improve feedback to staff about reported
incidents to further encourage reporting. In response a number of changes have been made to
the incident reporting process and an Ambassador for Cultural Change has been appointed with
the aim of enhancing the culture of openness by supporting staff to raise concerns.

l

		

Non-executive members of the Board are involved in the majority of Root Cause Analyses of
Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation, which provides Board-level oversight to the process
and increases the level of understanding at the Board of the key operational risks faced by the
organisation.

Provision of all papers of the public meetings of the Board of Directors and an opportunity
to discuss the contents of these papers at each meeting of the Council of Governors.
Reports from the Board Committee on the work of the committees and the key issues
they consider.
Reporting led by the non-executive members of the Board to provide assurance on how
the Board is controlling risk.

l

Joint workshops with the Board.

l

Engagement in the development of the Trust’s strategic priorities, vision and values.

Board statements
The Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission
(CQC).

In order to assess risks to compliance with the Trust’s obligations on equality and diversity the
Trust requires every formal policy to include an equality impact assessment. The process is
overseen by the Workforce sub-committee and the Equality Diversity and Inclusion Steering
Group. On an annual basis the Trust publishes a report describing compliance with national,
regional and local standards including the Workforce Race Equality Standard and the Equality
Delivery System for the NHS.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s
contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that
member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales
detailed in the Regulations.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.
The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans
are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements,
as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under
the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.
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Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness
of the use of resources

Information governance
Risks to information are managed through the use of the NHS Information Governance Toolkit
(IGT). The Trust’s Information Governance Policy and the Incident Reporting Policy provide
documented mechanisms for the reporting and investigation of actual or suspected information
security breaches and potential vulnerabilities. The IGT submissions and the annual plan to
improve compliance with the relevant standards is approved and regularly reviewed by the
Regulatory Compliance Committee, which reports to the Board via the Quality Committee.

During 2016/17 activity levels have increased, demanding greater efficiency and productivity in
the use of resources and affecting financial and operational performance.
The Trust has a range of processes embedded throughout the organisation to monitor the
economic, efficient and effective use of resources and these are reported each month to the
Board through a detailed Resources Report and an Integrated Performance Report. The latter
provides a summary of performance against key indicators relating to operations, finance,
workforce and quality. This includes efficiency and productivity measures within a financial
balanced scorecard.

The IGT score for 2016/17 was 65% assessed as Satisfactory with Improvement Plan
(Green). The improvement plan relates to our performance with annual mandatory information
governance training for all staff which fell below the target of 95%.
Two information governance incidents classed as Level 2 in the Information Governance
Reporting Tool were reported in 2016/17. Both incidents involved the loss of a handover sheet
containing patient-identifiable information in a public street outside the hospital. In response to
the incidents a standard operating procedure is in development for users of the Trust’s Unified
Electronic Handover System. Both incidents were reported to the Information Commissioner.

The Finance and Resources Committee undertakes on behalf of the Board regular in-depth
reviews of the Trust’s financial position, business cases for significant revenue and capital
investments, and the investment of cash balances.
The Audit Committee supports the delivery of effective, efficient and economic services
through detailed review of the internal controls in areas such as procurement, reference costs,
accounting policies and practices, financial reporting and fraud.

Annual Quality Report

The Audit Committee is supported by the work of the Internal Auditor, which undertakes reviews
of core risk areas such as financial controls, payroll, data quality and risk management.

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial
year. NHS Improvement (in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor) has issued guidance
to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual Quality Reports which
incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting
Manual.

A range of management processes are embedded within the operational management of the
organisation which provides a framework for ensuring that value for money is secured from the
resources available. These include:
l

Local budget management arrangements.

l

Regular performance review at Clinical Group level to assess progress against financial
plans and objectives.

		
l

		

Production of the Quality Report is led by the Chief Medical Officer. The report describes the
performance over the year against a range of quality indicators, which represent the areas
where improvement to quality is required as a priority. These areas are identified through a
number of means, including patient and staff feedback, data analysis and regulatory reviews.
These are linked to the Trust’s Quality Strategy, which was developed with the input of views
from a range of staff.

The use of a patient level costing system that identifies the resources used in the
provision of care at a patient, specialty and directorate level.

The inclusion in the Quality Report of statements on the quality of our services from key
stakeholders, including the Council of Governors, Commissioners and Healthwatch helps
ensure the Quality Report presents a balanced view.

The use of a programme management approach to the delivery of efficiency saving
		targets.
l

l

		

The use of a range of benchmark information to assess the economy and efficiency of
services including with other specialist children’s hospitals.

The quality of the Trust’s operational performance data is monitored by a Data Quality Group
which reports to the Regulatory Compliance Committee. The Trust has developed a Data
Quality Assurance Framework to ensure the performance data reported is of the highest quality.
A selection of the Trust’s priority quality indicators are reviewed by the Trust’s External Auditor
each year to provide assurance on the annual Quality Report.
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During 2016/17 significant work has been undertaken to continue to improve processes to
assure the quality and accuracy of elective waiting time data and the risks to the quality and
accuracy of this data. This has been supported by validation undertaken by the External Auditor
and implementation of their recommendations. In particular:

l

		
		
l

		
l

		
		

Role of the Board
The Board maintains oversight of the system of internal control through:

Role-specific mandatory training has been introduced to improve the understanding and
application of the rules. The training includes an assessment which each relevant staff
member is required to pass.

l

Regular review of reports on quality, finance, workforce and operations.

l

Key Issues and Assurance reports from the Board Committees, which include an
assurance rating for each issue.

		

A new process has been implemented to ensure patients are seen in order of priority and
waiting time.
A new electronic system called OPTIMS has been installed which enables the clinician
to record the outcome of a clinical appointment in real-time, which links immediately with
the Patient Administration System.

l

Regular reviews of the Board Assurance Framework.

l

Regular refresh of the Board Assurance Framework to ensure it reflects the changing
internal and external environment and the Trust’s shifting priorities and objectives.

		

During the year the Board also obtained additional significant assurance from due diligence
work undertaken as part of the process of integration with Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust. This included:

During 2016/17, following integration with Birmingham Women’s Hospital, four 52 week waiting
time breaches were identified relating to Women’s Hospital patients, 2 within the Gynaecology
service and 2 within Genetics. Validation work has been undertaken to identify any other
possible breaches. An investigation was commissioned and undertaken into the breaches in
Gynaecology, with a further investigation within Genetics where different systems are in use.
This work has identified a need for improvement to a number of processes to assure the quality
and accuracy of data. The existing processes will be reviewed and adapted to ensure that they
are consistent across both hospitals and to provide a greater level of assurance.

l

		
l

		

Review of effectiveness

l

		

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by
the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads
within the NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the Quality Report attached
to this Annual Report and other performance information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other
reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control by the Board, the Audit Committee, Finance and Resources
Committee and Quality Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.

A report from Deloitte on the findings of an independent review of quality governance
arrangements at Birmingham Women’s Hospital.
A report from Ernst and Young on the findings of an independent review of the Trust’s
working capital projections.
A report from Ernst and Young on the findings of an independent review of the Trust’s
financial reporting procedures.

During 2015/16 a potential issue of internal control emerged following a cluster of seven Never
Event, six of which occurred on Theatres. In response to this the Board commissioned an
external, independent review, which found in particular that improved governance arrangements
were required in relation to the WHO Safer Surgical Checklist processes. The Board received
partial assurance as to improvements in this area; however, during 2016/17 a further three
Never Events were reported. The Board had significant concerns and scrutinised in detail the
plans to respond to this risk, delegating to the Quality Committee the role of on-going oversight
of implementation of the plans.
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Role of the Quality Committee

Role of Internal Audit

The Quality Committee provides assurance to the Board that:

The Trust uses a comprehensive Internal Audit service as part of its assurance process around
internal controls. An annual risk-based internal audit work programme is approved by the Audit
Committee and progress is reported at each meeting. The work programme may be amended
during the year to respond to changing needs of the Trust or emerging risks.

l

		
l

		

There are adequate controls in place to ensure high quality and safe care is provided to
the patients using the services provided by the Trust.

Reports of each review within the work programme include an assurance rating; either:

Risks to the quality of clinical care, safety, leadership and workforce culture have been
identified and appropriately controlled.

The Quality Committee also maintains oversight of the delivery of the Trust’s quality, safety and
people strategies and highlights to the Board through the Key Issues and Assurance Report any
risks to implementation of those strategies.
As described above, a key area of focus for the Committee during 2016/17 was a second
cluster of Never Events which raised concerns that actions taken in response to an earlier
cluster were not sufficiently robust. At the end of the year the Quality Committee remained not
assured pending substantial progress on the action plan but was satisfied that the action plan
was appropriate and robust.

l

Significant Assurance.

l

Significant Assurance with minor improvement opportunities.

l

Partial Assurance with improvements required.

l

No assurance.

Each review also includes a management response which describes the action the Trust will
take to address the recommendations for improvement. The Audit Committee receives regular
reports on progress to implement these actions.

Role of the Audit Committee

The following areas were reviewed by the Internal Auditor in 2016/17 with a rating of Significant
Assurance with minor improvement opportunities:

The Audit Committee is responsible for:
l

Monitoring the integrity of the Trust’s financial statements.

l

Key financial controls.

l

Reviewing the Trust’s internal financial controls.

l

Board Assurance Framework and risk management.

l

Reviewing the Trust’s internal control and risk management systems.

l

Cost Improvement Plans.

l

Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness in the internal audit function.

l

IT general controls.

l

Providing assurance to the Board on these matters.

l

New theatres build and contract management.

The Internal Auditor gave a rating of Partial Assurance with improvement required to the
following reviews:

Role of the Finance and Resources Committee
The Finance and Resources Committee provides assurance to the Board as to the effective
management and utilisation of the Trust’s resources and to maintain oversight of financial
control and management arrangements. This includes both approval of business cases for
investment and review of the achievement of business case benefits post-investment.

l

Workforce planning and E-Rostering.

The report highlighted weaknesses in processes in the e-roster system and gaps in the
formal monitoring of roster outputs to ensure alignment with the Trust’s organisational needs
and Workforce Strategy. The Audit Committee was assured that the management response
demonstrated a good operational grip of the issue and requested a further review in the next
year’s audit plan.
l
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The review highlighted a delay in the project go-live date and a lack of clarity in the initial
project stages regarding scope. While the Audit Committee recognised the significant risks to
achievement of the project it was assured by and commended the management response and
renewed grip. A follow-up review confirmed that all earlier recommendations were either in
progress or implemented.
The Head of Internal Audit and the Audit Committee have advised me that Significant with minor
improvements assurance can be given on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Trust’s
framework of governance, risk management and control.

Conclusion
There are no significant internal control issues that I wish to report. I am satisfied that all internal
control issues raised have been, or are being, addressed by the Trust through appropriate
action plans and that the implementation of these action plans is monitored.

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
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Chief Executive’s statement on Quality
Birmingham Women’s Hospital

Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust (BWC) officially launched on 1
February 2017, bringing together Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham Women’s
as the first NHS foundation trust of its type in the UK. The integration of the two organisations
followed months of close working to develop a shared vision of the best women’s and children’s
healthcare, built around the whole family, improving care in our region and beyond.

Birmingham Women’s Hospital is also a centre of excellence, providing a range of specialist
health care services to over 50,000 women and their families every year from Birmingham, the
West Midlands and beyond. As well as supporting the birth of over 8,200 babies a year, the
hospital offers a full range of gynaecological, maternity and neonatal care and a comprehensive
genetics service. The hospital’s fertility centre is one of the best in the country, while the fetal
medicine centre receives regional and national referrals. The hospital is also an international
centre for education, research and development with a research budget of over £3 million per
year. In April 2016, we assisted the launch of a dedicated miscarriage research centre – the first
of its kind in the UK - in partnership with Tommy’s baby charity, a collaboration we are incredibly
proud of.

Whilst the ambition for a brand new state of the art hospital remains, the individual hospital
names and locations have stayed the same for now, as have our incredible teams, with over
5,700 amazing staff working together to provide the best possible care to thousands of patients
and families each year.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital

Our joint account

Birmingham Children’s Hospital is the UK’s leading specialist paediatric centre, delivering some
of the most advanced treatments, complex surgical procedures and cutting edge research and
development. A nationally designated specialist centre for epilepsy surgery, it also boasts a
paediatric major trauma centre for the West Midlands, a national liver and small bowel transplant
centre and is a centre of excellence for complex heart conditions, the treatment of burns, cancer
and liver and kidney disease.

As Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham Women’s Hospital became a single Trust
during 2016/17, this Quality Account will look back at the priorities set by each individual
organisation and identify the priorities for the coming year for the integrated Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s. It provides a platform to share what we have achieved, whilst also
being transparent about where progress is still needed. It also allows us to review our priorities
together; ensuring what is important to our women, children and families is at the heart of our
approach to quality.

The hospital also has one of the largest Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services in the
country, a dedicated inpatient Eating Disorder Unit and Acute Assessment Unit for regional
referrals of children and young people with the most serious of problems, and in 2016 launched
the new innovative 0-25s Forward Thinking Birmingham (FTB) mental health service. An
incredible start has been made over the last 12 months by the whole FTB partnership to ensure
children, young people and young adults from across the region have access to the right
support, care and treatment at the right time.

CQC inspections
Both Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and Birmingham Women’s
NHS Foundation Trust’s were inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) as part of a
comprehensive inspection of compliance with quality standards during 2016/17.

The FTB Access Centre provides 24/7 crisis support and acts as a single point of access.
They have received over 10,000 referrals in the last 12 months and have seen a steady
increase in self-referrals. More than 1,000 young people and a further 1,000 parents, carers
and professionals have dropped into our city centre hub Pause, for advice and support. As the
service continues to evolve over the next year, the team are looking forward to focusing on more
preventative work in the community and in particular schools.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital
We were very proud that Birmingham Children’s Hospital was rated ‘Outstanding’, the only
standalone Children’s Hospital in the country, and the only hospital in the whole of the Midlands
and East region to achieve the highest rating possible.

Work on our brand new £37.5 million clinical block, Waterfall House has progressed rapidly. The
eye-catching four-storey building, which is due for completion later this year, will be home to
the UK’s first pioneering rare diseases centre for children, a combined inpatient and outpatient
cancer centre and three new operating theatres. For our rare diseases patients, the building will
be truly special as it will provide a dedicated centre for their care and treatment, enabling many
of their appointments to happen on the same day, with the same group of experts - something
that has never been possible before.

What really stood out to the inspectors was how well we work together across different
specialties and disciplines, and the way we support innovation, ensuring we are always at the
forefront of what is possible, with children, young people and families in our hearts.
Of particular note Critical Care received ‘Outstanding’ ratings across all five domains, and
Medical Care, Transitional Services and End of Life Care were declared to be Outstanding too.
However, the CQC also recognised that we are greater than the sum of our parts, because of
everyone’s commitment to the Trust’s values, always doing what is right for both children and
each other.
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That said, our rating was Outstanding, not perfect, and there are areas where we know we
need to do better, especially in the ‘Safe’ domain where we received a ‘Requires Improvement’.
This was mainly driven by the seven Never Events in Theatres we had immediately prior to the
inspection, and some aspects of the care on our Neonatal Surgical Ward. Both of these areas
have been included within our priorities for improvement during 2017/18, and are described fully
in this report.
We also recognise there is more to do to support the development of Forward Thinking
Birmingham, which was only a few weeks old at the time the CQC visited.

Birmingham Women’s Hospital
Birmingham Women’s received a rating of ‘Requires Improvement’, which we believe was an
accurate reflection of where we were on our improvement journey at the time of the inspection.
However we were also rightly proud that inspectors found our services safe and caring overall,
and any woman using Birmingham’s Women’s should feel confident about the care they will
receive from us.
In addition, our maternity service was one of only a handful nationally to receive an Outstanding
rating, and we were delighted that the hard work of our community midwifery teams was also
recognised as Good, along with our Neonatal Unit.
The main areas for improvement were in gynaecology, outpatients and diagnostic imaging, and
we have been working heard all year on the actions we need to take to ensure that all women
get the level of service they deserve. These areas have also been included within our priorities
for improvement during 2017/18, and again are described more fully in this report.
In summary it has been an extraordinary year, and as we move forward as Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s, we know that the hard work must continue to ensure we maintain
and enhance the quality of care that our women, children and families have come to expect
from us as two of the leading hospitals in the country, and every single member of the team is
committed to ensuring this happens.
To the best of my knowledge the information contained in this Quality Account is accurate.

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
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Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from the Board
2.1 Quality Priorities

There are many ways we gather information so we can understand where we need to improve
to make our quality of care better:

Mission, vision and values

l

		
		

As a newly integrated trust we are currently working to bring together one mission, vision and
a combined set of values. In the meantime, there are four common goals we’re all working
towards:

Listening to the women, children and families that use our services: There are lots of
ways they can tell us what they think, and we take account of it all to work out what’s
most important to them, supported by our Patient Experience Team:
Complaints, comments and concerns

Feedback cards

Surveys				 Patient stories

1. Safe, high quality care today;
2. Continually looking to improve and be even better;
3. Working in partnership with others;

l

		
		
		
		

4. Leading the way across health care.
Both Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham Women’s Hospitals have their own
recently developed Quality Strategies. A new Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust Quality Strategy, drawing on the existing strategies, will be developed during
2017/18.

l

		
		
		
		
		

Quality Committee is a Board Committee, chaired by a Non-Executive Director, with a focus
on strategic risks to Quality with reports informing the need for detailed thematic reviews. The
Committee receives Key Issues and Assurance Reports from Executive led subcommittees and
holds them to account for the management of operational risk. The committee is responsible
for managing identified risks related to Quality and to the delivery of the respective Quality
Strategies and translating these appropriately within the Board Assurance Framework.

l

		
l

The Executive led subcommittees manage the operational risks related to Clinical Quality and
Safety, Patient Experience, Health and Safety and Workforce. These committees review all
relevant significant risks on the operational risk register and hold the Directorates to account.
Each committee will review relevant external reviews, Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation,
incident trend reports, complaints and other forms of patient feedback to identify any areas that
require quality improvement or action.

		
		
l
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Feedback App			

Websites like NHS Choices and Patient Opinion

Consultations			

Social Media

Listening to our staff: The views of the staff who work in our Trust everyday are vital and
we encourage them to tell us what they think through surveys, consultations and
feedback events like InTent. It is also really important that we keep an eye on their
wellbeing and make sure they are fully supported so that they are able to deliver the
best services they can.
Listening to others: The views of groups like the Young Person’s Advisory Group (YPAG)
at Birmingham Children’s Hospital and the Family and Patient Advisory Committee
(FPAC) at Birmingham Women’s Hospital help us focus on how to make the
improvements that are needed. Our Governors, representing the interests of our NHS
Foundation Trust Members, and the public in general also provide us with further insight
on the quality of our services and the priorities for improvement.
Analysing information about the quality of services, such as patient and staff safety
incidents, risk registers, as well as internal and external reviews and clinical audits.
Listening to our stakeholders, including those who commission and regulate our services,
the educational bodies that support our student and trainee staff, royal colleges and other
professional bodies.
Using best practice examples, national targets and learning from and benchmarking with
other organisations.
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We strive to take on board feedback and improve services as a result. There follows two case
studies, one from each hospital which demonstrate this approach in practice.

2016/17 Priorities
Patient Experience

Clinical Effectiveness

Safety

Birmingham Womens Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Birmingham Children’s Hospital - Feedback in action:
We heard from our children and young people that they were being fasted for long periods
before their surgical procedure. This was distressing for them and for their parents to
watch. Our theatre teams and ward staff identified several areas for improvement with the
aim of reduce fasting times. The areas for improvement were better communication about
fasting times between all areas, providing all morning admissions a drink on their arrival
and clearer information in our letters to parents about fasting times. A review of clinical
practice also resulted in a pilot of shorter fasting times which will balance patient safety and
patient experience. We are rolling out these initiatives to other areas of the Trust and have
plans to launch the successful ‘Think Drink’ initiative as designed by QMCN.

l Reduce neonatal nonelective

readmissions within 28 days of
delivery

l SBAR (Situation, Background,

Assessment and
Recommendation) for handover
and transfer

l Improve the detection rate of

intrauterine growth

These priorities and what we’ve achieved in 2016/17 are set out over the next few pages of this
Quality Account. The priorities of each organisation are set out in separate sections, starting
with Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.
Indicators removed

Birmingham Women’s Hospital - Feedback in action:

Nursing Care Quality Indicators were previously included as supplementary indicators within the
Birmingham Children’s Hospital account, however, these are not applicable across the newly
integrated organisation and have, therefore, been removed.

We heard feedback that the quality of food on our Gynaecology wards did not reflect the
clinical needs of women undergoing abdominal surgery there. As a result, we asked our
Family and Patient Advisory Council for support to feedback further about what would
make food part of the healing journey our patents are on. We engaged with a dietician
who revised our menus to include more protein, less sugar and more crunchy vegetables,
as well as improving messages about hydration and having mint tea available at all times.
We subsequently put in place a communication plan to relay our intentions to patients. This
included ward signage and individual bedside cards about how we link food to the care our
patients need.

Avoidable deaths was previously included as a supplementary indicator within the Birmingham
Children’s Hospital account. There were no reported avoidable deaths during 2016/17 at either
Birmingham Children’s Hospital or Birmingham Women’s Hospital, therefore, this has not been
included.
The Staff Survey was previously included as a supplementary indicator within the Birmingham
Children’s Hospital account. As explained elsewhere in this account, following the integration
of the Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and Birmingham Women’s
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust we have reviewed the staff survey data and considered how
this may have looked if done as one survey across both organisations to inform our 2017/18
priorities. We will discuss these areas of focus with a range of stakeholders to develop plans for
improvement. Therefore, this has not been included here.

There are many channels used to let us know how to improve our services, and we triangulate
these to monitor the performance of our care. As shown throughout this report, this feedback
has a direct impact on how we make things better at Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust.
Using this information helped us to identify Quality Priorities for the two integrated organisations,
and these are the main areas we wanted to focus on to improve quality during 2016/17 (see
Table 1). This is not an exhaustive list of all our priorities, but the key priorities that relate to the
three elements of Quality; Patient Experience, Clinical Effectiveness and Safety:
Table 1
2016/17 Priorities
Patient Experience

Clinical Effectiveness

Safety

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
l Food and Nutrition
l Cancelled operations
l MRI scan waits

l Medication Safety
l Reducing Life Threatening

Events, Cardiac and
Respiratory Arrests
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Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Priorities 2016/17
Patient experience
Food and nutrition
Food is important to our patients when they come into hospital as this helps them get better.
Children, young people and their families expect good tasting food that is nutritionally balanced.
Our new healthy menu was our big success in 2015/16 and we have built on that in 2016/17.

The graph below (Graph 1) outlines the number of positive versus need to improve comments
we received over the last four years.

Looking back on 2016/17 - How have we done?

71%

PLACE (Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment) assessments are undertaken by local
volunteers and children/young people who work as a team to assess how the environment
supports patients’ privacy and dignity, food, cleanliness and general building maintenance.
The figures below illustrate the outcomes of these assessments and demonstrate how we have
done with Food and Nutrition over 2016/17.

58%

57%
42%
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88.20%

81.19%

46%

29%

e

tion
Na

43%

54%

Positive
Needs to improve

89.74%

2013/14

Our food PLACE scores improved at the main Hospital 2015 to 2016. However, they remained
around the same at Parkview despite the changes made. We are pleased that the 2017
PLACE scores for food (as yet unpublished) show a continued improvement at the main
Hospital and a marked improvement at Parkview.

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Graph 1: Positive v need to improve comments relating to food in 2013/14, 2014/15 and
2016/17 (date source: patient experience database)
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Our ‘Making Food Better Project’ has continued over the last year and has delivered:
l

Seasonal menus for spring/summer and autumn/winter.

l

A new special diets menu in April 2016.

l

Adopted a formal ‘Protected Mealtimes’ policy to reinforce this important change that all
our wards made in 2015.

		
l

		
l

		

l

Once a month or more we have a food ‘theme day’ to coincide with the Play Service
calendar of events.

		

Achieving the food CQUIN for 2016/17.

l

Refurbishing and creating a new Costa café near the Welcome desk.

l

Creating a new WHSmiths outlet next to the Welcome desk.

l

The creation of a strategy group to drive the improvement of food.

l

Look at the ‘food opportunity’ created by the integration with Birmingham Women’s.

l

Hospital who have a wholly in-house catering service.

l

Explore market testing options in early 2018 ahead of the contract with Sodexo ending in
December 2018.

		
l

Find more ways of getting fun into patient food.

l

Deliver the food CQUIN targets for 2017/18.

l

Offering meals 24/7 for families through a vending service .

It is clear that cancelled operations remain a source of concern for our children, young people
and their families as well as our hard working staff. Cancelling operations is stressful and
inconvenient for children, young people and their families as it can disrupt work, travel and child
care arrangements. Unfortunately we know there have been examples of children and young
people who have been cancelled several times for the same operation and we have heard
stories from families of the impact this can have on the whole family.
It is also difficult and stressful for our staff to explain to anxious children, young people and their
families that an operation has had to be cancelled and for them to not be able to deliver the
treatment a child needs at the time we said we would.

Our Making Food Better’ project will continue in 2017/18 whilst our food strategy group will be
tackling longer term issues. We aim to:
Ratify our food strategy.

l

We have focused on cancelled operations in our Quality Account for the last six years. We have
continued to see rising demand for our services and based on our planning for the future we
anticipate that this will continue.

Looking forward to 2017/18 - What are we doing to improve?

l

‘Sow it, Grow it, Cook it , Eat it’ initiative involving our patients growing food in
‘Matron’s garden’.

Cancelled Operations

We also had other achievements, including:
l

l

This is no longer a local priority but food and nutrition remains an important area of focus for
us and we will continue to measure how we are doing and how our children, young people
and their families feel we are doing. Patient Experience Feedback about food which indicates
a need to improve is specifically monitored through the monthly Quality and Safety Report to
Board.

Completed our programme to train all ward based clinical support workers in food
presentation and the importance of nutrition and hydration for patients.
A draft food strategy.

Introduce a puree menu for our younger patients.

		

Introduced new patient bedside menu booklets alongside our new menus to help children,
young people and families choose meals.

l

l

Looking back on 2016/17- How have we done?
Once again, we have been working hard in the past year to try and make things better. It has
been another challenging year for us, as we had our busiest ever year in terms of the number of
children and young people needing to come into hospital as emergencies.

Launch a new patient nutrition assessment tool in spring 2017.
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Graph 2: Cancelled operations national definition – comparative performance
2014/15, 2015/16 & 2016/17 (data source ORMIS theatre system)

Surgeon
Unavailable
2%

The graph above (Graph 2) shows the number of patients who were cancelled based on a
national definition of ‘Cancelled by a hospital for non-medical reasons on the day of admission
or after admission’. This is a figure that we are required to report nationally but doesn’t reflect
every cancellation. Chart 1 shows the reasons for cancellation by the hospital for non-medical
reasons on the day of admission or after admission 2016/17:

Bed Shortage
12%
Aneathetist
Unavailable
5%

Chart 1 (data source: ORMIS theatre system) Nationally reported cancellations by reason
2016/17
We did not meet our 2016/17 target for the percentage of all planned operations cancelled on
the day. We performed at 1.8% compared with our commissioner’s target of 1.2%.
The biggest reasons for cancellations on the day in 2016/17 were Emergencies and Trauma,
(41%), Bed Shortage (12%) and ICU beds (17%)
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However, it is important to note that this national definition does not include cancellations that
were not on the day of the operation. We want to make sure we are improving our cancelled
operations performance overall, and not just those cancelled on the day of the operation. The
chart below (Chart 2) shows the reasons for operations cancelled by the hospital for all patients
in 2016/17.

Administrative Error
10%

Cancelled operations
We have implemented our plan, referenced in last year’s quality account, to increase the
availability of dedicated trauma/emergency theatre sessions with a further 3 trauma lists
provided each week by re allocating them from elective lists. Moving forward, in December
2017 we anticipate opening a further theatre list, which will ensure that we are able to provide
an all-day trauma list every day, Monday-Friday which will be a net increase of 4 from 15/16 and
a further 1 compared to 16/17.

Other
3%
Emergencies/Trauma
22%

Equipment
failure/ unavailable
2%
Staff unavailable
(surgeon,
anaesthetist, theatre
10%

This is particularly effective at reducing cancellations on the day or the day before surgery to
accommodate trauma patients.
We will continue with the roll out of our extended pre op assessment service, which has already
resulted in a significant improvement for cancellations due to reasons that can be linked to pre
assessment, with only 1 in 200 children, which is significantly better than if a child does not go
through pre assessment. We will be extending the pre-operative service to our radiology service
early in 2017 and the remaining surgical specialities in the summer of 2017.

Bed Shortage
7%

List overrun/Lack of
time
6%

Bed capacity
As usual, during the busiest part of the winter we opened seven additional beds to enable us
to admit children and young people as emergencies and try and reduce the knock-on impact of
cancelled non-emergency operations on our patients. Furthermore, we have committed to an
expansion in our consultant workforce in the emergency department.

ICU/HDU beds
unavailable
6%
Unit with acute illness
(Hosp Canc)
6%

Looking forward to 2017/18 - What are we doing to improve?

Patient not suitable
for OP
17%

In December 2017, our haematology and oncology services will be moving into the new
‘waterfall house’ development. We are currently in the process of prioritising how best to utilise
the vacated space. This may result in an increased number of beds for emergency admissions,
which will further protect elective operating.

Operation not
necessary
(Hosp Canc)
11%

Theatre capacity
As noted in last year’s quality report, in early 2015, our Board of Directors made a decision to
invest £35 million to build a new clinical building on the Steelhouse Lane site which will include
three new operating theatres. Construction is well underway and we anticipate being able to
move into ‘waterfall house’ in December 2017. The new facility will enable us to expand the
provision of 23 hour surgery, for a wider cohort of surgical procedures, as well as facilitating day
case surgery. Furthermore, this development will provide us with a further 10 theatre sessions
and provides 18 purpose built day case beds.

Chart 2 (data source: ORMIS theatre system) All hospital cancellations by reason, year to
date 2016/17
The biggest reasons for cancellations in 2016/17 were patients not being suitable for operation
(17.2%) Emergencies and Trauma (22.2%) Operation not necessary (10.6%) and staff
unavailable (10.4%) Although often there are valid reasons why we have to cancel operations,
we believe that the total number cancelled could be further reduced.
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The really positive news is that for nine months in a row, between March 2016 and November
2016, for the first time in over 3 years, we succeeded in meeting the target of 99% of all
diagnostic patients waiting less than 6 weeks. This was as a result of a number of initiatives we
put in place throughout 2015/16 as detailed in our Quality report last year. Reminder calls two
days before appointments has resulted in a reduction in ‘did not attend/was not brought from 5%
to 4%. We have also established a good relationship with Aston University, enabling us to use
their scanner to increase capacity. We have also successfully increased the number of MRI lists
we run at the weekend.

Improving processes
We have continued to look at other ways of improving the processes that support getting
children and young people operated on at the right time. We have just launched our ‘magnificent
7’ transformation programme. Two of the 7 work streams are focussed on improving pathways
for children and young people as well as improving discharge processes, namely 23hr/day case
surgery and short stay surgery. A further workstream seeks to improve the experience, pathway
and discharge for our more complex children.

Unfortunately between December 2016 and March 2017 we have again struggled to meet this
target largely as a result of some lost capacity as a result of a necessary replacement of one
of our MRI scanners, which has reduced capacity for General anaesthetic MRIs as well as our
flexibility.

We will continue to do everything we can to reduce our cancelled operations and report back on
progress in our 2017/18 Quality Account.

MRI scan waits

Looking forward to 2017/18 - What are we doing to improve?

Tests and diagnostics scans such as MRI scans can be a very worrying time for our patients
and families. They can be a key step in their care pathway and understanding of their treatment
needs. It is therefore important that we make this experience as smooth as possible.
MRI scan waits have been a priority in the Quality Account for three years now. It is a continued
challenge to meet our six week target, as is the case for many other hospitals across the
country. We are working hard to improve this and report to our commissioners regularly.

l

		

Looking back on 2016/17 - How have we done?
140

l

Radiologists will review MRI sequences to ensure these are optimal.

l

We will continue to review MRI lists to ensure lists are appropriately booked.

l

We will work with district general hospitals to support more non general anaesthetic MRIs
taking place locally.

		

2014/15

We will ensure all MRI requests are made by Consultants and that Radiologists will be
more proactive in justification of MRI scans.

l

Furthermore we will continue to run additional weekend lists, which will be facilitated
when the new scanner is in place.

120

2015/16

		

100

2016/17

Getting back to a position whereby we are achieving this target is something we will continue to
work hard on and report to our commissioners regularly. This is no longer a local priority but we
will continue to monitor our performance very closely
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Graph 3 (data source: Radiology Information System) MRI Patients waiting over 6 weeks
for a diagnostics scan
The graph above (Graph 3) shows the number of children and young people who waited over
the national waiting time target of six weeks for a diagnostic scan as a comparison between
the years 2014/2015, 2015/2016 and 2016/17. The data is collected as a ‘snap-shot’ of those
waiting at the end of each month.
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Safety

120

Medication safety
Medication incidents remain the largest reported incident group and, therefore, medication safety
has continued to be closely monitored and the subject of a number of our improvement activities.
We use many different medicines which need to take into account lots of different factors when
treating our children and young people. This means that there are many opportunities for error. It
is important that we are able to spot these opportunities for error before any harm is caused, so
that we can learn and continually improve our processes.

Cat D - Monitoring Or
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Evidence from other safety critical industries shows that one measure of a good safety culture is
an incident reporting profile which shows:
		

Cat E - Temporary Harm,
Intervention Nedded

100

Graph 4: Medication Incidents by MERP classification April 2016-February 2017 (Data
Source: Governance Support Unit)

This shows that staff are safety conscious and actively identifying and reporting opportunities for
error to occur before harm is caused.

This demonstrates that use of MERP has increased over the year (please note that the number
of medication incidents reported in February is lower than previous months). The only incidents
that were classed as causing any actual harm to patients were all in category E (i.e. the harm
was temporary), 1 of which occurred in May 2016, 3 in November 2016 and the remaining 3 in
March 2017.

Looking back on 2016/17 - How have we done?
Medication safety was re-introduced as a priority for our 2015/16 Quality Account and as such
retained in the 2016/17 Quality Account.
To help us to better understand our harm profile we introduced the use of the (American
National Co-ordinating Council) Medication Error Reporting and Preventing (MERP) algorithm.
This is a detailed way of assessing harm caused by a medication error and has allowed a more
sophisticated understanding of our harm profile. Uptake using the MERP tool was initially poor,
however, this has significantly improved over the year. The following graph (Graph 4) shows the
impact of our incidents using the MERP classification tool.

Using the standard National Reporting and Learning Service (NRLS) actual impact assessment
a more complete picture of the years’ incident profile can be seen. In 2015/16 we noted that
the proportion of patients who were harmed from a medication incident increased from 8.3% to
9.2% we set a new target to decrease the proportion of harm caused by medication incidents to
less than 8% of medication incidents.
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The following graph (Graph 5) demonstrates that we consistently met this target, with the
average harm caused by medication incidents being 4.94% and the only month where the target
of 8% harm was not met. The number of incident reports which caused some harm in March
2017 was comparable to earlier months, however, the number of incidents reported that month
were relatively low for the harm rate.

l

		
		
l
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Target % of harm caused

As listed above, there are currently a number of projects underway which will result in a better
understanding of the potential weaknesses in our medicines management processes. These
will be used to inform further safety programmes managed by the Medicines Safety Committee.
One of the key projects that will result in changed practice will be our research into the most
effective way to check medicines. Preliminary assessments of practice have identified that a
range of approaches to double checking are currently in place, and we need to identify which
will be the BCH endorsed standard.

17

Looking forward to 2017/18 - What will we do next?

20

17

We are carrying out detailed themed analysis of all incidents involving 10x dosing errors
regardless of the impact that those errors had on the patient.

Average harm caused

/0

01

A key medicines safety initiative at BCH will be the introduction of electronic prescribing (PICS).
A significant amount of background work has already been invested to modify the existing
system from the adult sector. Our first live pilot will begin in March on our Liver ward, following
which we will programme a roll out of this system across the Trust. We anticipate that the new
prescribing system will significantly reduce the frequency of some medication incidents (e.g.
dosing errors on prescriptions), although we are conscious that there may be an increase in
other error types (e.g. incorrect drug selection).

There has been a significant focus over 2016/17 on understanding our risk profile better. In
addition to the introduction of the MERP classification tool on our incident reports, the following
projects to either better understand our issues, or to address those that we are aware of, are
also underway.
l

Medicines Safety Pledges made by clinical areas in response to Medicine’s Safety Month
have been implemented. These include improvements made to the storage areas for
medication, techniques for reducing disruption when preparing and checking medicines
and developments to how lessons are shared across clinical areas.

		

Graph 5: Medication Incidents by Actual Harm April 2016-March 2017
(Data Source: Governance Support Unit)

		
		
		
		

We have implemented a revised approach to intravenous fluid management in response
to revised NICE guidance. The new intravenous fluid management approach has also
been dovetailed with our new nutrition and hydration bundle developed as a result of
Serious Incidents.
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We have carried out a detailed assessment of the causes of distractions and disruptions
during the medicine preparation phase on PICU and will now develop an action plan to
reduce the degree of distractions that staff experience during this high risk activity.

We have developed the Paediatric Medicines Safety Thermometer so that we are
carrying out routine data collection every month on a number of our high risk medication
topics. Topics include a focus on several high risk medicines, such as anti-coagulants,
opioids and insulin, as well as a focus on several areas that we would like to improve on,
such as medicines reconciliation on admission to hospital.
We are carrying out research with Warwick University to understand how to make our
medicine’s preparation checking as effective as possible. This has involved detailed
pathway mapping and identification of risks along this pathway. The next step will be to
validate the risks that have been identified and prioritise these for action.
Our project to use Pharmacy Technicians to review prescription charts on our Oncology
and Haematology ward has been a great success and we are establishing if we can
secure funding to roll this out across the Trust.
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Reducing Life Threatening Events, Cardiac and
Respiratory Arrests
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The graphs below illustrate both numbers of events and events per 1000 inpatient admissions
2016- 2017. As the graph illustrates, numbers of respiratory arrests, cardiac arrests and
Acute Life Threatening Events (ALTEs) have remained low. We can see that there has been
a slight increase in emergency events this year when compared to last year. We continue to
be reassured that our monitoring of emergency events and appropriate escalation is working
well. The data below reflects the data we use in our continuous monitoring of Life Threatening
Events. Through measurement of monthly events per 1000 admissions we are in a position to
identify and respond to disturbing trends should they arise; the absolute numbers are reported
alongside as this keeps us focussed on the real experience of patients rather than just the
percentage.

No of Cardiac Arrests
(PICU)

ay

Looking back on 2016/17- How have we done?

No of Cardiac Arrests
(ex PIC)

M

Recognition of the deteriorating patient through close monitoring of their clinical condition
means that we will identify deteriorating patients early. In turn we will be able to do everything
we can in order to avoid preventable emergency and life-threatening events where possible. We
know that this system is working well as we have had no preventable events during 2016-17.

Graph 6 (Data Source: Resus Data) Number of Emergency Events 2016 -17

During April 2016 to March 2017 there were 156 emergency events. None of these were
preventable. This compares with 156 during 2015/16 – This highlights that we have continued
to work hard in order to reduce emergency events over the last 12 months.

Graph 7 below highlights these events as a figure per 1000 admissions:
3.50

The breakdown is as follows:
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Looking forward to 2017/18 - What are we doing to improve?
We are continuously striving for improvement. With this in mind we have commenced
participation in the National Cardiac Arrest Audit. This commenced in October 2016 and we are
looking forward to receiving national data in order to benchmark our data and share learning
from the wider national picture.
We also continue to educate staff and have implemented a programme of simulation training to
facilitate the identification of seriously ill children across the organisation. We are implementing
live cardiac arrest simulations in ward areas which bring about valuable learning. We continue
to train staff in line with current national resuscitation guidelines and we are delivering
Human Factors training across the organisation to ensure early recognition and appropriate
management of our patients.
We have merged with Birmingham Women’s Hospital on 1st February 2017 and we are
currently working on a strategy to review and monitor all emergency events on that site.
Historical statistical information on emergency events during 2016 was provided by BWHs
previous resuscitation service providers and is as follows:
Data for 01/01/16 to 23/12/16
Assisted birth calls

56

Cardiac arrest calls (adult)

03

Emergency Caesarian Section

159

Medical Emergency

114

Unknown calls (no audit forms completed)

497

Making sure we prevent the deterioration of the health of our women, children and young
people remains a key measure of quality of care and we will report on this again in 2017/18.
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Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust Priorities 2016/17
Readmissions are audited and reported through the Perinatal Risk Group (PRG). There are
approximately 8/9 cases per month to audit; midwifery care as well as the neonatal episode will be
reviewed as part of this audit, and NICU and the Maternity Directorate are collaborating to develop
and embed the process. Themes underlying avoidable readmissions continue to be drawn out and
addressed.

Patient experience
Reduce neonatal non-elective readmissions
within 28 days of delivery

The Readmissions Project Group has overseen the Readmissions Action Plan during 2016/17
The the
Readmissions
Project Group
has overseen
the Readmissions Action Plan during 2016/17
and
following initiatives
have been
put in place:
and the following initiatives have been put in place:
l Breastfeeding update training has become part of annual mandatory training for
Breastfeeding
update training
has become part of annual mandatory training for
		l midwives
and Maternity
Assistants.
		 midwives and Maternity Assistants.
l Nine additional Maternity Assistants have been employed, eight of which have been
Nine additional
Maternity
have
been
employed,
of which
have been		 at
		l allocated
to delivery
SuiteAssistants
to assist with
skin
to skin
and theeight
initiation
of breastfeeding
		 allocated to delivery Suite to assist with skin to skin and the initiation of breastfeeding at
		birth.
		birth.
l One Maternity Assistant per night shift is allocated to the post natal wards to support
One Maternity
Assistantthis
per has
nightnot
shift
is allocated
to the
post
natal wards to support
		l infant
feeding, although
been
sustainable
at all
times.
		 infant feeding, although this has not been sustainable at all times.
l Breastfeeding champions have been identified on each ward.
l Breastfeeding champions have been identified on each ward.
l Midwife led Rapid Access Clinics have been established on Mondays and Fridays to
Midwife mothers
led Rapidwith
Access
Clinics have
been established on Mondays and Fridays to
		l support
breastfeeding
issues.
		 support mothers with breastfeeding issues.

During 2015/16, the Trust received a CQC Outlier Alert relating to neonatal non-elective
readmissions within 28 days of delivery for two main diagnoses: neonatal jaundice and
dehydration, weight loss and feeding difficulties. A case note review was completed and for
babies readmitted with jaundice, this was found to be the result of compliance with NICE 2012
reduced jaundice treatment thresholds. For babies readmitted with dehydration and weight loss,
it was identified that enhanced support services are required to support women who choose to
breastfeed, at every stage of the women’s care pathway, during initiation and in the community.

Looking back on 2016/17- How have we done?
The graph below (Graph 8) tracks the neonatal readmission rate during 2016/17. This
information is reported to Board on a monthly basis within the Quality & Safety Report.
3
2.5

Looking forward to 2017/18 - What are we doing to improve?
Looking forward to 2017/18 - What are we doing to improve?
We are in the process of developing a same day, rapid access breastfeeding service for babies

2
1.5

who are at risk of losing, or have lost, a significant amount of weight and whose mothers require
We are in the process of developing a same day, rapid access breastfeeding service for babies
support with breastfeeding. This outpatient service would mirror models of care in other regions
who are at risk of losing, or have lost, a significant amount of weight and whose mothers require
and aims to reduce hospital readmissions with feeding problems.
support with breastfeeding. This outpatient service would mirror models of care in other regions
and aims to reduce hospital readmissions with feeding problems.
In order to better care for babies with more complex medical needs in the community, a
business case is in preparation to set up a neonatal outreach service. It is anticipated that this
In order to better care for babies with more complex medical needs in the community, a
service will also support infant feeding in the community, as well as monitoring and care of some
business case is in preparation to set up a neonatal outreach service. It is anticipated that this
babies with jaundice.
service will also support infant feeding in the community, as well as monitoring and care of
some babies with jaundice.
We will continue to monitor our performance very closely through the Perinatal Risk Group
which reports quarterly to the Clinical Safety and Assurance Committee and we will also include this
We will continue to monitor our performance very closely through the Perinatal Risk Group
as a metric against the new 2017/18 priority relating to Neonatal Care.
which reports quarterly to the Clinical Safety and Assurance Committee and we will also include
this as a metric against the new 2017/18 priority relating to Neonatal Care.
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Graph 8 (Data Source: Quality & Safety Board Report) Neonatal readmission rate
within 28 days of delivery date )excluding planned readmissions and babies that are
readmitted because their mothers are unwell (%)
The newly integrated organisation will have access to much richer data on the number of
readmissions of newborn babies across the organisation. Data regarding readmissions to
Birmingham Children’s Hospital was limited prior to integration this which limited the ability to
carry out prospective.
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Clinical Effectiveness

Safety

SBAR (Situation, Background, Assessment &
Recommendation)

Detection of intrauterine growth

Research shows that there is a higher risk of errors occurring during handover and transfer
of care. BWNFT have a variety of processes in place across the Trust to mitigate this risk.
We have identified a need to standardise these processes, and ensure that best practice
tools, such as SBAR are routinely used in all areas of the Trust. During 2016/17 each
clinical directorate reviewed their processes for handover and implemented the following
improvements:

Perinatal mortality has long been recognised as being high in the West Midlands and, whilst
this is partly accounted for by the population we serve, a recurrent theme in our investigation of
perinatal deaths is the contribution of fetal growth restriction. In light of this we continue to give
a high priority to the detection and management of intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR).

l

		
l

		
		
		
l

		
		
		

This is one of four national priorities in the reducing stillbirth care bundle.

Looking back on 2016/17- How have we done?

The Neonatal Unit, developed an SBAR model for handover based on that used in the
Paediatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU) at Birmingham Children’s Hospital.

During 2016/17 the following has been implemented:

The Gynaecology Directorate launched an SBAR tool in theatres to be used when
transferring care from recovery to the wards. This has been audited quarterly, which
found full compliance with the new tool. This will now be rolled out to other areas within
the Gynaecology Directorate.

l

A risk assessment pro-forma for SGA (small gestational age) has been developed to
better identify this high risk group requiring serial scans. The risk assessment includes
identification of “on-going smokers” at booking.

l

A Standard Operating Procedure has been developed for low PAPPA (pregnancyassociated plasma protein A). Low PAPPA is also included on the SGA risk assessment
pro-forma. This requires a pathway for low results to be automatically flagged, notes
reviewed and those women not already undergoing serial scans for SGA to be brought
to a consultant clinic for review.

l

A risk assessment pro-forma has been developed to support women being on the correct
screening pathway.

l

A specialist growth clinic and associated referral pathway has been launched.

l

A consultant obstetrician has been appointed as lead for maternity radiology which will
facilitate greater collaborative working.

		
		
		
		
		
		

The Maternity Directorate audited the use of their SBAR tools, and found increased
compliance shift to shift and on antenatal admission. SBAR training is now included
in the mandatory PROMPT training. SBAR communication will be used to improve
Sepsis identification and referral from the community setting.

		

The Quality team also monitored the number of RCA investigations where handover or transfer
was raised as a contributory factor or root cause of a serious incident. This was included as a
monthly metric within the Quality & Safety Board Report.
During 2016/17 there was 1 serious incident where handover or transfer was identified as a
contributory factor. In this case, there was a failure to recognise the significance of maternal
tachycardia and fetal distress and expedite transfer to delivery suite. As a result of this
incident the team developed an antenatal fetal monitoring guideline, which included criteria for
escalation and transfer timeframes.

		

The 2015/16 Quality Account stated that progress against this priority would be measured in the
following ways:
l

The on-going development and implementation of the SBAR principles will continue to be
promoted across both sites, as a recognised tool for improving communications.
This is no longer a local priority but we will continue to monitor our performance very closely
through the Clinical Safety and Assurance Committee.

		

Customised growth charts should be generated correctly (encompassing the following).
Target 100%
Correct EDD.
Gridlines and day interval guides.
BMI charted.
All previous pregnancies correctly entered.

The above target has been audited and was achieved.

77
77
77

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

l

70

All patients should have a SGA risk assessment at booking. Target 100%

60

This target was not achieved. The SGA risk assessment proforma described above was
launched in March 2017 and will be subject to ongoing audit.
l

		

50
40

Correctly assigned to SFH or serial scans at booking and reassigned if risk factors
develop. Target 95%.

30
20

This target was not achieved. The proforma described above was launched in March 2017 and
will be subject to ongoing audit.
l

10

If undergoing serial growth scans - detection target 60% -

0
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

At end of Q3 scanned detection rate was 52% for 2016-2017 and for Q3 was 65% (improved
from Q1 37%).
l

2012- 2013

		

2014- 2015

2015- 2016

2016- 2017

Graph 9 Data Source: BWH detection rate 2012-present Dr R K Morris,
Lead for IUGR (March 2017) Detection Rate SGA (TP) BWH 2012 onwards (%)

False positive detection rate less than 13%.

This cannot be audited at present as there is no way to determine who is a false positive
i.e. those undergoing serial scans or induction of labour for concerns with fetal growth but
estimated fetal weight is above the 10th centile, therefore, this tool will be developed during
2017/18.
l

2013- 2014

The above graph (Graph 9) demonstrates steady improvement in detection rates since 2012/13,
with detection rates above 50% for the first time, consistently in each of the last three quarters.

Looking forward to 2017/18 - What are we doing to improve?

Scans performed with 7 days of delivery in SGA cases so have less than a 10% error.
Target 50% 2016/17 increasing 60% in 2017/18

During 2017/18 we will be taking the following steps to further improve our detection of
intrauterine growth restriction:

This was assessed for 2015/16 by manual review of all cases in February 2016 to give a
baseline and was 50%. For 2016/17 we have concentrated on Day Assessment Unit scans. The
data for 2016/17 for <10% error within 14 days is median 83.9% (IQ 79-88) over 4 operators
audited.

l

Develop a growth scan guideline, including standards for growth scans

l

Develop a Standard Operating Procedure for scanning in collaboration with the
radiology lead and Day Assessment Unit lead.

		
l

		
		
		
		
		
l

		

Audit of growth scans, including all scans that have an unacceptable error in EFW in all
undetected cases of SGA. This is performed in two ways at present: a) Via audit of
undetected cases through the growth audit and b) via the perinatal mortality review
process where fetal growth restriction is identified as a contributory factor. All practitioners
in DAU perform self-audit of growth scans however there is no process in place for audit
of scans performed in radiology. This will be developed.
We will develop a SGA prevention and detection working party incorporating the
developments within the BUMP (Birmingham United Maternity Partnership).

This is no longer a local priority but we will continue to monitor our performance very closely
through the Perinatal Risk Group which reports quarterly to the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee and we will include in next year’s Quality Account as a supplementary indicator.
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2017/18 priorities for Birmingham Women’s & Children’s
NHS Foundation Trust
The integration of the two hospitals provides an opportunity to reassess the local priorities of the
whole Trust. Both Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s and Birmingham
Women’s NHS Foundation Trust’s services were inspected by the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) as part of a comprehensive inspection of compliance with quality standards during
2016/17. Feedback provided following the inspections highlighted a number of areas that
require improvement across both organisations. Whilst these issues had already been
recognised as areas of concern, the findings of the CQC and triangulation with patient feedback
has confirmed that these should form the basis of future priorities:

A broad range of stakeholders have engaged in the development of a shared vision and
strategy which aim to maintain and improve the standards of excellence in surgical and critical
care for neonates and improve the general standard of neonatal care.
Short-term measures have prioritised improvements in ward and medical leadership, and the
development of a consistent approach to neonatal care across the specialist hospital services
through centralised monitoring, care planning, specialist leadership and education.
We will report the following in next year’s quality account:

The following were identified high priority areas for quality improvement:

l

Neonatal Care
During 2015 Birmingham Children’s Hospital commissioned two reviews on its approach to
neonatal care, firstly by the South Midlands Maternity and Newborn Network (SWMMNN) and
secondly by the West Midlands Quality Review Service (WMQRS). These reviews reported
their findings in early mid-2015 and February 2016 respectively. Together they provided a
comprehensive analysis of neonatal care, including a self-assessment of compliance with the
E02/S/C service specification for paediatric surgery: neonates.

Neonatal non-elective readmissions within 28 days of delivery

l % of approved neonatal guidelines/policies/protocols across the newly integrated
		organisation
l

We will assess and report on our compliance with the Bliss Baby Charter

Abortion care service
The Board had concerns about this service prior to the CQC inspection following an increase in
complaints and incidents. An external review was commissioned from peers at King’s College
Hospital London to focus in particular on clinical governance, patient pathways, clinical policies
and guidelines, staffing and training. The review was undertaken during May 2016 and the
findings were reviewed in detail at an extraordinary meeting of the Quality Committee in
September 2016.

The recent publication of the CQC inspection report, which took place in May 2016, reinforced
the need to build on and accelerate progress, including a comprehensive response to all
previous recommendations.
The integration with Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has provided a huge
opportunity for change. We have a vision that Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust will be a regional, national and worldwide centre of excellence in neonatal
care. We will provide family integrated care based on respecting parents as vital partners in the
care of their of their young babies: enabling the best start in life through loving relationships and
breastfeeding; improving health outcomes of those born prematurely; reducing infection and
infant mortality rates; and impacting on the health and success of babies we care for throughout
childhood and well into adult life.
We will continue to provide excellent high dependency and intensive care and deliver effective
surgical procedures that consistently strive to become less and less invasive with faster
recovery times. Alongside these areas we will develop and deliver first class neonatal care
across all specialisms. Within a year we will achieve the standards laid out in the Bliss Baby
Charter on NSW; within two years we will be the first hospital trust in the world to gain stage
2 UNICEF accreditation across all relevant departments; within three years we will receive an
outstanding judgement from our regulator and achieve full UNICEF accreditation; within five
years we will be one of UNICEF’s key strategic partners in policy development.
A Neonatal Improvement Board is providing leadership to the Neonatal Improvement Project,
which is focused on reviewing the model and leadership for neonatal services, optimising the
opportunities offered by the joining of the two organisations and the position within a network.
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Abortion Care Service Steering and Working Groups have been established to initially address
the immediate issues highlighted by the External Peer Review and CQC Report. The trajectory
for this is approximately 6 months. Once this stage is reached an assessment will be made to
identify the work required to take the service to the next level and become a National lead for
Abortion care.

The programme focuses on three keys areas:
Redistribution of antenatal capacity
The expansion of the Day Assessment Unit (DAU) to provide evening and weekend
appointments increases the ability to offer a range of interventions to women with additional
risk factors in a timely manner. DAU are working towards increasing midwifery sonography
education, to enable a greater number of women to be appropriately managed through DAU,
removing some activity from the busy radiology and antenatal clinic outpatient areas.

Key actions include:
l

New/improved care environments.

l

Revised clinical guidelines, polices and processes.

l

Staff support, including counseling and debriefing.

l

Revised staff training.

l

Revised patient information.

l

Staffing review.

l

Identification and review of best-practice examples.

Additionally, an increase in midwifery sonography education as a whole, both as a short-term
capacity response and a longer term workforce plan, will enable scanning activity to be more
consistently managed closer to home and in the most appropriate setting for the woman. This
work includes a move towards innovative mobile scanning technology.
Improvement in the utilisation and scheduling of antenatal clinic
The activity distribution through clinic causes high peaks in the number of women in the
departments during specific times of the week, which contributes greatly to waiting times. A
move to a more streamlined approach will see low risk women being seen during quieter times
in the week, providing a more positive experience for both patients and staff.
A new model of delivery of both medical and midwifery care will see improved role clarity and
satisfaction; supported by robust guidelines and pathways and strong inter-professional
communication.

We will specifically monitor the following to track our improvement:
l

		
l

Compliance with the “5 days to treatment” standard.

l

Number of scheduled surgical terminations of pregnancy delivered as medical 		
terminations of pregnancy.

		

Operational and workforce improvements within radiology
Radiology schedule is under review, with a new clinic template providing designated and
appropriate appointments to match the requirements of the scan.

Number of Need to Improve comments received through Patient Experience Feedback
linked to Abortion Care.

Additionally, the introduction of quality control processes; and improved education and training
will provide assurance to the department and to external control organisations; as well as
increasing staff satisfaction.
The programme is being measured through a number of key performance indicators, reporting
back to the Programme Board monthly and to the Quality Committee as requested. Agreed
KPIs are as follows:

We will provide updates of our progress to Quality Committee monthly via the Quality and
Safety Report.
Antenatal radiology pathway
The CQC identified that the Trust had not identified, monitored and mitigated risks relating to
the long waiting times across clinics in the outpatients and diagnostics department and this was
not included on the corporate risk register. Delays in Antenatal Clinic and radiology have also
been a consistent source of Formal Complaints and other Patient Experience feedback through
2016/17 and beyond.

1. Staff experience – thematic analysis including staff feedback through engagement events
		 and surveys; along with data measures around recruitment and retention, sickness levels;
		 and finish times.
2. Patient experience - thematic analysis including patient feedback through forums and
		 local surveys, social media, PALS responses, family and friends and formal complaints.

In order to support a full improvement programme across both Antenatal Clinic and Radiology a
programme governance structure has been implemented, with the board chaired by the Chief
Operating Officer.

3. Waiting times through clinic and radiology – carried out by a randomised 10 patient audit
		 completed through clinic once a month.
4. Distribution data – including measures around the spread of obstetric scans across all
		 scanning areas of the Trust (Main Radiology, DAU, Clinic, Community); plus the spread
		 of activity across the week both in radiology and antenatal clinic.
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2.2 Statements of Assurance

Never Events (WHO Surgical Safety Checklist Compliance)
In 2015/16 we noted a significant increase in the number of Never Events reported from
theatres services at Birmingham Children’s Hospital. Never events are established on the
assumptions that if existing guidance is implemented and followed, the strong, systemic
protective barriers which guidance provides renders these serious incidents wholly avoidable.
For surgical never events, that guidance is the WHO surgical safety checklist and associated
guidance.

Review of services
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
During 2016/2017 the Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provided and/ or
subcontracted 37 NHS services. The Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in all of these NHS services.
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2016/2017 represents 100 per cent of
the total income generated from the provision of NHS services by the Birmingham Children’s
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for 2016/2017.

During 2016/17 we made improvements to the intra-operative pathways and theatre staff have
been trained in the new, standardised approach. We have continued to develop a culture of
cooperation and teamwork so that WHO continues to be correctly applied.
However, despite these efforts, in the latter part of 2016/17, 3 further surgical Never Events
have occurred at Birmingham Children’s Hospital.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

In addition, there has been one surgical Never Event at Birmingham Women’s Hospital during
2016/17.

During 2016/17 the Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provided and/or
subcontracted 11 NHS services. The Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has
reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in all of these NHS services. The
income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2017/17 represents 100 per cent of the total
income generated from the provision of NHS services by the Birmingham Women’s Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust for 2016/17.

Our response to all our surgical events is being closely monitored through Quality Committee.
Additionally, the Theatres Project Board has been convened and continues to sit to monitor the
implementation of the correct technology and processes to maintain and improve surgical
safety.

Participation in clinical audits

We will report on progress of the Theatres Project Board regarding surgical safety and report
the rate of surgical never events across both sites during 2017/18.

National Clinical Audits

Progress against the action plan is being monitored by Quality Committee and the incidence
and nature of any reported Never Events is included in the monthly Quality and Safety Report
to Board.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
During 2016/17 12 national clinical audits and 3 national confidential enquires covered relevant
health services that Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (BCH) provides.
During that period BCH participated in 83% of the national clinical audits and 100% of the
national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.

Cancelled operations
As stated above, although not specifically highlighted as an issue by the CQC, reducing
cancelled operations remains a high priority for the Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust and we will continue to do everything we can to improve and report back on
progress in our 2017/18 Quality Account.
Progress is monitored monthly at Board via the Integrated Performance Report.
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The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that BCH was eligible to
participate in during 2016/17 are as follows:
l

Congenital Heart Disease (CHD).

l

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA).

l

Major Trauma Audit (TARN).

l

Chronic Neurodisability (NCEPOD).

l

Paediatric Intensive Care (PICANet).

l

Cancer in Children, Teens and Young Adults (NCEPOD).

l

Renal Replacement Therapy (Renal Registry).

l

National Outcomes Audit for Hypospadias.

l

Young People’s Mental Health (NCEPOD).

l

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry.

l

Paediatric Asthma.

l

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) programme.

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that BCH participated in, and for
which data collection was completed during 2016/17, are listed below (See Table 2) alongside
the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of
registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.
National Clinical Audit / Confidential Enquiry

Cases Submitted
(Number/Percentage Reported)

Congenital Heart Disease (CHD)

100%

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA)

100%

Major Trauma Audit (TARN)

100%

Chronic Neurodisability (NCEPOD)

In progress

Paediatric Intensive Care (PICANet)

100%

Cancer in Children, Teens and Young Adults (NCEPOD)
Renal Replacement Therapy (Renal Registry)

In progress
100%

National Outcomes Audit for Hypospadias

100%

Young People’s Mental Health (NCEPOD)

in progress

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry

100%

Table 2: Participation in National Clinical Audit / Confidential Enquiry
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Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

The reports of 11 national clinical audits and confidential enquiries were reviewed by the
provider in 2016/17 and BCH intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided:
National Clinical Audit / NCE

Action

Congenital Heart Disease (CHD)

BCH are now adhering to NCHDA submissions criteria with
quarterly submissions of data. During 2015-2016 there were
many problems with the new dataset that now appear to have
been overcome.

During 2016/17 6 national clinical audits and 1 national confidential enquires covered relevant
health services that BWNFT provides.
During that period BWNFT participated in 100% national clinical audits and national confidential
enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that BWNFT was eligible to
participate in during 2016/17 are as follows:

BCH have updated the discharge summary process and
documentation ensuring that there is a consistent approach for
data collection. BCH intend enhancing this to ensure that the
complications for surgery and cardiac catheters are recorded at
the time of discharge.
Changes are being incorporated in the PICU data collection
system to aid with the calculation of intubation days.
Radiation doses/screening times will be validated form the cath
lab system to ensure accuracy – this will be developed during
2016-2017 to be automated.
Data is extracted for reverse validation and any amendments
needed are made to both the local and NCHDA database.
Vital Signs in Children Clinical Audit
2015/16

l

National Maternity and Perinatal Audit (NMPA)

l

Patient Blood Management in adults undergoing elective, scheduled surgery.

l

FASP Diagnostic Laboratory Standards

l

National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP)

l

National Pregnancy in Diabetes Audit

l

MBRRACE-UK: Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risk through Audits and Confidential
Enquiries across the UK

		

All children attending the ED with a medical illness should have
a set of vital signs consisting of
(a) temperature, respiratory rate, heart rate, oxygen saturation,
GCS or AVPU score, and;
(b) capillary refill time recorded in the notes within 15 minutes
of arrival or triage, whichever is the earliest.

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that BWNFT participated in, and
for which data collection was completed during 2016/17, are listed below alongside the number
of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases
required by the terms of that audit or enquiry: (See table 4)

Children with any recorded abnormal vital signs should have a
further complete set of vital signs recorded in the notes within
60 minutes of the first set.

National Clinical Audit / Confidential Enquiry

Cases Submitted (Number/Percentage Reported)

National Maternity and perinatal Audit (NMPA)

Approx. 20,000 submissions (100%)
Participation in National Survey

There should be explicit evidence in the ED record that the
clinician recognised the abnormal vital signs (if present).

Patient Blood Management in adults undergoing
elective, scheduled surgery

1 submission (100%)

There should be documented evidence that the abnormal vital
signs (if present) were acted upon in all cases.

FASP Diagnostic Laboratory Standards

486 case notes (100%)

National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP)

1450 submissions (100%)

Children with any recorded persistently abnormal vital
signs who are subsequently discharged home should have
documented evidence of review by a senior doctor (ST4 or
above in emergency medicine or paediatrics, or equivalent nontraining grade doctor).

National Pregnancy in Diabetes Audit

61 submissions (56%)

MBRRACE-UK: Mothers and Babies: Reducing
Risk through Audits and Confidential Enquiries
across the UK

Stillbirths, 56, (includes 1 set of twins) - 6 of which
were Termination of pregnancy (TOP)
Early NND, 32 - 2 of which were TOP
Late NND, 11 - zero TOP

Table 3: National Clinical Audit / NCE Reports Reviewed

Late fetal loss, 17 - 6 of which were TOP

Table 4

83
83
83

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

The reports of 8 national clinical audits and confidential enquiries were reviewed by the provider
in 2016/17 and BWNFT intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare
provided:
National Clinical Audit / NCE

Action

National Neonatal Audit
Programme (NNAP) 2015
report

This report was received by the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee on 7th October 2016.

National Clinical Audit / NCE

Action

MBRRACE-UK Perinatal
Mortality Surveillance Report
2014

This report was received by the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee on 3rd June 2016.

As part of maternity CQUINN, a panel meets to review all perinatal
deaths using the SCOR perinatal tool.

The trust has reviewed the report and devised an action plan to address
the recommendations. This includes:-

MBRRACE-UK Saving Lives,
Improving Mothers’ Care
Report Launch

l Designated ‘Badger days’ performed by junior doctors to ensure

all data from the Retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) work book is
transferred over to the Badger system.

‘Pathway for pregnant women with an implantable cardiac defibrillator
(ICD) or a pacemaker’

temperatures in the neonatal admission book and there is now an
admission summary chart that is in all admission packs. This form
is completed by the nursing staff including what time the temperature
has been recorded. This form is given to the ward clerks to check
data entries against Lorenzo and is also stored in the patient’s notes.

l Changes to the Hypertension and Severe Pre Eclampsia guideline

l Consultant lead to ensure all data regarding two year follow ups is

l The reinstatement of the Maternity Early Warning System (MEWS)

to reflect the need for staff awareness that agitation and restlessness
may be a sign of an underlying problem in women with hypertension.

working party to generate initiatives to improve compliance with the early
recognition tool.

complete on Badger following clinic. This is completed each month.
This report was received by the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee on 7th October 2016.

National Pregnancy
Diabetes Audit Report
2015

The trust has reviewed the report and devised an action plan to address
the recommendations. This includes:There has been particular focus on 2 main areas-

The trust has reviewed the report and devised an action plan to address
the recommendations. This includes:the preconception clinic and plan how it could be optimised to provide
women with informative advice from a midwife perspective.

l Senior medical review within 24 hours of admission.

l Further liaison is required for continued contact with primary care

A recent local audit has been carried out on these areas to ensure
compliance. The team also hold bi-monthly badger meetings and have
just appointed a ‘Badger ward clerk’ to ensure data is put onto the
badger system accurately.

Part 1: Care Processes and
Outcomes

This report was received by the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee on 2nd December 2016.

l Diabetes Specialist Midwife (DSM) team to review the current role in

l Breast milk at discharge

National Paediatric Diabetes
Audit Report 2015-2016

This report was received by the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee on 20th January 2017 The trust has reviewed the report and
devised an action plan to address the recommendations. This includes:l The creation of a new Standard Operating Procedure (SOP)

l Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) document the admission

National Neonatal Audit
Programme 2016 Annual
Report on 2015 Data

The trust has reviewed the report and devised an action plan to address
the recommendations. This includes:-

and promoting early referral and strengthening the preconception care
pathway.

l To update the Preconception and Antenatal care guideline in order

for it to align with NICE 2015 recommendations.

This report was received by the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee on 1st July 2016 for information purposes as it does not
relate to the care provided at BWNFT.

Table 5
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National Clinical Audit / NCE

Action

The Second Patient Report
of the National Emergency
Laparotomy Audit

This report was received by the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee on 5th August 2016

Re-audit: KIDS ventilator audit
As a result of the audit findings a new collection tool has been implemented into practice and
reaudited to ensure it has been embedded into practice. Staff members also now hold daily
morning meetings where they discuss all the ventilated transfers to ensure efficient and effective
practice.

The trust has reviewed the report and devised an action plan to
address the recommendations. This includes:-

Re-audit: Traction for femoral fracture in children

l Setting up a joint meeting with University Hospital Birmingham (UHB)
or inviting UHB surgeons to GMAP when an emergency laparotomy
occurs for bowel surgery.

l

		

l Clinical lead for EPAU and acute gynaecology to report to Clinical
Improvement Group with audit data on emergency laparotomy
annually.
National clinical audit
of biological therapies

l

		
		

This report was received by the Clinical Assurance and Safety
Committee on 7th October 2016 for information only.

l

		

Annual report September 2016

l

		
		

Local clinical audits

l

		

Quality of discharge summaries based on national guidelines
The findings of this audit highlighted the need for a standard template for discharge summaries.

		
		

A presentation including the findings of the audit was delivered to the nursing staff at the
cancer speciality meeting and a haematology MDT to ensure staff is aware of this and
implement it into practice.

This audit highlighted the need for improvement in documentation within the eye department. As
a result of the audit the following actions have been taken:

The reports of 24 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17 and BCH
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:

l

The audit demonstrated that nurses and medical staff needed further education on the
use of ondansetron and re-education on the updated policy.

Eye department note keeping audit

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

		
		

The results and action plan were discussed with the Ward manager of ward 5, who is
taking forward the responsibility of ensuring the continual use of balanced traction daily
care chart to maintain 100% compliance.

Are we following the Anti-Emetic Guidelines for medicines given upon discharge?

UK inflammatory
bowel disease (IBD) audit

l

Regular training sessions are now held for new staff involved in Traction for femoral
fracture patients. The Ward in charge is responsible for deliverance of this training.

The team has designed this and implemented it on the IRWIN UNIT, CAMHS. The
template includes all the necessary information required for a discharge summary and
this has been discussed and agreed at the QIF meeting.

A new crib sheet has been implemented into practice to improve on time recording and
also to document who accompanies the patient to the appointment.

l

Staff have been provided with fob watches to ensure time is documented.

l

Staff have been given stamps, which detail their name and profession.

Tracheostomy confidence in PICU
The results of this audit were presented at Research and National Audits meeting for PICU.

In addition to this staff training was undertaken with regards to the new discharge
summary and the information has been included in the Junior Doctor’s Induction for
in-patient units and has also been included in the induction folder.

l

		

A teaching session around tracheostomy confidence was piloted with the PICU medical
staff and this was well received within the team.

l A long-term teaching plan going-forward is being drafted and a framework is currently in
		development.
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HDU chart documentation audit
The findings of this audit highlighted practice was variable and requires improvement overall. To
address this, the team held a teaching session for HDU midwives regarding documentation so
that key areas were explained and rolled out to staff.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
The reports of 109 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17 and BWNFT
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:
The following is a sample of actions arising from clinical audits undertaken and reviewed in
2016/17:

Reducing the risk of infection associated with special feed preparation
The audit findings were presented at the Nutrition meeting and the Infection Control meeting
where a discussion was held focusing on what measures can be put in place to improve system
and facilities.

Neuropathy Panel Audit and Quality Improvement Project
The results of this audit highlighted clinicians should request a PMP22 duplication test for every
patient with neuropathy being considered for a neuropathy panel, before requesting the
neuropathy panel.

As a result of this audit a chart has been developed that highlights to all staff the correct
procedure for preparing milk feeds. This has been emailed out to staff, covered in educational
sessions, and has been placed on the work surface in the milk kitchen for staff to refer to.

Andrology Essence of care audit June 2016
The need for the patient information leaflets to be sent out with the patient’s appointment letter
was highlighted in the audit findings. To address this, the booking office are now sending
patients information leaflets with all appointments.

New born blood spot screening
Following the results of this audit on-going joint monthly meetings between maternity are
neonates are now taking place where they discuss trust guidelines and report from recent
events that have taken place in Maternity, Community and Neonates. A new born screening lead
was also appointed to post to drive this area forward.

Non-invasive Prenatal testing (NIPT) confirmation testing following invasive prenatal
sampling
This audit was presented nationally and internationally at the RCOG world congress - 2016, to
highlight the importance of patient counselling for appropriate NIPT test menus and appropriate
invasive sampling following high risk NIPT results. It was recommended that invasive sampling
for high risk NIPT results is by amniotic fluid, as opposed to CVS, especially for non-Down
syndrome indications and where the scan findings are not consistent.

Drug prescribing on the neonatal unit
The audit highlighted the need for an updated drug chart which has been designed and currently
being implemented into practice.

Participation in research

Fluid balance charts
The audit highlighted areas for improvements with regards to completing the fluid chart. As a
result of this a teaching session was held for staff and health care assistants to ensure staff
apply a safe and consistent approach to the assessment, the recording and the monitoring of an
individual patient’s intake and output.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by Birmingham
Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust between 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 that were
recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee
was 2107 for NIHR Portfolio studies. This is 24% above our target for the period.

Patient has been allocated a key worker (Gynaecology)
The Gynaecology Directorate will now promote the key worker policy and review the process for
contacting the key worker prior to relaying a cancer diagnosis within the Gynaecology
Directorate.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by Birmingham
Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust between 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 that were
recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee
was 3282 for NIHR Portfolio studies. This is 73% of our target for the period.

Audit care round charts
As a result of the audit findings, new care round charts have been designed and are being
implemented.
Aspirin Audit
The Hypertension guideline and Antenatal Care guideline has been reviewed and are now
both are benchmarked and fully compliant to the current NICE guidance on Hypertension in
Pregnancy with regard to the prescribing of low dose aspirin.
Intermittent Auscultation Audit
The NEWTT guideline has been reviewed and the NEWTT charts are in use in the Maternity
Directorate. The guideline incorporates the monitoring of babies who have been born through
meconium.
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Use of the CQUIN payment framework

CCG (FTB)
Subtotal

2.500%

£646,118

£0

NHSE

Clinical Utilisation Review

0.600%

£856,995

All Targets Met

£0

NHSE

Enhanced Supportive Care

0.360%

£514,197

All Targets Met

£0

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

NHSE

CAMHS Screening of LTC
Patients

0.100%

£142,833

All Targets Met

£0

A proportion of Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s income in 2016/17 was
conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and any person or body they entered
into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, through the
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework.

NHSE

Improving Haemoglobinopathy
Pathways

0.070%

£99,983

Targets Not Met

£59,990

NHSE

Improving Access for Spinal
Deformity Patients

0.700%

£999,828

Targets Not Met

£130,748

NHSE

Improving CAMHS Pathways

0.100%

£142,833

All Targets Met

£0

The value of the CCG CQUIN schemes is the equivalent of 2.5% of contract income excluding
drugs and devices. The value of NHSE CQUIN schemes is the equivalent of 2% of the acute
contract income excluding drugs and devices (See table 6).

NHSE

Chemocare Prescribing
System

0.070%

£99,983

All Targets Met

£0

2.000%

£2,866,651

£190,738

£4,490,812

£281,171

Goals agreed with commissioners

Commissioner

CQUIN Scheme

CQUIN
weighting

Value of
CQUIN

Projected Year
End Performance

Projected
Lost
Income

NHSE
Subtotal
Grand Total

Table 6: Schemes agreed for Commissioning Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) framework
2016/17

CCGs (acute)

Health and Wellbeing Option B

0.250%

£97,804

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Health Food for Staff, Visitors
& Patients

0.250%

£97,804

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Flu Vaccination for Clinical
Staff

0.250%

£97,804

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Sepsis (ED)

0.125%

£48,902

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Sepsis (Inpatients)

0.125%

£48,902

Targets Not Met

£12,190

CCGs (acute)

Antimicrobial Resistance

0.200%

£78,243

Targets Not Met

£78,243

CCGs (acute)

Antimicrobial Stewardship

0.050%

£19,561

All Targets Met

£0

% of income not achieved

CCGs (acute)

Nutrition & Hydration

0.450%

£176,048

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Safeguarding

0.400%

£156,487

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Paediatric Medication Safety
Thermometer

0.400%

£156,487

All Targets Met

£0

2.500%

£978,043

CCG (acute)
Subtotal

The monetary total for the amount of income conditional upon achieving CQUIN goals in
2016/17 and the monetary total for the associated payment in 2015/16 are detailed below (see
table 7):

Health and Wellbeing Option B

0.250%

£64,638

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (FTB)

Health Food for Staff, Visitors
& Patients

0.250%

£64,638

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (FTB)

Flu Vaccination for Clinical
Staff

0.250%

£64,638

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (FTB)

Improving Physical Healthcare

0.583%

£150,735

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (FTB)

Resilience

0.583%

£150,735

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (FTB)

Early Intervention

0.583%

£150,735

All Targets Met

£0

2016/17

Total value of CQUIN targets (based on planned income)

£4,410,982

£4,490,812

Income not achieved

£114,441

£281,171

2.6%

6.3%

Table 7: CQUIN income data 2015/16 and 2016/17
Further details of the agreed goals for 2016/17 and for the following 12 month period are
available electronically at www.bch.nhs.uk

£90,433

CCGs (FTB)

2015/16

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
A proportion of BWNFT income in 2016/17 was conditional upon achieving quality improvement
and innovation goals agreed between BWNFT and any person or body they entered into a
contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of relevant health services, through
the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework.
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Statements from the CQC

The total value of the income due to CQUIN payments for 2015/16 is £1,685,612. The value
achieved for 2016/17 that was conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation
goals was £1,605,994 (See Table 8).
Commissioner

CQUIN Scheme

CQUIN
weighting

Value of
CQUIN

Projected Year End
Performance

Projected
Lost Income

CCGs (acute)

Health and
Wellbeing Option
B

0.25%

£110,733

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Health Food for
Staff, Visitors &
Patients

0.25%

£110,733

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Flu Vaccination for
Clinical Staff

0.25%

110,733

Partially Met – 50%
Penalty

£55,366

CCGs (acute)

Sepsis (ED)

0.125%

55,366

Partially Met – 21%
Penalty

£11,627

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) and its current registration status is registered with the CQC with no
conditions. The CQC has not taken enforcement action against the Trust during 2016/17.
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in any special
reviews or investigations by the CQC during the reporting period.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) and its current registration status is registered with the CQC with no
conditions. The CQC has not taken enforcement action against the Trust during 2016/17.
Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in any special
reviews or investigations by the CQC during the reporting period.

CCGs (acute)

Sepsis (Inpatients)

0.125%

55,366

Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Antimicrobial
Resistance

0.2%

£88,586

Targets Met

£0

NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity

CCGs (acute)

Antimicrobial
Stewardship

0.05%

£22,147

All Targets Met

£0

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

CCGs (acute)

Learning - Positive
incidents

0.3125%

£138,416

All Targets Met

£0

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during 2016/17 to the
Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the
latest published data. The percentage of records in the published data:

CCGs (acute)

Always Events

0.3125%

£138,416

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

Safeguarding

0.3125%

£138,416

All Targets Met

£0

CCGs (acute)

MDT Perinatal
Mortality

0.3125%

£138,416

All Targets Met

£0

2.500%

£1,107,328

CCG (acute)
Subtotal

Which included the patient’s valid NHS number was:

£66,993

l

99.0% for admitted patient care.

l

99.5% for outpatient care.

l

99.2% for accident and emergency care.

NHSE

Neonatal unit
admissions

1%

£282,829

All Targets Met

£0

NHSE

Mainstreaming
through extending
Project Generate

1%

£282,827

All Targets Met

£0

2.000%

£565,658

£0

l

100% for admitted patient care.

£1,672,986

£66,993

l

99.9% for outpatient care.

l

99.9% for Accident and Emergency care.

NHSE
Subtotal
Grand Total

Which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was:

Table 8: Schemes agreed for Commissioning Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) framework
2016/17
Further details of the agreed goals for 2016/17 and for the following 12 month period are
available electronically at: www.bwnft.nhs.uk/reports
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Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

Data Quality

Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during 2016/17 to the
Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in
the latest published data. The percentage of records in the published data:

Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the following actions
to improve data quality:
Action 1: Ensure that the current Data Quality Policy & Strategy is updated to reflect the
newly integrated organisation.

Which included the patient’s valid NHS number was:
l

99.6% for admitted patient care

l

99.8% for outpatient care

Action 2: Produce a Data Quality Assurance Framework which will contain details on how
the Trust will effectively monitor the quality of its performance indicators.
Action 3: Expand the remit of the current Data Quality group to include focus on all Key ICT
systems and implement ‘Themed’ reviews of key subject matters, including clinical coding
and waiting list management.

Which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was:
l

100% for admitted patient care

l

100% for outpatient care

Action 4: Increase awareness and data capture for data items including NHS Number,
Patient Ethnicity and dates around the decision to admit patients.

The percentage for Accident and Emergency care is not Applicable to the Trust.

Action 5: Manage the Data Quality audit programme. Ensuring learning from issues raised
are implemented and shared across the organisation.

Information governance toolkit attainment levels

Action 6: Ensure there is one comprehensive list of Information Assets across the
organisation, which identifies Asset owners and measures compliance on each of these
having effective ICT and Business procedures to support DQ

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance Assessment
Report overall score for 2016/17 was 65% and was graded as green.

Action 7: Implement the Trusts Informatics Strategy which includes the continued creation
of the Data Warehouse and the vision to make this the primary information source for
performance management.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance Assessment
Report overall score for 2016/17 was 60% and was graded as green.

Audited indicators

Clinical coding error rate
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the Payment by
Results clinical coding audit during 2016/17 by the Audit Commission.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the Payment by
Results clinical coding audit during 2016/17 by the Audit Commission.

Indicator

2016/17
Performance

1) Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete
pathways at the end of the reporting period

BWH 96.3%
BWH 92%

2) A&E 4 hour wait (Birmingham Children’s Hospital Only)

95.1%

3) Quality Priority: Cancelled Operations
Percentage of all planned operations cancelled on the day (Target: 1.2%)
Number of All Hospital Cancellations BCH (No national target)

BCH 1.9%
BWH 1.5%
3219

Table 9
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Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described
for the following reasons:

Data assurances and actions for improvement
The assurance work undertaken by Deloitte LLP in respect of the Quality Report 2016/17
led to a qualified conclusion on the accuracy of the reported 18 week Referral to Treatment
incomplete pathway indicator.

The Quarterly Mental Health Community Teams Activity return collects data on the number of
patients on Care Programme Approach (CPA) followed up within 7 days of discharge from
psychiatric inpatient care, and the number of inpatient admissions gate kept by Crisis
Resolution Home Treatment (CRHT) teams.

The Trust has put in place an action plan in order to address the concerns identified. This plan
includes a review of the procedures required to achieve good data quality at the point of
entry. In addition, the plan outlines initiatives to enhance skills and training of the clinical and
administrative teams who are involved with RTT pathway management. By getting this right first
time, we will reduce the validation burden down-stream.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve this, and so the quality of its services, by:
We will continue to monitor our performance on an ongoing basis.

A detailed action plan alongside progress reports will be reported through the Trust’s Audit
Committee. The accountable lead for the delivery of this action plan will be the Chief Operating
Officer. Breaches will be reviewed to ensure there were no lapses in care and adverse effects
on patient safety.

2.3 Core Quality Indicators

19. The data made available to the National Health Service trust or NHS foundation trust by
the NHS Digital with regard to the percentage of patients aged—
(i) 0 to 15; and
(ii) 16 or over,
Readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the trust within 28 days of being discharged
from a hospital which forms part of the trust during the reporting period.

Due to the time it takes central bodies to collate and publish some of the data, sometimes
comparative figures are not available at all (N/A).

This indicator is valid for both Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham
Women’s Hospital

There are several core national indicators that are either not applicable to Birmingham
Children’s Hospital and/or Birmingham Women’s Hospital, due to the specialist nature of many
of our services. Where the indicator is only relevant to either Birmingham Children’s Hospital
or Birmingham Women’s Hospital, this will be stated below. Where the indicator is applicable to
both, this information is provided in separate tables.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

2015/16

17. The data made available to the National Health Service Trust or NHS Foundation Trust
by NHS Digital with regard to the percentage of admissions to acute wards for which the
Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team acted as a gatekeeper during the reporting period.

Age Group

%

0-15

13.28%

16 or over

20.99%

All ages

13.35%

All ages

N/A

2016/17

Age Group

%

0-15

N/A

16 or over

N/A

Table 11

This indicator is valid for Birmingham Children’s Hospital only

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described
for the following reasons:

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
BCH 2015/16

BCH 2016/17

Trust Average
2016

Lowest Trust

Highest Trust

N/A*

98.4%**

98.7%**

92.3%**

100%**

No comparative figures have been provided by NHS Digital. Internal figures for total
readmissions are provided below:
We had 848 emergency readmissions in 1617 within 28 days (with the exclusion criteria applied
e.g. cancer, day cases etc) With 15501 emergency admissions in total (5.5%).

Table 10

Due to the nature of paediatric care readmissions do not always indicate a gap in care.
Readmissions continue to be monitored on a specialty by specialty basis to identify any areas
of concern. No specific areas of concern have been identified in 2016/17.

*Relevant services were not provided during 2015/16
**Data only available on NHS Digital up to Q3
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The Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions
to improve this, and so the quality of its services, by:
We will continue to monitor readmissions on a specialty by specialty basis and investigate any
areas of concern.

2015/16

%

0-15

1.6%

16 or over

2.89%

All ages

2016/17

Age Group

%

0-15

2.1*

16 or over

1.21**
5.6***

BCH 2016/17

Trust Average
2016

Lowest Trust

Highest Trust

72.5%

73.8%

69.6%

58.9%

86.2%

Table 13

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
Age Group

BCH 2015/16

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the
following reasons:
This is based on five questions within the national inpatient survey which are combined to give a
composite score. It covers the following areas;
1. Involvement in decisions regarding care and treatment.
2. Finding people to talk to about worries and fears.
3. Were you told who to contact after discharge if you were worried about your condition.
4. Privacy when discussing treatment.
5. Information regarding medication side effects on discharge.

All ages

Table 12
Internal Figures - No comparative NHS Digital data
*Neonatal readmission rate within 28 days of delivery date (excluding planned readmissions and
babies that are readmitted because their mothers are unwell) (%)
**Emergency readmission rate 28 days after surgery – Gynae
***Emergency readmission within 30 days of deliverys - Obs

This survey has highlighted the many positive aspects of the patient experience.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the
following reasons:
No comparative figures have been provided by NHS Digital. Internal figures are provided.

l

Overall: 89% rated care 7+ out of 10.

l

Overall: Treated with respect and dignity 86%.

l

Doctors: Always had confidence and trust 89%.

l

Any adult admitted who is classed as ‘well’ but was admitted because of the patient’s baby has
been excluded from 16/17 figure.
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust intends to take/has taken the following actions to
improve this, and so the quality of its services, by:

Hospital: Room or ward was very/fairly clean 98%.

l

Hospital: Toilets and bathrooms were very/fairly clean 92%.

l

Care: Always enough privacy when being examined or treated 91%.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this,
and so the quality of its services, by:

We will continue to monitor closely monitor and report on readmissions and investigate any
areas of concern.

We have developed a Patient Experience and Engagement Strategy, linked to our Quality
Strategy, which sets out four aims and clarifies the definitions of family and patient centred care.
The four aims are detailed below.

20. The data made available to the National Health Service Trust or NHS Foundation Trust
by NHS Digital with regard to the Trust’s responsiveness to the personal needs of its
patients during the reporting period.

Aim 1: Develop a culture where families, parents and patients are the centre of our
service

This indicator is valid for Birmingham Women’s Hospital only
The data made available to the Trust by NHS Digital with regard to the trust’s responsiveness to
the personal needs of its patients during the reporting period.

This includes a commitment to involve patients as in service design and redesign.
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Aim 2: Develop a culture that supports continuous improvement of the patient experience
l

Build and refine sustainable feedback to improvement loops.

l

Listen to feedback, identify themes and act.

l

Make it easy for users to feedback.

l

Empower staff through appropriate governance to be part of the conversation and
solution creation.

		
l

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve this, and so the quality of its services, by:
The 2016 Staff Survey reflected many areas of good practice and positive results that we should
be proud of, further demonstrating the commitment, resilience and determination of our staff to
deliver the best possible care and services despite the challenges they face. However, there are
a number of areas where we can focus to bring about change and improvement during 2017/18.
Following the integration of the Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and
Birmingham Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust we have reviewed the staff survey data
and considered how this may have looked if done as one survey across both organisations to
inform our 2017/18 priorities as follows:

Engage with future service users for inclusion and planning.

Aim 3: Deliver excellent services and respond rapidly to information telling us we are not

l

Continued development of team working.

l

Contribution to improvement – A clear plan demonstrating how we grow “bottom up”
improvement and embed this as a culture.

		

This includes a commitment to respond dynamically to Patient Feedback in order to improve the
patient experience and to ensure that concerns and issues are resolved appropriately, without
the need for formal complaint.
Aim 4: Build the brand of the Trust: Excellent Service, Care, Quality and Experience for
all our parents, patients and families

l

Harassment, bullying, discrimination – Improved focus.

l

Well-being culture – more work is required to understand how we can make staff less
pressured to attend work when unwell and reduce work related stress.

		

This reflects the intention to demonstrate to the public that BWH provides an excellent patient
experience from the start of the patient journey to the end.

l

BME staff – ensuring equitable treatment*.

*BME staff at the Trust did not feel they were treated in an equitable way to those from other
backgrounds. BME staff views on equality in career progression have declined at both sites, and
more staff are saying they are experiencing discrimination. The Board is focussed on ensuring
actions taken in relation to BME staff feeling they are treated in a different way to other groups
are robust and address all concerns raised.

21. The data made available to the National Health Service trust or NHS foundation trust by
the NHS Digital with regard to the percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the
trust during the reporting period who would recommend the trust as a provider of care to their
family or friends (KF1).

We will discuss these areas of focus with a range of stakeholders to develop plans for
improvement. We will develop a full improvement plan and communicate this during May 2017.
The plan will include an ambition for improvement target.

This indicator is valid for both Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham
Women’s Hospital

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

We will continuously monitor our progress against the plan through our Workforce Committee.

BCH 2015

BCH 2016

Acute Specialist
Trust Average
2016

Lowest Acute
Specialist Trust

Highest Acute
Specialist Trust

4.13

4.19

4.12

3.74

4.28

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

Table 14

BCH 2015

BCH 2016

Acute Specialist
Trust Average
2016

Lowest Acute
Specialist Trust

Highest Acute
Specialist Trust

3.86

3.75

4.12

3.74

4.28

Table 15

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described
for the following reasons:

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the
following reasons:

This data is provided by the national NHS Staff Survey. Section 2 of the full and summary
feedback reports contains an overall indicator of staff engagement. This has been calculated
using the responses to nine individual questions which make up three Key Findings related to
staff engagement.
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Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the
following reasons:

24. The data made available to the National Health Service trust or NHS foundation trust
by NHS Digital with regard to the rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C difficile infection
reported within the trust amongst patients aged 2 or over during the reporting period.

This data is provided by the national NHS Staff Survey. Section 2 of the full and summary
feedback reports contains an overall indicator of staff engagement. This has been calculated
using the responses to nine individual questions which make up three Key Findings related to
staff engagement.

This indicator is valid for both Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham
Women’s Hospital

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve
this, and so the quality of its services, by:

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

The 2016 Staff Survey was conducted during a period of significant change for the organisation,
so a dip in results was not entirely unexpected.

BCH 2015/16

BCH 2016/17

Acute Specialist
Trust
Average 2016/17

The plan outlined above in the The Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
section has been developed across the newly integrated organisation.

0.9 (2 cases)

1.1 (2 cases)

Not available

Table 17

23. The data made available to the National Health Service Trust or NHS Foundation Trust
by NHS Digital with regard to the percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and
who were risk assessed for venous thromboembolism during the reporting period.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described
for the following reasons:

This indicator is valid for Birmingham Women’s Hospital only

C difficile infection is an important aspect of infection control and we monitor this regularly.
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust intends has taken the following actions
to improve this, and so the quality of its services, by:

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
BCH 2015/16

BCH 2016 /17

Acute Specialist
Trust Average
2016 /17

Lowest Acute
Trust

Highest Acute
Specialist Trust

97.7%

98.6%

95.64%

76.48%

100%

The two reported cases of c-diff both related to haematology/oncology patients and were
investigated using root cause analysis.
Case one
There was a reported case on a ward 15 with a patient diagnosed during August 2016. The root
cause was not identified, but misdiagnosis of a urinary tract infection, which resulted in three
days of possibly unnecessary antibiotic treatment was noted as a contributory factor.

Table 16
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the
following reasons:

Case two
There was another reported case on ward 15 with a patient diagnosed during October 2016.
The root cause was not identified; the patient was transferred from another hospital. Care at
BCH was considered to be appropriate.

The data is collected and reported on a monthly basis.
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve
this, and so the quality of its services, by:

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

We will continue to monitor our performance on a monthly basis and address any concerns
identified

BCH 2015/16

BCH 2016/17

Acute Specialist
Trust
Average 2016/17

0

0

Not available

Table 18
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Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust considers that this rate is as described for the
following reasons:

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to
improve this, and so the quality of its services, by:

We have not had a case of Clostridium Difficile since 2010/11.

l

		

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve
this percentage to improve this, and so the quality of its services, by:

l We take actions to address safety issues identified through safety monitoring and
		analysis.

To ensure that our performance is maintained we will continuing to implement and audit the
Trust Infection Control Programme.

l

		

25. The data made available to the National Health Service trust or NHS foundation trust
by NHS Digital with regard to the number and, where available, rate of patient safety
incidents reported within the trust during the reporting period, and the number and
percentage of such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm or death.

l

		
l

This indicator is valid for both Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham
Women’s Hospital

		

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Number of Patient
Safety Incidents

April –
September
2015

October
2015 –
March
2016

Acute Specialist
Trusts October 2015
– March 2016

April –
September
2016

October
2016 –
March
2017

1671

1626

Highest: 2666
Lowest: 334
Average: 1312

2363*

2155*

37.8

35

Highest: 142
Lowest: 16
Average: 57

43.26

Not
available

Number of patient
safety incidents
resulting in severe
harm/death

4

5

Highest: 9
Lowest: 0
Average: 2

6*

10*

% of patient safety
incidents resulting
in severe
harm/death

0.2%

0.3%

Highest: 0.6
Lowest: 0
Average: 0.1

Not
available

Not
available

We carry out regular audits of incident reports to identify any staff groups, wards or
departments that may not be reporting all incidents.
A lower than expected number of reported incidents is one of the measures we use to
identify possible issues on wards or departments through our Safety Dashboard.
The management response to incidents is monitored to ensure that incidents are
adequately investigated and feedback provided to staff and families.

l

We maintain a programme for disseminating lessons learnt from our incidents.

l

Incidents are analysed to identify themes and significant safety issues. We endeavour to
link incidents to our risk assessments in order to ensure on-going issues can be
monitored through our risk register.

		
		

l We triangulate our incidents with other sources of feedback, including patient experience
		data.
l

Rate of Patient Safety
Incidents

We investigate and learn from incidents with focus on those which cause or have
potential to cause most harm in line with the NHS Serious Incident Framework.

		
		

In addition to monitoring implementation of specific actions arising from serious incident
investigations, we have developed a programme to review the effectiveness of our
solutions to ensure they continue to mitigate risks.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has seen an increase in the rate of
reporting PSIs since the introduction of the NRLS. In 2008/9 we were ranked 17th against 21
other acute specialist trusts. In 2016 we were ranked 9th against 18 other acute specialist
trusts.

Table 19
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described
for the following reasons:
The most recent data has not yet been published by NHS Digital and no national comparative
figures are available from March 2016. We have instead provided the data for 2016/17 where
possible, indicated by *.
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Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
April –
September
2015

October
2015 –
March
2016

Acute Specialist
Trusts October 2015
– March 2016

April –
September
2016

October
2016 –
March
2017

Number of Patient
Safety Incidents

629

1026

Highest: 2666
Lowest: 334
Average: 1312

1110*

943*

Rate of Patient Safety
Incidents

36.1

66.3

Highest: 142
Lowest: 16
Average: 57

81.46*

Not
available

Number of patient
safety incidents
resulting in severe
harm/death

2

3

Highest: 9
Lowest: 0
Average: 2

3*

2*

% of patient safety
incidents resulting
in severe
harm/death

0.11

0.19

Highest: 0.6
Lowest: 0
Average: 0.1

Not
available

Not
available

l

We maintain a programme for disseminating lessons learnt from our incidents/

l

Incidents are analysed to identify themes and significant safety issues. We endeavour to
link incidents to our risk assessments in order to ensure on-going issues can be
monitored through our risk register.

		
		

l We triangulate our incidents with other sources of feedback, including patient experience
		data.
l

		
		

In addition to monitoring implementation of specific actions arising from serious incident
investigations, we have developed a programme to review the effectiveness of our
solutions to ensure they continue to mitigate risks.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust has seen a significant increase in the rate of
reporting PSIs in comparison to other acute specialist Trusts, since the introduction of the
NRLS.
In 2008/9 we were ranked 20th against 21 other acute specialist trusts. In 2016 we were ranked
5th against 18 other acute specialist trusts.

Table 20
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the
following reasons:
The most recent data has not yet been published by NHS Digital and no national comparative
figures are available from March 2016. We have instead provided the data for 2016/17 from the
NRLS report and from our internal risk management systems, indicated by *.
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust intends to take/has taken the following actions to
improve this, and so the quality of its services, by:
l

		

We investigate and learn from incidents with focus on those which cause or have
potential to cause most harm in line with the NHS Serious Incident Framework.

l We take actions to address safety issues identified through safety monitoring and 		
		analysis.
l

		
l

		
l

		

We carry out regular audits of incident reports to identify any staff groups, wards or
departments that may not be reporting all incidents.
A lower than expected number of reported incidents is one of the measures we use to
identify possible issues on wards or departments through our Safety Dashboard.
The management response to incidents is monitored to ensure that incidents are
adequately investigated and feedback provided to staff and families.
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3. Other information

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
% positive response: Friends and Family Test (Inpatient)

3.1 Quality Indicators

% positive response: Friends and Family Test (ED)

The integration of the two hospitals provides an opportunity to review these supplementary
indicators and ensure that they, together with the local priorities, provide a comprehensive
view of the care provided to the whole family by the two hospitals that comprise Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

% positive response: Friends and Family Test (OPD)
% positive response: Friends and Family Test (CAMHS)

New 2016/17 Indicators
100

The indicators below (see table 21) have been selected because they are applicable across the
organisation incorporating data from Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham Women’s
Hospital.

90
80
70

Supplementary Indicators 2016/17
Patient Experience

Clinical Effectiveness

Safety

60

l Friends & Family Test (FFT)

l Administration of IV

l Incidence of SIRIs and Never
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l PALS Contacts

antibiotics within 1 hour of
confirmed sepsis

Graph 10: % of positive FFT responses 2016/17

Table 21: Figures are provided from internal Trust systems unless otherwise stated.

Patient experience
Friends and Family Test (FTT) The Friends and Family Test was launched in 2013 and has
been rolled out in phases to most NHS funded services in England. The survey gives all
patients the opportunity to leave feedback on their care and treatment. It is an important
feedback tool which asks if people would recommend the services they have used and offers
a range of responses: extremely likely, likely, neither likely nor unlikely, unlikely, extremely
unlikely and don’t know. The ‘Percentage Positive’ score is calculated from these responses and
reported nationally. This along with additional follow up questions provides organisations with
the chance to capture both positive and negative feedback. The data can be used to provide
a broad measure of comparable data, but more importantly can be used to contribute to the
improvement of services and share examples of good practice.
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FFT data is combined with other forms of Patient Experience data and key themes identified
during 2016/17 include are detailed below (See Graphs 11 and 12).

Values and Behaviours (Staff)

Excellence of care of my precious son. Kindness and compassion to our
family. Nothing was ever too much bother, you always had time to answer
questions. Every single member of staff was kind and clearly skilled at
these jobs (PICU)

Patient Care

Excellent care from friendly and professional staff. I have no idea how you
do it. so many skills required. I truly admire what you do and the way you
do it. thank you all very much (Ward 9)

Waiting Times

Didn’t have to wait too long and there was plenty for my son to do in the
waiting areas (ED)

Communications

Excellent communication, I was always informed and updated staff were
very friendly (PAU)

Play

More teenage games to play e.g draughts, cards. (Ward 7)
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Table 22: Top Category Comment Themes
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Graph 13 : % of positive FFT Responses 2016/17
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Clinic and Ward Managers are proactively involved in the FFT initiative, whereby they are
provided with real time feedback via the FFT dashboard, identifying key statistics for the month.

20

The key themes highlighted through FFT data 16/17 include are detailed below (see graph 14).
An update is provided through the Quality & Safety Board report detailing the key themes from
our FFT responses on a monthly basis.
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Graph 14: FFT by category 2016/17
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Graph 16: Birmingham Children’s Hospital & Birmingham Women’s Hospital formal
complaints 2016/17
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Graph 15: Birmingham Children’s Hospital & Birmingham Women’s Hospital formal
total complaints for the past 3 years

98
98
98

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

The following graph (graph 17) shows the numbers of complaints received by category. It should
be noted that complaints can be multi-factorial and therefore the total number of complaints by
category is greater than the total number of complaints received.

The following graph (Graph 18) shows the numbers of complaints received by category. As
described above, complaints can be multi-factorial and therefore the total number of complaints
by category is greater than the total number of complaints received.
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Privacy, Dignity & Wellbeing (PDW)

Consent to Treatment

Prescribing

Communication and Information

Patient Care

Clinical Treatment

Other

Attitude to Staff

Integrated Care (Including Delayed Discharge Due t

Inpatient Appointment Cancelled or Delayed

Information And Communication

Outpatient Appointment Cancelled or Delayed

Facilities

Aids, Application, Equipment

End of Life Care

Admission, discharge, Transfer

Consent

0

Communications

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Graph 18: Complaints by category 2016/17

Clinical Treatment

Through previous analysis we have identified to specifically track the following themes identified
not just through complaints but through all forms of patient experience feedback on a monthly
basis through the Quality & Safety Board report and have specific work-streams in place to
address each of these key areas:

Appointmenst
Admissions and Discharges (Excluding Delayed Discharge)
Access to Treatment of Drugs
Access to Service and Waiting

Graph 17: Complaints by category 2016/17
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Through previous analysis we have identified to specifically track the following themes on a
monthly basis through the Quality & Safety Board report and have specific work-streams in
place to address each of these key areas:
l
l
l
l
l

Lack of breastfeeding support including tongue tie
Food
Partner care
Noise at night
Delays in the antenatal clinic/scan

An update is provided to Board on these areas every month. Cancelled operations remains one
of our 2017/18 local priorities as described previously.

Cancelled Operations
Prolonged fasting
Food
Play
Not listened to

An update is provided to Board on these areas every month. Cancelled operations remains one
of our 2017/18 local priorities as described previously.
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PALS contacts

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
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Graph 21: Top 5 PALS categories - 2016/17

200

PALS contacts received corresponding to those key workstreams identified in the previous
section relating to formal complaints are also monitored on a monthly basis and any emerging
themes triangulated with other data sources to inform the Board about emerging risks.
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Graph 19: Birmingham Children’s Hospital & Birmingham Women’s Hospital formal total
PALS contacts for the past 3 years
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Graph 22: Top 5 PALS categories - 2016/17

60

PALS contacts received corresponding to those key workstreams identified in the previous
section relating to formal complaints are also monitored on a monthly basis and any emerging
themes triangulated with other data sources to inform the Board about emerging risks. We have
noted an increase across all forms of feedback regarding lack of communication, including
patients not listened to.
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Graph 20: Birmingham Children’s Hospital & Birmingham Women’s Hospital PALS
contacts 2016/17
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Below (graph 23) is a combined score of FFT and PALS ‘need to improve’ contacts received for
the year 2016/17 aligned to the key work streams.

Clinical Effectiveness
Administration of IV antibiotics within 1 hour of confirmed sepsis

Workstreams (PALS & FFT TOTAL)
Organisation/Responsiveness of Triage and Delivery Suite
Not listened to
Breastfeeding support/tounge-tie
Food
Partner Care
Noise at night
Organisation/Responsiveness of Antenatal Clinics

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
A national CQUIN requires that we audit the timely administration of antibiotics for patients with
severe sepsis, Red Flag Sepsis or septic shock. This applies to all inpatients or newly admitted
patients to inpatient areas other than the Emergency Department.
A point of note is that although the CQUIN requires that we identify patients using the standard
A40/A41 sepsis codes, this would not include those paediatric patients with neonatal sepsis.
These patients are coded separately using the codes P360-365, P368, P369. Since neonatal
sepsis is just as important to manage appropriately as sepsis in older age groups, we have
included these additional sepsis codes in our data collection (See table 23).
Apr
16

May
16

Jun
16

Jul
16

Aug
16

Sep
16

Oct
16

Nov
16

Dec
16

Jan
17

Feb
17

Mar
17

Number of patient episodes
identified as coded for sepsis
(A40/A41, P360-365,

34

21

28

42

31

21

9

41

44

36

28

37

Number of case notes
reviewed

32

21

27

35

31

21

28

30

30

29

20

30

Excluded as diagnosed with
possible sepsis in ED (see
separate CQUIN)

16

13

16

22

20

17

20

22

24

20

16

27

Excluded as admitted from
another hospital with possible
sepsis already on broad
spectrum antibiotics at time
of admission (and no other
?sepsis episode during
admission)

2

5

7

7

5

2

2

6

5

6

1

1

Excluded as did not have
Severe Sepsis/Red Flag
Sepsis/Septic Shock

12

3

3

6

6

2

6

2

1

3

2

2

Excluded as decision made not
to treat

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

Total excluded

30

20

26

35

31

21

28

30

30

29

19

30

Denominator

2

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

Recognition-Antibiotic Interval
<60mins (new admissions) or
<90mins (inpatients)

2

N/A

1

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

1

N/A

Antibiotic Review within 72
hours

2

N/A

1

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

1

N/A

Numerator

2

N/A

1

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

1

N/A

Percentage of patients who
met the CQUIN requirements

100

N/A
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N/A

N/A
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70
60
50
40
30
20

7

-1
7
ar
M

7

-1
b
Fe

-1
n

16

Ja

cDe

No
v16

t16
Oc

-1
6
p

Se

16

-1
6
g
Au

lJu

-1

6
ay

-1

16
M

rAp

Ju
n

0

6

10

Graph 23

Table 23

101
101
101

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Of the patients coded on discharge from BCH with a diagnosis of sepsis, the majority were
diagnosed with possible sepsis in the Emergency Department. Of the remaining patients, almost
half had already been diagnosed with possible sepsis by a referring hospital and had already
been commenced on the appropriate antibiotic treatment prior to arrival at BCH.
Of the remaining patients (those without sepsis diagnosed in ED or at the referring hospital),
although they were coded as having a diagnosis of sepsis, very few actually met the criteria for
severe sepsis, red flag sepsis or septic shock.
Only 4 patients in the year (excluding those with sepsis diagnosed in ED or at the referring
hospital), were identified as having severe sepsis, red flag sepsis or septic shock - in all 4 cases
antibiotics were delivered within 60 minutes of recognition, and were reviewed within 72 hours
of the initial prescription.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
The following graph (Graph 24) shows the percentage of patients who received IV antibiotics
within 1 hour of a confirmed diagnosis of sepsis. The Adult data is collected quarterly and based
on a sample audit of cases. The neonatal data is collected monthly and, until March 2017 based
on a sample of 25% of babies requiring antibiotics. There was no data collection in February
2017 but the unit audited 100% of babies requiring antibiotics during March 2017.
100
90

SIRIs where the application or omission of Early Warning
Systems Paediatric Early Warning System (PEWS), Maternity
Early Warning System (MEWS) or Newborn Early Warning
Trigger and Track (NEWTT) have been identified as a
contributory factor
Analysis of 576 deaths reported to the National Patient Safety Agency’s (NPSA) National
Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) over a one year period (2005) identified that 11 per
cent were as a result of deterioration not recognised or acted upon. Further research on the
issue found that consistently and effectively detecting and acting upon patient deterioration
is a complex issue. There are several points where the process can fail, including not taking
or recording observations, not recognising early signs of deterioration, not communicating
observations causing concern and not responding to these appropriately.
Our overall aim is ensure that we operate early warning systems on 100% of patients, and
ensure escalation and timely intervention in all instances where it is required.
PEWS, MEWS and NEWTT are the tools that we use to ensure that our patients receive the
care that they need when they show signs of deterioration.

Adults

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Neonates

Zero SIRIs were identified where the failure to appropriately use our PEWS system was
identified as either a causal or contributory factor.

80
70

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

60

The number of Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation (SIRIs) and other Root Cause
Analyses undertaken where the application or omission of Early Warning Systems (MEWS or
NEWTT) has been identified as a contributory factor or root cause is tracked monthly via the
Quality & Safety Board Report. There was only one such incident identified during 2016/17.
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The investigation concluded In July 2016 and identified that the midwife caring for a patient in
early labour did not adhere to guidelines and failed to escalate and act upon abnormal maternal
tachycardia at several points. The midwife also failed to assess fetal wellbeing with Continuous
Electronic Fetal Monitoring, in accordance with guidelines.
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Graph 24
The improvement of adherence to standards for timely administration of antibiotics forms part of
the BWH Sign up to Safety Improvement plan and the maternity directorate have been working
closely with the UK Sepsis Trust to develop inpatient and outpatient Sepsis Tools which will also
be launched in the community. The current NICE Sepsis Guideline has also been updated. The
impact of the new sepsis tools and guidelines on the management of women with suspected
sepsis and the timely administration of antibiotics will be reviewed and audited following launch.

The midwife on the ward made a comment following the incident that the doctors were very
busy overnight and had been unable to attend the ward from delivery suite to review previously
escalated cases. This may have prevented the midwife from escalating the abnormal maternal
observations which she thought were benign.
In addition to the actions planned as part of the MEWS sign up to safety project, the following
actions were implemented:
l Midwives referred to supervisor for further discussion
l Antenatal MEWS audit
l Development of an antenatal fetal monitoring guideline (including criteria for escalation and

transfer timeframes)

Sepsis champions have been now been identified in all clinical areas, including transitional care.
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Hand hygiene audit compliance

Safety

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Incidence of SIRIs and Never Events
Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham Women’s Hospital
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Graph 25: Hand Hygiene Observational Audit % Compliance 2016/2017

3

We continue to monitor hand hygiene compliance through the infection Control Committee and
act to address any areas of concern identified.
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Graph 26: Hand Hygiene Observational Audit % Compliance 2016/2017
We continue to monitor hand hygiene compliance through the infection Control Committee and
act to address any areas of concern identified.
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Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
During 2016/17 there were 28 reported SIRIs, including three Never Events (referred to
previously). However, there were no reported SIRIs during October, November and December.

During 2016/17 we have amended the cause categories under the heading of “Other Clinical
Incident” to provide greater sensitivity in our analysis (see graph 29).
14

The graph below (graph 28) details the SIRIs in 2016/17 broken down by incident category and
compared with the incident profile from 2015/16. The number of SIRIs that we have had
reported over the last two financial years is comparable and the most frequently reported
categories of incident have remained stable.

12

The most common clinical SIRI over the last two years arises from issues associated with the
implementation of treatment. Many of the patients seen at BCH are extremely complex and are
subject to highly specialist treatment plans. Any cardiac or respiratory arrests that occur outside
intensive care are reviewed and if the arrest appears potentially preventable then a full SIRI
review is carried out.
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Graph 29
In 2015/16 we noted a significant increase in the number of Never Events reported from our
theatres services. Never Events are established on the assumptions that if existing guidance is
implemented and followed, the strong, systemic protective barriers which guidance provides
renders these serious incidents wholly avoidable. For surgical Never Events, that guidance is
the WHO surgical safety checklist and associated guidance.
During 2016/17, the learning from our surgical never events was implemented as we made
improvements to the intra-operative pathways. These improvements are summarised.
l Planning operations and providing adequate information to the WHO process
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Graph 28

One of our Never Events was a wrong site surgery event. These are avoided by careful
adherence to the WHO processes to ensure that surgical teams are sighted on the correct site
and procedure.
Unfortunately in our case, the information collected in an earlier clinic appointment about
the site we would operate on was transcribed incorrectly. The stages of the WHO checklist
were completed but based on wrong information. We continue to make improvements to
our information and administrative services to avoid our surgical teams being provided with
erroneous information
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Investigation of these has not established replication of identical faults to those experienced in
2015/16 in all but the sequencing of our final counts and sign-out. Learning here has shown us
that we need to continue to develop the human-factors, teamwork and cultural elements of the
process to ensure that our teams work together in a shared mental model of the WHO process,
supported by appropriate challenge.

l Adherence to the stages of the WHO process

Different mental models and expectations across and within teams challenged coordination of
the checklist and we observed some variation in the sequencing of the WHO checklist. We have
redesigned the process through consultation across our theatres teams and have re-established
the sequence in which we expect WHO to be completed, in particular adherence to the final
counts and Sign-out stage.

Our response to all our surgical events is being closely monitored through the Quality
Committee. Following an urgently commissioned external review from Deloitte to ensure that
our response and learning from the earlier events is sustained, the Theatres Project Board was
convened and continues to sit to ensure that we are implementing the correct technology and
process to maintain and improve on surgical safety.

The sequencing and timing of the final swab and equipment counts and sign-out was a
particular issue. In addition to addressing variation in the sequencing of WHO, we have
introduced some practical changes to the way we approach and record swab and equipment
preparation and counting.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

l Team work and cultural development

During 2016/17 we have reported 25 Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation (SIRI’s).
The graph below (Graph 30) details the SIRIs in 2016/17 broken down by incident category and
compared with the incident profile from 2015/16.

Staff across theatres have been trained in our new, standardised approach to WHO. We
continue to develop a culture of co-operation and teamwork so that WHO continues to be
correctly applied.
Despite these efforts, and although this trend was not sustained in 2016/17, in the final months
of this year, three further surgical Never Events occurred (see table 24).
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Graph 30: Categories of Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation (SIRIs)
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MSSA rates

The number of SIRIs that we have had reported over the last two financial years is comparable
and the most frequently reported category remains ‘Unexpected Admission of Term Babies to
the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU)’.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital and Birmingham Women’s

We are working to reduce the number of term babies unexpectedly admitted to NICU, as part
of the maternal and neonatal health safety collaborative, a national three year programme of
improvement. Initially, this will mean comparing our current practice with the NHS Improvement
resources for ‘Preventing avoidable admissions of full-term babies’, and where there are gaps,
ensuring we implement this best practice during 2017/18.

4

2

During 2016/17 we have reported one Never Event – a retained swab in gynaecology theatres
(see Graph 31).
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Graph 32
MSSA rates at both sites continue to be monitored on a monthly basis via the monthly Quality
and Safety Board Report and any concerns identified addressed through Infection Control
Committee.
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During 2017/18 work will be undertaken to ensure a consistency of approach to Duty of Candour
across the Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust, ensuring that we retain
the strongest elements of practice from each of the former organisations.

We have reported five never events in the last seven years, all of which have been retained
objects (three swabs, a tampon and a bung from a piece of equipment). Over this time, we have
made improvements to our counting in/out processes and raised awareness with staff of the
importance of being vigilant against such incidents.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

MRSA rates

Prior to the introduction of the Duty of Candour (DoC) the Trust had a well-embedded approach
to transparency with patients and families when things go wrong, which provided a strong basis
on which to establish processes that are compliant with the Duty. Our DoC and Being Open
Policy describes the responsibilities and processes and is available for all staff on the Trust
intranet. Training for all staff is included in mandatory risk management training, with additional
training in our Management Matters course for management staff. The DoC process itself is
overseen by the Governance Services Unit, which includes monitoring and follow up of all DoC
cases to ensure the process is followed in accordance with the policy. A leaflet summarising
the duty is available to all staff on the intranet and was circulated to all staff and featured in
the Trust’s safety blog after the introduction of the duty. Feedback from the CQC after their
inspection on May 2016 indicated that while the process was robust and while staff were open,
more could be done to ensure staff fully understand the criteria where the duty is applied. We
have therefore established a quarterly update for all staff, signposting to the policy and summary
leaflet.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
There have been zero cases of MRSA during 2016/17. This continues the trend seen in 2015/16.

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
There have been zero cases of MRSA during 2016/17. This continues the trend seen in 2015/16.
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Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
Birmingham Women’s Hospital also has a well-embedded approach to transparency with
patients and families when things go wrong. The CQC were satisfied that appropriate
mechanisms were in place to ensure that the DoC is adhered to and audited a number of cases
to confirm this at the inspection in April 2016.
The Being Open Policy includes detailed guidance for staff about following the Duty of Candour
regulations, including documentation requirements.
Training and awareness sessions are provided for a range of clinicians and administrative staff,
including medical secretaries.
A range of educational materials, including a poster for patients and staff areas and a patient
and staff information leaflet have been produced.

Sign Up to Safety
Sign Up to Safety is a national patient safety campaign that was launched in 2014 by the
Department of Health with the mission to strengthen patient safety in the NHS and make it the
safest healthcare system in the world. The campaign is actively encouraging the health sector
to reduce harm to patients and support safer care. The campaign aims to listen to patients and
staff, learn when things go wrong and act to make care safer. The objectives of the campaign
include saving 6,000 lives, halving avoidable harm and halving the costs of harm in the NHS
over the next three years.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
We made five pledges in 2014:
1. Ensuring that things go right - a proactive approach to safety
We chose to focus on some priority areas for safety improvement:
l An adapted Sepsis 6 tool has been developed and is implemented.

Using novel techniques in analysis we have begun to develop better understanding of our
incidents and patient experience data. This has taken us beyond the reporting of what happened
and where and allowed us to begin to better articulate why incidents happen. We have also
been able to put them in the context of other performance and operational data. This allows us
to focus on the improvements we need to make and tell stories about our incidents so that we
can better engage staff in learning and change.
Favourable event reporting has been driven from BCH by a number of frontline visionaries and
innovators. We have been able to integrate them with our other reporting systems and we’ve
seen the initiative spread across the organisation
3. Transparency of our patient safety and quality information
We have continued to develop and expand the Monthly Quality Report so that all stakeholders
get a holistic view of our safety issues. The ‘Safety Blog’ has allowed us to focus more deeply on
specific area of concern. Our Serious Incident summaries have been included within the blogs.
Summaries for front-line staff disseminate learning from SIRI Investigations individually and
have also been collected alongside other safety messages in the annual safety casebook.
4. Collaboration
Our collaborations for sharing have continued through: the paediatric MiST safety group; our
work with The West Midlands Academic Health Science Network (WMAHSN); on-going projects
with the Health Foundation; and projects such as the development of safety huddles and the
paediatric Safety Thermometer.
5. Support
We have brought together experts in Human Factors and Safety Science, Organisation
Development and Education in order to build a capacity for safety improvement which is as
focussed on the support we give to staff whether it is of a practical or pastoral nature as they
tackle worries and concerns in patient safety and staff health and well-being

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
We continues to participate in the national Sign up to Safety Campaign and following a
successful bid for funding we employed a practice development midwife in October 2016 to
support our Sign Up to Safety maternity projects which include:

l The neutropenic sepsis pathway was redesigned to ensure that all patients receive
		 antibiotic support, with a target that 90% of patients achieve a door to needle time
		 of < 1hour.

l Improved Cardiotocography (CTG) interpretation.

l CVC- BSI’s are tracked at local level and learning from them is reviewed for on-going
		improvement.

l Appropriate use and escalation of Maternity Early Warning Scores (MEWS).

l
		
		
		

l The early recognition and management of sepsis.

l Continued improvement to the Induction of Labour Pathway.

Our Medicines Safety Group is using the MERP classification to understand the harm
caused by medication incidents. We have begun a project using the Bow-tie risk
assessment tool to understand the barriers to medication errors and the ways in which
they might fail.

l Tissue viability.

2. Continual learning - better use of patient safety and quality information
We have better integrated our key safety metrics into our safety dashboard. This includes both
outcomes and process metrics. The current development is to deploy this at a clinical group
level. This will give local teams the opportunity to develop and track improvement in the safety
objectives which they value locally.
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The following progress has been made in relation to each of these projects.

Tissue viability

Fresh Eye CTG Reviews

The aim of this project is to improve Tissue Viability care within maternity and develop a more
robust system for those women at risk of pressure ulcers and those who have pressure ulcers
identified. A new Tissue Viability tool will be developed and signposted via Practical Obstetric
Multi- Professional Training (PROMPT). In order to improve care and reduce morbidity for
women when skin damage has been identified a pathway (to include a discharge checklist) will
be developed. This will help support midwives in clinical decision making and to formulate an
agreed action plan for these women.

The NHS has set out a national ambition to halve the rates of stillbirths by 2030, with a 20%
reduction by 2020. ‘The Saving Babies Lives’ Care Bundle is a bold step towards introducing
many evidence-based and policy recommendations in maternity care with the goal of
reducing stillbirth in the UK. Element 4: Effective fetal monitoring during labour of ‘The Saving
Babies’ Lives Care Bundle identifies that a buddy system should be put in place for review of
cardiotocograph (CTG) interpretation, with a protocol for escalation if concerns are raised.
Currently, there is a trust standard for hourly fresh eyes review of the CTG within the fetal
monitoring guideline, however, this is not currently being achieved. Following re-launch, we
would expect to see full implementation of hourly fresh eyes review of CTG in established labour
for high risk women. Another outcome of this project would be improved interpretation of CTGs
and with this a reduction in poor neonatal outcomes due to misinterpretation of CTGs.
Prior to the launch of this project the guideline was reviewed and an audit was undertaken to
review current compliance and practice with regards to Hourly Fresh Eye CTG Reviews. This
audit has highlighted poor compliance with Hourly Fresh Eye CTG Reviews and this audit is due
to be presented at the next delivery suite group meeting.
Fresh Eye CTG Champions have also been identified to assist with the re-launch of Hourly
Fresh Eye CTG Reviews and to help facilitate teaching of CTGs. This now features on PROMPT
which is a multidisciplinary study day.
To audit the effectiveness of this project will be subject to on-going audit.

Staff Survey
Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Birmingham Children’s Hospital Foundation Trust in the NHS Staff Survey score for indicators
KF21 and KF26 are detailed below.
BCH 2016

Acute Specialist
Trust Average

KF21. Percentage of staff/colleagues believing the organisation
provides equal opportunities for career progression/promotion

88%

86%

KF26. Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or
abuse from staff in last 12 months

20%

25%

Table 25

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

Sepsis
The aim of this project is to improve adherence to standards for timely administration of
antibiotics (red flag sepsis within one hour). In order to achieve this, the maternity directorate
have been working closely with the UK Sepsis Trust to develop inpatient and outpatient Sepsis
Tools. During the launch of this project there will be full implementation of these new Sepsis
tools and there will be a focus on going into the community areas to launch them. The current
NICE Sepsis Guideline has been updated. The impact of the new sepsis tools and guidelines on
the management of women with suspected sepsis and the timely administration of antibiotics will
be reviewed and audited following launch.

Birmingham Women’s Foundation Trust in the NHS Staff Survey score for indicators KF21 and
KF26 are detailed below.
BWH 2016

Acute Specialist
Trust Average

KF21. Percentage of staff/colleagues believing the organisation
provides equal opportunities for career progression/promotion

86%

86%

KF26. Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or
abuse from staff in last 12 months

27%

25%

Sepsis champions have been identified in all clinical areas, including transitional care.

Table 26

Induction of labour

As stated previously, harassment, bullying and discrimination have been identified as areas
where we intend to have an improved focus. There has been limited improvement in our scores
in this area over the past 2-3 years and this will be addressed through the improvement plan.

The aim of this project is to reduce the delays in induction of labour with a particular focus on the
reduction of delay between women reaching the stage where an artificial rupture of
membranes (ARM) is possible and it being performed.
A working group has been formed by midwives from the Antenatal Ward and Delivery Suite to
identify where delays in the process occur and where action can be taken to improve the patient
experience.
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CQC ratings grid

The Trust submitted an action plan to the CQC to address the Requirement Notices; progress
against this plan is monitored on a regular basis by the Board’s committees and by the CQC
through relationship meetings. The area of most concern is neonatal services. Prior to the
inspection the monitored during 2016/17 and will continue to do so throughout 2017/18. At the
time of the inspection the Trust had very recently launched a new specialist community mental
health service in partnership with other providers – Forward Thinking Birmingham. Significant
progress has been made to the quality of this service during the course of implementation, and
the Board of Directors remains focused on improvements in this area.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
In May 2016 the Trust’s services were inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) as
part of a comprehensive inspection of the Trust’s compliance with quality standards. The initial
feedback provided following the inspection highlighted numerous examples of excellent practice
as well as a number of areas that required improvement. The Trust took immediate action to
address these concerns. The final report was received in February 2017 with an overall rating of
Outstanding. The detailed ratings were as follows (see table 27):

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
In April 2016 the Trust’s services were inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC)
as part of a comprehensive inspection of the Trust’s compliance with quality standards. The
initial feedback provided following the inspection highlighted a number of areas that required
improvement; these had already been recognised by the Trust as issues of concern and the
findings gave further impetus to their rapid improvement. The final report was received in
September 2016 with a rating of Requires Improvement. The detailed ratings were as follows
(see table 28):

Safe

Effective

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Urgent and
emergency
services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Medical care

Good

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Surgery

Requires
improvement

Outstanding

Good

Good

Good

Good

Critical care

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Neonatal
services

Inadequate

Requires
improvement

Good

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Transitional
services

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

End of life
care

Good

Good

Outstanding

Outstanding

Good

Outstanding

Outpatients
and
diagnostic
imaging

Good

Child and
adolescent
mental
health wards

Good

Not rated

Good

Outstanding

Good

Good

Good

Requires
improvement

Good

Good

Good

Safe

Effective

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Maternity
inpatient

Good

Good

Outstanding

Good

Outstanding

Outstanding

Maternity
community

Good

Not rated

Good

Good

Good

Good

Surgery gynaecology

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Good

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Outpatients
& diagnostic
imaging

Good

Not rated

Good

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Neonatal
services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Overall Trust

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Table 28

Specialist
community
mental
health
services
for children
and young
people

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Good

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Overall Trust

Requires
improvement

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Good

Outstanding

The Trust submitted an action plan to the CQC to address the areas requiring improvement; this
action plan is regularly monitored by the Clinical Assurance and Safety Committee, which
reports to the Quality Committee. Two significant projects have been established to address the
concerns in abortion care service and in the antenatal scanning pathway, and these, together
with gynaecology services, have been given priority focus by the Quality Committee throughout
the reporting period.

Table 27
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3.3 Other national indicators
*Based on Q2-Q4 Average – data quality in Q1 was poor.
** Based on Q3-Q4 Average – data quality in Q1 was poor.
Indicator

Threshold

BCH Score

BWH Score

Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral
to treatment (RTT) in aggregate – patients on an
incomplete pathway

92%

92%

6.3%

A&E: maximum waiting time of four hours
from arrival to admission/transfer/discharge

95%

95.1%

N/A

All cancers: 62-day wait for first treatment
from urgent GP referral for suspected cancer

85%

100%

80.3%

NHS Cancer Screening Service referral

90%

N/A

100%

All cancers: 31-day wait for second or
subsequent treatment, comprising:
Surgery
Anti-cancer drug treatments
Radiotherapy

94%
98%
N/A

100%
100%
N/A

100%
100%
N/A

All cancers: 31-day wait from diagnosis to
first treatment

96%

100%

100%

Cancer: two-week wait from referral to date first
seen, comprising: all urgent referrals (cancer
suspected)

93%

100%

98.7%

Early intervention in psychosis (EIP): people
experiencing a first episode of psychosis treated
with a NICE-approved care package within two
weeks of referral

50%

68.6%*

N/A

Improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT)
(N): people with common mental health conditions
referred to the IAPT programme will be treated
within 6 weeks of referral

75%

98%

N/A

Improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT)
(N): people with common mental health conditions
referred to the IAPT programme will be treated
within 18 weeks of referral

95%

99.83%

N/A

C. difficile – meeting the C. difficile objective

0

1.1% (2 cases)

0

Mental health data completeness: identifiers

97%

99.75%**

N/A

Mental health data completeness: outcomes for
patients on CPA

50%

87.1%*

N/A

Table 29
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Statements from Stakeholders

The report demonstrates that the Trust is a learning organisation that values the feedback of
staff and patients; this is reflected in the redesign of the antenatal radiology pathway which aims
to improve the experience of women and increase staff satisfaction.

Commissioners

The Quality Account reflects a number of the performance quality indicators which are monitored
monthly, along with areas for improvement at the CCG CQRG. We continue to be invited to all
Root Cause Analysis meetings following serious incidents, reflecting the open and transparent
relationship the CCG has with the Trust.

Statement for Quality Account 2016/17 – Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust
Birmingham South Central Clinical Commissioning Group (BSC CCG), as coordinating
commissioner for Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust (BWC),
welcomes the opportunity to provide this statement for their 2016/17 Quality Account.

We have made some specific comments to the Trust directly in relation to the quality account
which we hope will be considered as part of the final document. Commissioners noted there
was minimal reference to the work of Forward Thinking Birmingham throughout the document
and while it is accepted that data for this service is incorporated in to overarching reporting,
this would be an opportunity to highlight any actions that have been taken throughout the year
to improve the quality and safety of care provided and to identify areas of focus for the coming
year.

A draft copy of the Quality Account was received by BSC CCG on 18th April 2017 and the
statement has been developed from the information presented to date.
We have reviewed the content of the Quality Account and confirm that it complies with the
prescribed information, format and content that are set out in the Quality Accounts legislation
(namely the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations
2010 (SI 2010/279), as amended by the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Amendment
Regulations 2012 (SI2012/3081).

Through this quality account and the ongoing quality assurance process, BWC have
demonstrated its commitment to continually improve the quality of services provided to women,
children, young people and their families. As coordinating commissioner, we look forward to
continuing to work in partnership with the Trust and supporting them to deliver these quality
priorities.

The information provided within this account presents a balanced report of the healthcare
services that BWC provides. The range of services described and priorities for improvement are
representative based on the information that is available to us. The report demonstrates the
progress made within the Trust. It identifies what the organisation has done well, where further
improvement is required and what actions are needed to achieve these goals and the priorities
set for 2017/18.

Dr Raj Ramachandram
Clinical Vice-Chair of Birmingham and Solihull Clinical Commissioning Groups Quality
and Safety Committee, and Birmingham South Central CCG Governing Body

The CCG recognises that the Trust has worked with women, children and their families, staff
and stakeholders to determine the focus of the 2017/18 quality priorities.
There has been progress against the 2016/17 quality priorities and, although the Trust reports
that the target improvement for cancelled operations (BCH priority) was not achieved; the CCG
is aware of the progress that has been made in this area and the on-going work to continue to
reduce the number of cancelled operations and improve the experience of young people and
their families.
The Trust has demonstrated a steady improvement in detection rates of intrauterine growth
restriction since 2012/13, with detection rates above 50% for the first time, consistently in each
of the last three quarters 0f 2016/17.
The quality priorities selected for 2017/18 reflect areas where improvement is required and the
CCG is supportive of the continued focus on improving patient safety, most particularly around
the learning from the never events that occurred during 2015/16 and 2016/17.
Commissioners also welcome the development of a shared vision and strategy which aim to
maintain and improve the standards of excellence in neonatal care across the Trust.
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Healthwatch

PLACE scores for food
At Birmingham Children’s Trust, the PLACE (Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment)
scores for food show that in:

Statement from Healthwatch Birmingham on Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust Quality Account 2016/2017
Healthwatch Birmingham welcomes the opportunity to provide our statement on the Quality
Account for Birmingham Women’s and Children’s Hospital NHS Trust 2016/17. In line with our
role, we have focused on the following:
l

The use of patient and public insight, experience and involvement in decision-making.

l

The quality of care patients, the public, service users and carers access and how this
aligns with their needs.

		
l

l

2014/15: 29% of feedback was positive and 71% indicate a need to improve.

l

2015/16: 43% positive and 57% need to improve.

l

2016/17: 46% positive and 54% need to improve.

Although the gap between ‘positive’ and ‘need to improve’ has decreased, the ‘need to improve’
numbers are still high. We are pleased that the Trust will continue to collect qualitative data to
understand patient’s concerns and to develop solutions accordingly. Although the Trust is not
continuing with PLACE as a priority, we hope the Trust will make ‘Listening to Patients, carers
and family’ key to making decisions for the ‘making food better’ project.

Variability in the provision of care and the impact it has on patient outcomes.

Patient feedback
We are glad to see that the Trust has used a number of different methods to collect patient
feedback. These include surveys, complaints, comments and concerns, a feedback App,
consultations, feedback cards and patient stories. This has not only enabled the Trust to monitor
performance but to develop solutions to performance issues. What is equally positive is that the
Trust has demonstrated how patient feedback and experiences were used to develop priorities
for the 2017/18 Quality Account.
It is positive to see that Birmingham Women’s Hospital has developed a Patient Experience and
Engagement Strategy. This demonstrates that there is agreement on how and why the Trust
uses patient experience and feedback to inform decision-making. This strategy represents an
opportunity to ensure that there is commitment across the Women’s and Children’s to the use of
patient and public insight and experience data and to their involvement in the design of services.
To be effective, the strategy needs to be understood by all staff, promoted, and arrangements for
collating feedback and experience should be clearly outlined. We look forward to seeing in the
2017/18 Quality Account evidence of the use of this strategy across the Trust and an evaluation
of the usefulness of using patient experience and feedback.
Although we acknowledge the positive changes outlined above, all forms of patient feedback
presented in the Account (i.e. formal complaints, FFT; PALS contact) indicate a lack of
communication and that some patients still do not feel heard. In addition, NHS Digital data
shows that Birmingham Women’s responsiveness to the personal needs of patients during
the reporting period is twelve percent lower than the highest Trust (73.8% versus 86.2%). This
indicates there is room for improvement, ensuring that service users, the public and families are
more central to decision-making.

Cancelled operations
We notice that the Birmingham Children’s did not meet the 2016/17 target for all planned
operations cancelled the same day. The assessment the Trust has made on this priority
provides a clear picture of where the Trust needs to improve. Cancelled operations can lead
to significant variability in care. We are pleased that this continues to be a priority for the
Trust in 2017/18. We commend the plans set out in order to address the issues identified as
leading to cancellations. However, we question whether these will address the problem of staff
unavailability as increased number of beds and operating theatres could mean more patients
and therefore require more staff. The Trust could consider including in the 2017/18 report
information on how many of these cancelled operations were offered another date within the
national guidance of 28 days. This will demonstrate the Trusts’ response to cancellations.
MRI scan waits
In Birmingham Children’s, the number of children and young people who waited over the
national waiting time continued to increase between April 2016 and March 2017. As stated in
the Account, this can be key in their care pathway. Healthwatch Birmingham is concerned that
this variability in accessing services can lead to poor health outcomes for those concerned. We
note that this is no longer a local priority. We hope that the plans for 2017/18 will address this
issue.
Safe domain
Healthwatch Birmingham is concerned that the Birmingham Children’s received a ‘requires
improvement’ for the safe domain by the CQC due to seven never events that occurred, and
poor quality of care on the neonatal surgical ward. We also observe that despite following
and implementing the WHO surgical safety checklist compliance, three surgical never events
occurred at the Children’s Hospital and one at the Women’s Hospital. The report indicates that
the Trusts’ response to these surgical never events will continue to be monitored through the
Quality Committee. It would be useful for the public to know what specific actions have been
taken under the ‘Theatres Project Board’ to address this. This shows that the Trust is rectifying
the problem, which helps patient choice and improves confidence in services.

The Trust could also improve its use of patient feedback and experience by using it to identify,
understand and address health inequality. This will help identify any gaps in service provision
and the needs of different groups, particularly those that seldom give feedback. For instance,
this may help the Trust to understand barriers to improved health outcomes in perinatal
mortality for individuals or groups, thereby developing solutions that facilitate the successful
implementation of small gestational age assessment at booking.
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Neonatal non-elective readmissions
At the Birmingham Women’s Hospital, the level of neonatal non-elective readmissions within 28
days of delivery has varied widely over the last year. We therefore welcome the inclusion of this
issue as a priority for 2017/18. We commend the Trust for making plans to develop outpatient
services to support breastfeeding mothers, and a business case to set up a neonatal outreach
service for supporting babies with complex needs. Healthwatch Birmingham suggests the Trust
engages with patients, carers and the public in the development of this business case. This will
enable decisions to reflect the needs of the population.
We agree with the Trusts’ comment that perinatal mortality is partly explained by the nature of
the population served by the Trust. Hence, identifying those at risk would help improve their
health outcomes. It is therefore concerning that the Trust has not met its target in terms of the
number of patients who are risk assessed for small gestational age. Consequently, patients
requiring serial scans are not being identified, presenting a real risk of poor health outcomes.
We note that this is no longer a priority but welcome the plans put forward for making
improvements in small gestational age risk assessments (included in the 2017/18 Quality
Account as a supplementary indicator).
To conclude, Healthwatch Birmingham congratulate Birmingham Children’s Hospital for its
overall rating of outstanding, in particular on their outstanding rating for critical care and
transitional services; and for medical and end of life care. We also congratulate the Women’s
Hospital for achieving an outstanding rating in maternity inpatient services. We hope that the
new Trust will share best practice to ensure that it receives an outstanding CQC rating and
ensure improvement in the effective, responsive, well-led and safe domains. We would be
interested to read in the 2017/18 Quality Account how the hospitals have learned from each
other, leading to an improvement in the quality of care.

Andy Cave

Chief Executive Officer
Healthwatch Birmingham
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We continue to take part in walkabouts to see patients and staff in many parts of the Trust and
we benefit from speaking directly to children, young people, women and their families about
their experiences. We look forward to continuing this approach so that we can continue to learn
about all aspects of our new Trust. The Trust’s commitment to listening to and representing all
patient and staff voices is a goal that we share.

Council of Governors
We, the Council, are delighted to provide comment on this year’s Account following a very
exciting year. This year saw many achievements at the Trust, including the launch of Forward
Thinking Birmingham, our multi-partner mental health service, and a rating of Outstanding from
the Care We have also seen the opening of Magnolia House - the first centre of its kind
in the UK - that provides a much-needed quiet and relaxing space for families facing difficult
circumstances. Most recently we have seen the successful integration of our Trust with
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust to become one united Trust; the first of its kind in
the UK.

In 2017/18 we will focus on key quality matters including Never Events, Forward Thinking
Birmingham and the neonatal services across both hospital sites. We are eager to grow our
own experience and knowledge of the expanded services at the Trust which now serves young
adults through Forward Thinking Birmingham, and both women and men at the Women’s
Hospital.

We are satisfied that the Account focusses on the performance of the Trust against its key
priorities in relation to safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness. The Account reflects
the information that we have scrutinised throughout the year in formal reports at our meetings,
regular updates from the Trust, and from our walkabouts to see the patients, carers and staff
face to face. We are also pleased that the Trust continues to be open and transparent about
where it has not met its objectives, such as in the detection of intrauterine growth and the
numbers of cancelled operations, and we will continue to support and scrutinise these areas
throughout the coming year.

We would like to commend the Trust on its achievements during a momentous year. These are
challenging times for the Trust and the NHS as a whole, with demand for our services and on
our finances continuing to grow. We remain confident that the leadership team will continue to
deliver high quality services over the course of the year and we will maintain our support and
continued monitoring of the information they provide.
Council of Governors of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust

The Council is pleased to see that the Trust has maintained delivery of high quality care whilst
also successfully navigating the process of integration with another NHS Foundation Trust.
Perhaps our most significant task as a Council this year was to assure ourselves that the Board
had followed a thorough and comprehensive process in deciding to proceed with the integration
with the Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust. We were provided with detailed
information and we maintained a dialogue with non-executive directors throughout the process
which enabled us to approve the decision of the Board of Directors in February 2017. We are
assured that the integration will provide benefits for our patients and communities both now and
into the future.
The Outstanding rating that BCH received in February 2017 following a full inspection by the
Care Quality Commission in May 2016 was one of our highlights. We know though that there
are always areas where improvements can be made and we are assured by the actions being
taken to address these and we will continue to monitor the improvements through our full
Council and Governors’ Scrutiny Committee meetings.
The Council agrees with the Board of Director’s view that the Never Events experienced at the
Trust are unacceptable. We valued the prompt and in-depth information we received from the
Trust about these incidents and we used these opportunities to scrutinise Board members and
assure ourselves as to the actions being taken. We will continue to challenge non-executive
directors on the action plans to prevent reoccurrences.
We are pleased to see the benefits to patients through a reduction in cancelled operations, the
success of the preadmission unit, and the achievement of targets relating to diagnostic waits,
and we wish to congratulate the teams involved in all of this work. We were also pleased to
see some improvements to patient food this year and are keen to be involved in the plan for
long-term sustainable improvements. We look forward to the opening of Waterfall House in
2018 and the further positive impact this will have on the Trust’s activity and patient experience,
particularly the pioneering care for children with rare diseases.
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Overview and Scrutiny Committees

l

		
		

Birmingham Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee have declined to provide a statement
relating to the 2016/17 Quality Account.

l

the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed
definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review and
The Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with NHSI’s annual reporting
manual and supporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations)
as well as the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality Report.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities for the
Quality Report

		
		

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the Quality Report.
By order of the board

NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and
content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the
arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data quality
for the preparation of the quality report.
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:
l

		

Vij Randeniya

The content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17 and supporting guidance.

Interim Chairman

Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer

The content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of
information including:
l Board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to March 2017
l Papers relating to Quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to March
			 2017
l Feedback from commissioners received 22nd May 2017
l Feedback from governors dated 17th May 2017
l Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations undated but received 3rd May 2017
l The trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
			 Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009 April 2016 to March 2017
l The 2016 national patient survey
l The 2016 national staff survey
l The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment
			 dated 25th May 2017
l CQC Inspection report dated 21st February 2017 (Birmingham Children’s Hospital
			 NHS Foundation Trust)
l

		

l

		

The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s
performance over the period covered.

l

The performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate.

l

There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to
confirm that they are working effectively in practice.
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors of Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust on the Quality Report
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s
NHS Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended
31 March 2017 (the ‘Quality Report’) and certain performance indicators contained therein.

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether
anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:
The Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out
in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’ and supporting guidance;
l The quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified
		below:
l Board minutes for the period April 2016 to March 2017;
l Papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to
			 March 2017;
l Feedback from the commissioners dated 22nd May 2017;
l Feedback from the governors dated 17th May 2017;
l Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations, dated 3rd May 2017;
l The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
			 Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, April 2016 to March 2017;
l The 2016 national patient survey;
l The 2016 national staff survey;
l The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated
			 25th May 2017;
l Latest Care Quality Commission Inspection Report dated 21st February 2017; and
l Any other information included in our review.
l The indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of limited
		 assurance in the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all material respects in
		 accordance with the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’ and supporting
		 guidance, and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the ‘Detailed guidance for
		 external assurance on quality reports’.
l

		

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of
Governors in reporting Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust’s quality
agenda, performance and activities. We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual
Report for the year ended 31 March 2017, to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate
that they have discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent
assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body
and Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report,
except where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.

Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2017 subject to limited assurance consist of the
national priority indicators as mandated by NHS Improvement:
l

		
l

		

Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete pathways
at the end of the reporting period; and
Percentage of patients with a total time in A&E of four hours or less from arrival to
admission, transfer or discharge.

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the ‘indicators’.

Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of
the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’ and supporting guidance, and consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions.

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in
accordance with the criteria set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’ and
supporting guidance issued by NHS Improvement.

We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is
materially inconsistent with the documents listed above and specified in the detailed guidance
for external assurance on Quality Reports (collectively the ‘documents’).
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements
or material inconsistencies with the documents. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other
information.
We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team
comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.
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Assurance work performed

Basis for qualified conclusion – 18 week Referral to
Treatment Indicator

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures included:
l

		
l

The “maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in aggregate – patients on
an incomplete pathway” indicator requires that the Trust accurately record the start and end
dates of each patient’s treatment pathway, in accordance with detailed requirements set out in
national guidance.

Evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for
managing and reporting the indicators;

During our testing of a sample of 80 items, we found that:

Making enquiries of management;

l

		

In 37.5% of items tested, one or both of the start and end date of treatment were not
accurately recorded;

l

Testing key management controls;

l

Limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to
supporting documentation;

		

Comparing the content requirements of the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting
manual’ and supporting guidance to the categories reported in the Quality Report; and

		

Reading the documents.

The “Audited Indicators” section of the Trust’s Quality Report summarises the actions that the
Trust is taking post year end to resolve the issues identified in its processes.

		
l

		
l

l

l

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement.
The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are
deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement.

In 17.5% of items tested, there was inappropriate reporting of breaches and non
breaches; and
In 17.5% of items tested, there was incorrect reporting of open pathways within the
monthly submissions.

As a result of the issues identified, we have concluded that there are errors in the calculation of
the “maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in aggregate – patients on an
incomplete pathway” indicator for the year ended 31 March 2017. We are unable to quantify the
effect of these errors on the reported indicator.

Limitations
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for
determining such information.

Qualified Conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures, except for the matters set out in the basis for qualified
conclusion paragraph above, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that,
for the year ended 31 March 2017:

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the
selection of different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially
different measurements and can affect comparability. The precision of different measurement
techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine such
information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision of these criteria, may change
over time. It is important to read the quality report in the context of the criteria set out in the
‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’ and supporting guidance.

l

		
l

		
		

The scope of our assurance work has not included testing of indicators other than the two
selected mandated indicators, or consideration of quality governance.

l

		
		

The Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in
the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’ and supporting guidance;
The Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in
2.1 of the NHS Improvement 2016/17 Detailed guidance for external assurance on
quality reports for foundation trusts; and
The indicators in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance have not been 		
reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the ‘NHS foundation trust
annual reporting manual’ and supporting guidance.

Deloitte LLP Chartered Accountants
Birmingham, United Kingdom
30th May 2017
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Section 4
Statutory accounts
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Statement of the Chief Executive
Officer’s responsibilities as the
Accounting Officer of Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and
to enable her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection
of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
30 May 2017

The National Health Service Act 2006 (“NHS Act 2006”) states that the Chief Executive Officer
is the Accounting Officer of the NHS Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the
Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances
for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.

Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has
given Accounts Directions which require Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation
Trust to prepare for each financial year a Statement of Accounts in the form and on the basis
required by those Directions. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation
Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for
the financial year.

Foreword to the Accounts
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust

In preparing the Accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:

These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been prepared by Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of
Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006.

l Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant

		
		

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis.

30 May 2017

l Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis.
l State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
		 Annual Reporting Manual and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual have
		 been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
		statements.

Sarah-Jane Marsh

Chief Executive Officer

l Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated

		

authorities and guidance.

l Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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Statement of comprehensive income

Group
Year Ended
31 March 2017
NOTE

Operating income from patient care activities
Sustainability and Transformation Fund income
Other operating income
Operating income from continuing operations

Trust
Year Ended
31 March 2016

Year Ended
31 March 2017

Year Ended
31 March 2016

£000

£000

£000

£000

281,929

230,181

281,929

230,181

6,351

-

6,351

-

28,416

23,968

28,949

24,524

2

316,696

254,149

317,229

254,705

(300,480)

(248,471)

(301,239)

(249,183)

-

(3,677)

-

(3,677)

(300,480)

(252,148)

(301,239)

(252,860)

16,216

2,001

15,990

1,845

Operating expenses of continuing operations

3

Impairments recognised in operating expenses

3,10

Total operating expenses of continuing operations

3

OPERATING SURPLUS
FINANCE COSTS
Finance income

8

96

156

120

187

Finance expense - financial liabilities

9

(634)

(763)

(634)

(763)

28

28

28

28

PDC Dividends payable

(3,596)

(2,862)

(3,596)

(2,862)

NET FINANCE COSTS

(4,106)

(3,441)

(4,082)

(3,410)

(1)

(21)

(1)

(21)

42,979

-

42,979

-

(41)

(25)

-

-

2.5 55,047

(1,486)

54,886

(1,586)

-

(10,058)

-

(10,058)

Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions

Losses on disposal of assets
Gain from transfer by absorption

15

Corporation tax expense

7

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
Other comprehensive income
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Impairments

10

Revaluations

31

Other reserve movements
Total other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR

192

8,456

192

8,456

3,329

31

3,327

26

3,521

(1,571)

3,519

(1,576)

58,568

(3,057)

58,405

(3,162)

The surplus for the year includes £42,979k arising from the acquisition of Birmingham
Women’s NHS Foundation Trust on 1 February 2017. This entry represents the
book value of the net assets on transfer. There are no Minority Interests in the Trust,
therefore the surplus for the year and the Total Comprehensive Income are wholly
attributable to the Trust.
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Statement of financial position

Group

Trust

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

NOTE

£000

£000

£000

£000

Intangible assets

11

1,503

360

1,503

360

Property, plant and equipment

12

178,362

112,888

178,362

12,888

Trade and other receivables

22

1,565

1,619

1,565

1,619

Other financial assets

20

-

-

300

400

181,430

114,867

181,730

115,267

5,926

4,744

5,719

4,539

Non-current assets

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories

21

Trade and other receivables

22

34,751

12,740

34,664

12,641

Cash and cash equivalents

25

31,679

42,079

31,435

41,877

72,356

59,563

71,818

59,057

Total current assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

26

(48,046)

(29,642)

(48,051)

(29,616)

Borrowings

27

(166)

(144)

(166)

(144)

Provisions

29

(2,388)

(1,069)

(2,388)

(1,069)

Other liabilities

28

(10,494)

(6,914)

10,494)

(6,914)

Total current liabilities

(61,094)

(37,769)

(61,099)

(37,743)

Total assets less current liabilities

192,692

136,661

192,449

136,581

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

27

(1,289)

(1,455)

(1,289)

(1,455)

Provisions

29

-

(1,835)

-

1,835)

Other liabilities

28

-

(536)

-

(536)

Total non-current liabilities
Total assets employed

(1,289)

(3,826)

(1,289)

(3,826)

191,403

132,835

191,160

132,755

Financed by Taxpayers’ equity
Public dividend capital

41

132,547

89,551

132,547

89,551

Revaluation reserve

31

35,288

9,496

35,288

29,496

Income and expenditure reserve
Total taxpayers’ and others’ equity

23,568

13,788

23,325

13,708

191,403

132,835

191,160

132,755

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on their behalf by: 30 May 2017

Sarah-Jane Marsh
Chief Executive Officer

121
121
121

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Statement of changes in equity
Group		

Taxpayers’ Equity at 1 April 2015
Deficit for the year
Transfers between reserves
Impairments
Revaluations - property, plant and equipment
Transfer to I&E reserve on disposal of assets

Total

Public Dividend
Capital

Income and Revaluation
Reserve

Expenditure
Reserve

£000

£000

£000

£000

135,892

89,551

17,874

28,467

(1,486)

-

-

(1,486)

-

-

13,269

(13,269)

(10,058)

-

(10,058)

-

8,456

-

8,456

-

-

-

(45)

45

31

-

-

31

(3,057)

-

11,622

(14,679)

Taxpayers’ Equity at 31 March 2016

132,835

89,551

29,496

13,788

Taxpayers’ Equity at 1 April 2016

132,835

89,551

29,496

13,788

Other reserve movements
Total comprehensive income for the year

55,047

-

-

55,047

Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves

-

-

5,725

(5,725)

Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves

-

42,996

-

(42,996)

192

-

192

-

Surplus for the year

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment
Transfer to I&E reserve on disposal of assets
Other reserve movements
Total comprehensive income for the year
Taxpayers’ Equity at 31 March 2017

-

-

(125)

125

3,327

-

-

3,327

58,568

42,996

5,792

9,780

191,403

132,547

35,288

23,568
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Statement of changes in equity
Trust		

Taxpayers’ Equity at 1 April 2015
Deficit for the year
Transfers between reserves

Total

Public Dividend
Capital

Revaluation Reserve

Income and Expenditure
Reserve

£000

£000

£000

£000

135,892

89,551

17,874

28,467

(1,586)

-

-

(1,586)

-

-

13,269

(13,269)

(10,058)

-

(10,058)

-

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment

8,456

-

8,456

-

Transfer to I&E reserve on disposal of assets

-

-

(45)

45

Impairments

Other reserve movements

26

-

-

26

(3,162)

-

11,622

(14,784)

Taxpayers’ Equity at 31 March 2016

132,755

89,551

29,496

13,708

Taxpayers’ Equity at 1 April 2016

132,755

89,551

29,496

13,708

Total comprehensive income for the year

54,886

-

-

54,886

Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves

-

-

5,725

(5,725)

Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves

-

42,996

-

(42,996)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment

192

-

192

-

Transfer to I&E reserve on disposal of assets

-

-

(125)

125

Surplus for the year

Other reserve movements
Total comprehensive income for the year
Taxpayers’ Equity at 31 March 2017

3,327

-

-

3,327

58,405

42,996

5,792

9,617

191,160

132,547

35,288

23,325

Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves relates to: the recreation of
revaluation reserve recognised by Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
as at the acquisition on 1 February 2017; and the recognition of public dividend
capital equivalent to the book value of the net assets of Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust on acquisition. Further information is available within note 15 to
these accounts.
During the year the Trust has undertaken a review of accrued income balances in
respect of partially completed spells. This has resulted in an adjustment of £3,287k
to accrued income reflected by an increase in the income and expenditure reserve to
more accurately reflect the balance of income due to the Trust. This is reflected within
other reserve movements.
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Statement of cash flows

Group
NOTE

Trust

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

£000

£000

16,216

2,001

15,990

1,845

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus
Non-cash income and expense
Depreciation and amortisation

3

5,398

5,158

5,398

5,158

Impairments

3

-

3,677

-

3,677

Non-cash donations/grants credited to income

(2,543)

(766)

(2,543)

(766)

Increase in Trade and Other Receivables

(8,510)

(118)

(8,522)

(37)

-

-

100

100

Decrease in Other Assets
Increase in Inventories
Increase in Trade and Other Payables
Decrease in Other Liabilities
Decrease in Provisions
Other movements in operating cash flows
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(8)

(291)

(6)

(261)

5,155

1,553

5,186

1,473

(3,031)

(1,005)

(3,031)

(1,005)

(610)

(4,368)

(610)

(4,368)

3

(11)

42

9

12,070

5,830

12,004

5,825

96

156

120

187

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Receipt of donations to purchase capital assets
Net cash used in investing activities

(789)

(67)

(789)

(67)

(20,546)

(12,335)

(20,546)

(12,335)

2,030

378

2,030

378

(19,209)

(11,868)

(19,185)

(11,837)

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital element of PFI

(145)

(152)

145)

(152)

Interest element of PFI

(634)

(763)

(634)

(763)

(4,021)

(2,743)

(4,021)

(2,743)

PDC Dividend paid
Net cash used in financing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April

(4,800)

(3,658)

(4,800)

(3,658)

(11,939)

(9,696)

(11,981)

(9,670)

42,079

51,775

41,877

51,547

1,539

-

1,539

-

31,679

42,079

31,435

41,877

Adjustments to cash in year
Cash and Cash equivalents transferred by absorption
Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March

25.1
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Notes to the financial statements
1 Accounting policies
NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, is
responsible for issuing an accounts direction to NHS foundation trusts under the
NHS Act 2006. NHS Improvement has directed that the financial statements of NHS
foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health
Group Accounting Manual (DH GAM) which shall be agreed with the Secretary
of State. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the DH GAM 2016/17 issued by the Department of Health. The
accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) to the
extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS. The accounting policies
have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to
the accounts.

1.1 Accounting convention

The net gain corresponding to the net assets transferred is recognised within income,
but not within operating activities.
For property, plant and equipment assets and intangible assets, the cost and
accumulated depreciation / amortisation balances from the transferring entity’s
accounts are preserved on recognition in the Trust’s accounts. Where the transferring
body recognised revaluation reserve balances attributable to the assets, the Trust
makes a transfer from its income and expenditure reserve to its revaluation reserve to
maintain transparency within public sector accounts.
In order to reflect the nature of the acquisition, the Trust makes a transfer from its
income and expenditure reserve to its public dividend capital equivalent to the book
value of the net assets of the acquired organisation.

1.3 Consolidation
NHS charitable funds

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis as described in the
Performance Report in section 2 of the Annual Report.

The DH GAM requires NHS foundation trusts to consolidate the accounts of NHS
charitable funds to which they are corporate trustees. The Trust is not the corporate
trustee to Birmingham Children’s Hospital Charities (BCH Charities). The Trust has
further assessed its relationship to the charitable fund, with specific reference to
the definitions of control contained within IFRS 10, and determined it not to be a
subsidiary because the foundation trust has no power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the charitable fund so as to obtain benefits from its activities for
itself, its patients or its staff.

1.2 Acquisition of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

Other subsidiaries

The functions of the former Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust were
acquired on 1 February 2017 by Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust. The acquiring organisation was renamed Birmingham Women’s and Children’s
NHS Foundation Trust on the date of acquisition.

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Trust and
all of its subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 March 2017. The income, expenses,
assets, liabilities, equity and reserves of the subsidiaries have been consolidated into
the Trust’s financial statements and Group financial statements have been prepared.
Where figures for the Trust differ from those for the Group, separate tables have been
included.

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified
to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, and certain financial
assets and financial liabilities.

A transfer between two entities within the Whole of Government Accounts boundary
represents a ‘machinery of government change’ regardless of the mechanism used to
effect the change. Where this transfer is within a Departmental Resource Accounts
Boundary, the entities must account for the transaction as a ‘transfer by absorption’.
For functions that have been transferred to the Trust from another NHS body, the
assets and liabilities transferred are recognised in the accounts as at the date of
transfer. The assets and liabilities are not adjusted to fair value prior to recognition.

Subsidiary entities are those over which the Trust is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on
consolidation.
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1.4 Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that,
performance occurs and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of
health care services.
The Trust accounts for the income of partially completed spells based on an average
spell cost for the anticipated specialty which is adjusted based on the length of stay
to take into account any excess bed days. Where income is received for a specific
activity which is to be delivered in a subsequent financial year, that income is deferred.
The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to
reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation
has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income when
it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pensions’ Compensation
Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation claim.
The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured
individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts.
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material
conditions of sale have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale
contract.

1.5 Expenditure on employee benefits

Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and
when they become due.
Additional pension liabilities from early retirements are not funded by the scheme
except where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to operating expenses at the time the Trust commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.6 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they
have been received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services.
Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the
creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

1.7 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:
l
l

l

Short-term employee benefits

l

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in
which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement
earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the
financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave
into the following period.

l

Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension
Scheme. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Scheme can be found on the
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales.
It is not possible for the Trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

l

l

It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be
provided to, the Trust;
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have
a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, have
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous
disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or
They form part of the initial setting-up cost of a new building or refurbishment of a
ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with
significantly different asset lives, e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are
treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing
the costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to
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the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.
Buildings and land are measured subsequently at valuation. As a minimum, a full
revaluation is conducted every five years with an interim valuation after three years,
undertaken by a professional valuer holding appropriate Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors qualifications. The valuation is based on depreciated replacement value,
using modern equivalent asset and alternative site methodology.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are
carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not
borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS
23 for assets held at fair value. Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost
and are valued by a professional valuer as part of the three or five-yearly valuation or
when they are brought into use.
Equipment and fixtures are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses, as this is not considered to be materially different
from the fair value of assets which have low values or short economic useful lives.
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable
that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost
incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of
the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the
cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The
carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does
not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs
and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period
in which it is incurred.
Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful
economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service
delivery benefits, using the straight line method. Minimum and maximum remaining
useful economic lives are disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements. Freehold
land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to
be depreciated upon reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and residual
interests in off-Statement of Financial Position PFI contract assets are not depreciated
until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the Trust, respectively.
Revaluation
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the
extent that, they reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised
in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is
an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating
expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Impairments
In accordance with the DH GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of
economic benefits or service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses.
A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and
expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to
operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that
asset before the impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or service
potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise
to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent
that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment
had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation
reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred
back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’
are treated as revaluation gains.
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De-recognition

1.8 Intangible assets

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following
criteria are met:

Recognition

The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms which are usual and customary for such sales;
l The sale must be highly probable i.e.:
Management is committed to a plan to sell the asset;
An active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
The asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
The sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of
		 classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and
The actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will
		 be dropped or significant changes made to it.
l

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing
carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be
charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have
been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify
for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and
the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or
demolition occurs.

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are
capable of being sold separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise
from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust
and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at
least £5,000.
Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and
similar items are not capitalised as intangible assets. Expenditure on research is not
capitalised.
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be
demonstrated:
l

l
l
l

Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at
their fair value on receipt. The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time,
unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits embodied
in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case,
the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial
years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same
manner as other items of property, plant and equipment.

l

l

The project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an
intangible asset for sale or use;
The Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it;
The Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery
benefits, e.g., the presence of a market for it or its output, or where it is to be used
for internal use, the usefulness of the asset;
Adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to
complete the development and sell or use the asset; and
The Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during
development.

Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is
capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software
which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. application software, is
capitalised as an intangible asset.
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Measurement

Operating leases

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable
costs needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.

Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to
operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease
incentives received are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses
over the life of the lease. Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where
no active market exists, intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated
replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is income generating.
Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as
for property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan
to bring it back into use is valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the
requirements of IAS 40 or IFRS 5.
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or
“fair value less costs to sell”.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner
consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits, using the
straight line method. Minimum and maximum remaining useful economic lives are
disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements.

1.9 Leases
Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by
the Trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding
liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair
value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter
the asset is accounted for as an item of property plant and equipment.
The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so
as to achieve a constant rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance
cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The
lease liability is de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the
building component and the classification for each is assessed separately.
The Trust as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the Trust’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Trust’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.10 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions
HM Treasury has determined that government bodies shall account for infrastructure
PFI schemes where the government body controls the use of the infrastructure and
the residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the arrangement as service
concession arrangements, following the principles of the requirements of IFRIC
12. The Trust therefore recognises the PFI asset as an item of property, plant and
equipment together with a liability to pay for it. The services received under the
contract are recorded as operating expenses.
The annual unitary payment is separated into the following component parts, using
appropriate estimation techniques where necessary:
l
l
l
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Services received

Lifecycle replacement

The fair value of services received in the year is recorded under the relevant
expenditure headings within ‘operating expenses’.

Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle
replacement’) are capitalised where they meet the Trust’s criteria for capital
expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and
are measured initially at their fair value.

PFI asset
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession,
as interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, are accounted for as “on-Statement of
Financial Position” by the Trust. In accordance with IAS 17, the underlying assets
are recognised as property, plant and equipment at their fair value, together with
an equivalent finance lease liability. Subsequently, the assets are accounted for as
property, plant and equipment and/or intangible assets as appropriate.
PFI liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI assets are recognised. It
is measured initially at the same amount as the fair value of the PFI assets and is
subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in accordance with IAS 17.
The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability,
a finance cost and the charges for services. An annual finance cost is calculated
by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening lease liability for the
period, and is charged to ‘Finance Costs’ within the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental
is applied to meet the annual finance cost and to repay the lease liability over the
contract term.
The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is
charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is
allocated to the finance lease. In accordance with IAS 17, this amount is not included
in the minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as contingent rent and is
expensed as incurred. In substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the
liability and the expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is predetermined for each year of the contract from the operator’s planned programme of
lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than
expected, a short-term finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively.
Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined
in the contract, the difference is recognised as an expense when the replacement is
provided. If the fair value is greater than the amount determined in the contract, the
difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset and a deferred income balance is recognised.
The deferred income is released to the operating income over the shorter of the
remaining contract period or the useful economic life of the replacement component.
Assets contributed by the Trust to the operator for use in the scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as items of
property, plant and equipment in the Trust’s Statement of Financial Position.

1.11 Revenue government and other grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from
commissioners or NHS organisations for the provision of services. Where a grant
is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income to match that expenditure.

1.12 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Pharmacy
stocks are valued using a weighted average cost method. This is considered to be a
reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.
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1.13 Financial instruments and financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase
or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into
in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are
recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, i.e. when receipt or
delivery of the goods or services is made.
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed
of through finance leases are recognised and measured in accordance with the
accounting policy for leases described above in note 1.9.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the assets have expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or
expires.
Classification and measurement
Financial assets are categorised as “fair value through income and expenditure”, loans
and receivables or “available-for-sale financial assets”.
Financial liabilities are classified as “fair value through income and expenditure” or as
“other financial liabilities”.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at “fair value through income
and expenditure”
Financial assets and financial liabilities at “fair value through income and expenditure”
are financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial
liability is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Derivatives which are embedded in other contracts but which

are not “closely-related” to those contracts are separated-out from those contracts
and measured in this category. Assets and liabilities in this category are classified as
current assets and current liabilities.
These financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value,
with transaction costs expensed in the income and expenditure account. Subsequent
movements in the fair value are recognised as gains or losses in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments which are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current
assets.
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: current investments, cash and cash
equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and “other receivables”.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs,
and are measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and
credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are
included in long-term assets unless the Trust intends to dispose of them within 12
months of the Statement of Financial Position date.
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, including
transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value, with gains or losses
recognised in reserves and reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
an item of “other comprehensive income”. When items classified as “available-forsale” are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised are
transferred from reserves and recognised in “Finance Costs” in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
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Other financial liabilities

The exception to this is for early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions
which both use the HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of 0.24% in real terms.

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future
cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected
to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12
months after the Statement of Financial Position date, which are classified as longterm liabilities.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Trust has developed a detailed formal
plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that
it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its
main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those
amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated
with on-going activities of the entity.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective
interest method and charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out
to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets.

Clinical negligence costs

Impairment of financial assets

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which
the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical
negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical
negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical
negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at note
29.3 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial
assets, other than those held at “fair value through income and expenditure” are
impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the asset.

Non-clinical risk pooling

1.14 Provisions
The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation
of uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow
of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The
amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the
resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money
is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount
rates published and mandated by HM Treasury.
Rate 		
Short-term (up to 5 years)
Medium term (over 5 and up to 10 years
Long-term (over 10 years)

Real rate
-2.70%
-1.95%
-0.80%

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and in return receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions are charged to operating
expenses in the year in which they fall due, and any “excesses” payable in respect of
particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.

1.15 Contingencies
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Trust. A contingent asset is
disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Trust, or a present
obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable
that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the
possibility of a payment is remote.

1.18 Value Added Tax

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their
present value.

1.19 Corporation tax

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output
tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is
charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase
cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.

The Trust is a Health Service Body within the meaning of s519A ICTA 1988 and
accordingly is exempt from taxation in respect of income and capital gains within
categories covered by this. There is a power for the Treasury to dis-apply the
exemption in relation to specified activities of a Foundation Trust (s519A (3) to (8)
ICTA 1988). Accordingly, the Trust is potentially within the future scope of income tax
in respect of activities where income is received from a non public sector source.

1.16 Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the
excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS
trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the
meaning of IAS 32.
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as public
dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury
(currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Trust during the financial
year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all
liabilities, except for (i) donated assets (including lottery funded assets), (ii) average
daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) and National
Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate
to a short-term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or
payable. In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health
(as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average
relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. The
dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a
result of the audit of the annual accounts.

1.17 Research and Development
Expenditure on research is not capitalised, it is treated as an operating cost in the year
in which it is incurred.
Research and development activity cannot be separated from patient care activity and
is not a material operating segment within the Trust. Expenditure on this is therefore
not separately disclosed.

The tax expense on the surplus or deficit for the year comprises current and deferred
tax due to the Trust’s trading commercial subsidiaries, see note 7 to the financial
statements. Current tax is the expected tax payable for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided using the Statement of Financial Position liability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill or for temporary differences arising from the initial recognition
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit.
Deferred taxation is calculated using rates that are expected to apply when the related
deferred asset is realised or the deferred taxation liability is settled. Deferred tax
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the assets can be utilised.

1.20 Foreign exchange
The Trust’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions
denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate
ruling on the dates of the transactions.
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At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains
and losses for either of these are recognised in the Trust’s surplus/deficit in the period
in which they arise.

The critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty that
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are
detailed below:
Modern equivalent asset valuation

1.21 Third party assets

As detailed in policy note 1.7 ‘Property, plant and equipment’, a professional valuer
provided the Trust with a valuation of the land and building assets (estimated fair value
and remaining useful life) during the prior year, based on depreciated replacement
value, using modern equivalent asset and alternative site methodology. The adoption
of alternative site methodology was a change from previous accounting assumptions
which used a present site basis for land valuations. This valuation, based on
estimates provided by a suitably qualified professional in accordance with HM
Treasury guidance, led to various significant increases and reductions in the reported
fair value for a number of the Trust’s land and building assets.

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not
recognised in the accounts since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. Details
of third party assets are disclosed in note 25.2 to the accounts in accordance with the
requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.

1.22 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated
when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they
are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and
special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an
accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance
cover had NHS foundation trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

An equivalent valuation was provided to Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
during the prior year, also based on depreciated replacement value, using modern
equivalent asset and alternative site methodology.
The valuation provided to Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust and the
valuation provided to the Trust used different calculations for the remaining useful
lives of buildings. The Trust has assessed the impact that aligning the asset life
methodology would have on the depreciation charge to operating expenses, and has
concluded that the impact would be minimal, so the asset life calculations have not
been aligned. Alignment is planned for the next accounting period.

The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and
compensations register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of
provisions for future losses.

Future revaluations and valuation alignments of the Trust’s property may result in
further material changes to the carrying values of non-current assets.

1.23 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
		 estimation uncertainty

Provisions

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and
the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Provisions have been made for probable legal and constructive obligations of
uncertain timings and amount as at the reporting date. These are based on estimates
using relevant and reliable information as is available at the time the financial
statements are prepared. These provisions are estimates of the actual costs of
future cash flows and are dependent on future events. Any difference between
expectations and the actual future liability will be accounted for in the period when
such determination is made.
The carrying amounts of the Trust’s provisions are detailed in notes 29.1 and 29.2 to
the financial statements.
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1.24 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not
		 yet been adopted
The DH GAM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be
applied in 2016/17. These standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption,
with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for implementation in 2018/19, and the government
implementation date for IFRS 16 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
l

l

l

l

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Application required for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early
adoption is not therefore permitted;
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – Application required for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet adopted by
the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted;
IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore
permitted; and
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration – Application
required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Trust has not undertaken any detailed assessment of whether any of these
standards, amendments or interpretations will have a material impact on the financial
statements.

2 Operating segments
The Board as ‘Chief Operating Decision Maker’ has given due consideration to
the issue of Segmental Reporting and, after analysing the financial, reporting and
performance decision making activities of the Trust, has concluded that only one
Operating Segment, “Healthcare”, is to be reported. This meets the requirements and
aggregation criteria laid out in IFRS 8. The provision of healthcare (including medical
treatment, research and education) is within one main geographical segment, the
United Kingdom, and materially from Departments of HM Government in England.
Revenue from activities (medical treatment of patients) is analysed by customer type
in note 2.3 to the financial statements. Other operating income is also analysed in note
2.3 to the financial statements and materially consists of revenues from healthcare
research and development, medical education and the provision of services to other
NHS bodies.
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2.1 Operating income (by nature)
Group

Trust

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

£000

£000

Income from Activities
Acute Services
46,947

41,873

46,947

41,873

Non-elective income

Elective income

(a)

42,925

34,256

42,925

34,256

Outpatient income

32,652

25,036

32,652

25,036

A & E income
Other NHS clinical income

(b)

6,608

5,582

6,608

5,582

112,776

104,823

112,776

104,823

7,111

5,589

7,111

5,589

29,325

9,232

29,325

9,232

2,703

2,532

2,703

2,532

Mental Health services
Cost and volume contract income
Block contract income

(c)

Community services
Income from CCGs and NHS England
Other
Private patient income
Other non-protected clinical income

(d)

Total income from activities
STF income

(e)

Total other operating income
TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

(f)

(a) Elective income includes £607k (31 March 2016: £636k) from The Royal Orthopaedic
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust which relates to payment for activity undertaken at the Trust
on behalf of The Royal Orthopaedic Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust.
(b) Other NHS clinical income represents income outside the scope of Payments by Results
(PbR). This income comprises funding from NHS England and Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) for PbR exclusions.

520

766

520

766

362

492

362

492

281,929

230,181

281,929

230,181

6,351

-

6,351

-

28,416

23,968

28,949

24,524

316,696

254,149

317,229

254,705

2.2 Operating lease income
There has been no operating lease income in either the current or previous accounting
periods.

(c) Increases in Mental Health services income relate to the implementation of the Birmingham
0-25 Community Mental Health contract.
(d) Other non-protected clinical income relates to income from the NHS Injury Scheme in
respect of road traffic accidents (formerly RTA).
(e) STF income is funding allocated to the Trust by the Department of Health as part of the
national Sustainability and Transformation Fund.
(f)

All income is derived from continuing operations.
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2.3 Operating income (by source)
Group
Note

Trust

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

£000

£000

Income from Activities
NHS Foundation Trusts

(a)

1,097

636

1,097

636

NHS Trusts

(a)

536

-

536

-

(a)

271,651

224,022

271,651

224,022

1,900

-

1,900

-

520

766

520

766

CCGs and NHS England
Department of Health - other
Non-NHS: Private patients

(a),(b)
(c)

Non-NHS: Overseas patients

(c)

82

128

82

128

NHS injury scheme

(d)

362

492

362

492

Non-NHS: Other

(e)

5,781

4,137

5,781

4,137

Total income from activities

(f)

281,929

230,181

281,929

230,181

Other operating income
Research and development

5,720

4,150

5,720

4,150

Education and training

8,450

8,144

8,450

8,144

513

282

513

282

NHS Charities: donation of assets
NHS Charities: cash to buy assets

(g)

2,030

484

2,030

484

Charitable/other contributions

(h)

561

937

561

937

8,908

7,948

9,441

8,504

Non-patient care services
STF income

6,351

-

6,351

-

Other *

2,234

2,023

2,234

2,023

Total other operating income

34,767

23,968

35,300

24,524

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

316,696

254,149

317,229

254,705

(a) The Department of Health is regarded as the parent Department of NHS England,
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts.
When combined these four areas are regarded as a related party as outlined in note 32.
(b) Income from the Department of Health relates to transaction and transition support
funding for the acquisition of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust as detailed in
note 15.3.
(c) Income from overseas patients relates entirely to overseas visitors who are exempt from
direct charges and, therefore, were charged to the Trust’s host CCG. Income from private
patients includes overseas patients charged directly by the Trust, as detailed in note 2.4.
(d) NHS Injury Scheme income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts of 100% of debts
over 2 years old and 22.94% of debts that are 2 years or less to reflect expected rates of
collection and the probability of not receiving income due to withdrawn cases or exemptions.

(e) Non-NHS Other includes the income from activities by Non-English Health bodies: Wales,
Scotland and Northern Ireland.
(f)

All activity income other than overseas visitor and private patient income as detailed in note
2.4 is associated with Commissioner Requested Services.

(g) The increase in income from BCH Charities is specific funding towards the development of
a new clinical building.
(h) This sum relates to the grant to cover the cost of the Fundraising Team. This varies on an
annual basis dependent on the agreement between the Trust and BCH Charities regarding
the financial plan for that year. Any balance that is subsequently not passed over to the
Trust is set to one side towards the strategic investment in a new hospital.
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*Analysis of Other
Operating Income: Other

Car parking
Pharmacy sales
Staff accommodation rentals
Clinical tests
Clinical excellence awards

Group

2.5 Underlying Financial Performance

Trust

31 March
2017

31 March
2016

31 March
2017

31 March
2016

£000

£000

£000

£000

189

243

189

243

68

141

68

141

The surplus for the organisation included a number of one-off items. The following
table shows the financial position that would have been recorded had these oneoff items not occurred, which is a true reflection of the organisation’s financial
performance.
Group

13

25

13

25

169

-

169

-

31 March
2017

31 March
2017

1,301

1,331

1,301

1,331

£000

£000

55,047

54,886

Catering

42

-

42

-

Property rentals

22

25

22

25

Other

430

258

430

258

Total

2,234

2,023

2,234

2,023

3

Trust

Surplus for the year
Less: one-off items included within surplus

31 March
2017

31 March
2016

£000

£000

82

128

102

339

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables

-

108

Amounts written off in-year

-

-

Income recognised this year
Cash payments received in-year

(a)

(42,979)

(42,979)

Sustainability and Transformation Fund income

(b)

(6,351)

(6,351)

Donations of assets and cash to buy assets

(c)

(2,543)

(2,543)

3,174

3,013

Underlying surplus for the year

2.4 Overseas visitors
(relating to patients charged directly by the Trust)
3

Gain on transfer by absorption

(a) Gain on transfer by absorption reflects the net gain corresponding to the assets and
liabilities transferred to the Trust on the acquisition of Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust. More information is given in note 15.
(b) Sustainability and Transformation Fund income allocated by the Department of Health is
non-recurrent cash funding that was contingent on the Trust achieving an agreed
underlying surplus for the year and was not available to fund expenditure.
(c) Donations of assets and cash to buy assets comprise the recognition of medical equipment
donated to the Trust and funding from BCH Charities towards the development of a new
clinical building.
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3 Operating expenses

Group

Trust

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

£000

£000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts

2,814

2,036

2,814

2,036

Services from NHS Trusts

1,054

1,661

1,054

1,661

12

-

12

19

Services from CCGs and NHS England
Services from other NHS Bodies

47

19

47

125

51

125

51

1,650

1,406

1,650

1,406

132

175

132

175

178,924

156,868

178,905

156,854

44,286

24,934

44,280

24,927

Supplies and services - general

3,409

2,848

3,407

2,848

Establishment

3,195

2,436

3,191

2,434

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Employee Expenses - Executive directors
Remuneration of non-executive directors
Employee Expenses - Staff
Supplies and services - clinical (ex drug costs)

Transport (Business travel only)
Transport (other)
Premises - Local Authority business rates
Premises - other
Increase in provision for impaired receivables
Change in provisions discount rate
Drug costs (non-inventory drugs only)
Drugs Inventories consumed

353

519

353

519

1,600

1,378

1,600

1,378

654

639

654

639

9,667

7,305

9,666

7,304

447

262

447

262

20

2

20

2

35,896

30,703

36,693

31,620

102

187

102

12

Rentals under operating leases

1,204

1,193

1,204

1,193

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

5,152

5,028

5,152

5,028

246

130

246

130

-

3,677

-

3,677

54

86

49

81

Amortisation on intangible assets
Impairments of property, plant and equipment
Audit fees payable to the external auditor
audit services - statutory audit
other auditor remuneration

97

102

97

102

Clinical negligence premium

4,326

3,728

4,326

3,728

Legal fees
Consultancy costs
Internal audit costs

505

354

504

353

1,754

1,255

1,754

1,255

191

152

191

152

1,226

1,543

1,226

1,543

78

91

78

91

Car parking & Security

370

385

370

385

Insurance

140

92

140

92

Other services, eg. external payroll

704

763

704

763

24

28

24

28

Training, courses and conferences
Patient travel

Losses, ex gratia & special payments
Other
TOTAL

22

112

22

112

300,480

252,148

301,239

252,860
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4.1 Employee expenses

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

Total

Permanent

Other

Total

Permanent

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Salaries and wages

145,713

142,817

2,896

128,023

125,823

2,200

Social security costs

14,924

14,924

-

11,146

11,139

7

Pension cost - NHS Pensions

17,188

17,188

-

15,572

15,572

-

Agency/contract staff

3,043

-

3,043

3,632

-

3,632

TOTAL STAFF COSTS

180,868

174,929

5,939

158,373 1

52,534

5,839

294

294

-

99

99

-

178,924

172,985

5,939

156,868

151,088

5,780

1,650

1,650

-

1,406

1,347

59

included within:
Costs capitalised as part of assets
Analysed into Operating Expenditure
Employee Expenses - Staff
Employee Expenses - Executive directors

The analysis above is for the Group and does not include any costs in respect of non-executive directors.

4.2 Average number of employees (WTE basis)
		

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

Total

Permanent

Other

Total

Permanent

Other

Number

Number

Number

Number

Number

Number

Medical and dental

437

216

221

417

214

203

Administration and estates

984

885

99

895

822

73

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

308

305

3

290

274

16

1,259

1,235

24

1,149

1,127

22

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff

551

515

36

528

485

43

Healthcare science staff

166

158

8

122

121

1

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff

Other
Total average number of employees

13

1

12

7

1

6

3,718

3,315

403

3,408

3,044

364

4.3 Early retirements due to ill health
31 March 2017
No. of early retirements on the grounds of ill-health
Value of early retirements on the grounds of ill-health (£000)

31 March 2016
2

-

73

-

The cost of ill health retirements has been borne by the NHS Business Services Authority (Pensions Division).
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4.4 Analysis of termination benefits

4.6 Exit packages: other (non-compulsory) departure payments
– 2016/17

Termination benefits were payable to 10 members of staff during the year, at a total
cost of £97k.

Payments for non-compulsory departures in 2016/17 are analysed as follows:
			

4.5 Staff exit packages

Number of
payments
agreed

Total value of
payments
£000

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement
contractual costs

1

28

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service
contractual costs

6

13

Total

7

41

Staff exit packages agreed during the year are summarised as follows:
Exit Package Cost Band

Total Number of
Exit Packages by
Cost Band

Number of Other
Departures
Agreed

Number of
Compulsory
Redundancies

< £10,000

-

6

6

£10,000 - £25,000

3

-

3

£25,001 - £50,000

-

1

1

£50,001 - £100,000

-

-

-

£100,001 - £150,000

-

-

-

£150,001 - £200,000

-

-

-

> £200,000

-

-

-

Total Number of Exit Packages

3

7

10

56

41

97

Total Resource Cost - £’000

Equivalent staff exit packages agreed during 2015/16 were:
Exit Package Cost Band

Total Number of
Exit Packages by
Cost Band

Number of Other
Departures
Agreed

Number of
Compulsory
Redundancies

< £10,000

-

9

9

£10,000 - £25,000

-

-

3

£25,001 - £50,000

2

-

2

£50,001 - £100,000

4

-

4

£100,001 - £150,000

3

-

3

£150,001 - £200,000

-

-

-

> £200,000

-

-

-

Total Number of Exit Packages

9

9

18

786

47

833

Total Resource Cost - £’000

As a single exit package can be made up of several components, each of which will
be counted separately in this note, the total number above will not necessarily match
the total numbers in note 4.5 which will be the number of individuals.
None of the payments above has a value exceeding 12 months’ salary for the
individual concerned.

4.7 Exit packages: other (non-compulsory) departure payments
– 2015/16
Payments for non-compulsory departures in 2015/16 are analysed as follows:
			
Number of
payments
agreed

Total value of
payments
£000

Contractual payments in lieu of notice

9

47

Total

9

47

As a single exit package can be made up of several components, each of which will
be counted separately in this note, the total number above will not necessarily match
the total numbers in note 4.5 which will be the number of individuals.
None of the payments above has a value exceeding 12 months’ salary for the
individual concerned.
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5.1 Analysis of operating lease expenditure

5.5 Other audit remuneration

			
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Minimum lease payments

1,204

1,193

TOTAL

1,204

1,193

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor is analysed as follows:
			

5.2 Arrangements containing an operating lease
			

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Future minimum lease payments due:

1,204

1,193

- not later than one year;

1,042

1,156

759

978

-

27

1,801

2,161

- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
TOTAL

There are no future sublease payments receivables by the Trust or the Group in either
the current or previous accounting periods.

31 March 2016
£000

Taxation compliance services

79

80

All other non-audit services

18

22

TOTAL

97

102

6 Discontinued Operations
There have been no discontinued operations in either the current or previous
accounting periods.

7 Corporation tax
The subsidiary company, Birmingham Children’s Hospital Pharmacy Ltd, has recently
concluded its fourth reporting period and has recorded a surplus resulting in a liability
			
for corporation tax.

5.3 Limitation on auditor’s liability

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

41

20

-

5

41

25

20%

20%

2,422

(292)

(2,378)

312

Adjustments in respect of prior years

-

5

Total income tax charge for the year

44

25

UK corporation tax expense

			

Limitation on Auditor’s liability as per agreement dated
30 March 2017

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

1,000

1,000

Deferred tax expense
Total income tax expense in Statement
of Comprehensive Income
Reconciliation of effective tax charge
Effective tax charge percentage

5.4 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

Tax if effective tax rate charged on surpluses
before tax

There are no amounts included within ‘other interest payable’ arising from claims
made under this legislation in either the current or previous accounting periods.

Effect of:
Surpluses not subject to tax

There has been no compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this
legislation in either the current or previous accounting periods.

The tax charge in the future will be affected by the reduction in the corporation tax
main rate to 19% from April 2017 and to 17% from April 2020.
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8			
Finance revenue

11.1 Intangible assets 2016/17

			

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

96

156

96

156

-

-

24

31

Interest on bank accounts
Interest on loans and receivables
TOTAL

96

156

120

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2016

187

Interest on bank accounts has been earned from surplus funds held within the
Government Banking Services (GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF).

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

Main Finance Costs

247

265

Contingent Finance Costs

387

498

634

763

Finance Costs on PFI obligations

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Total Impairments

Additions - purchased / internally generated

789

789

29

29

2,775

2,775

694

694

Transfers by absorption - Normal

332

332

Provided during the year

246

246

Amortisation at 31 March 2017

1,272

1,272

Net book value at 31 March 2017

1,503

1,503

360

360

Total
£000

Software
licences
(purchased)
£000

987

987

67

67

1,054

1,054

564

564

130

130

Amortisation at 31 March 2016

694

694

Net book value at 31 March 2016

360

360

Net book value at 1 April 2015

423

423

11.2 Intangible assets 2015/16

			

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2015

			

Total Impairments charged to operating surplus/deficit

903

Net book value at 1 April 2016

10 Impairment of assets (PPE & intangibles)

Changes in modern equivalent valuation

1,054

903

Amortisation at 1 April 2016

			

TOTAL

1,054

Valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2017

9 Finance expenses

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

-

3,677

-

3,677

-

10,058

-

13,735

Software
licences
(purchased)
£000

Transfers by absorption - Normal
Reclassifications

There is no interest on impaired financial assets included in finance income in either
the current or previous accounting periods.

Total
£000

Additions - purchased / internally generated
Valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2016
Amortisation at 1 April 2015
Provided during the year

Impairments in the previous accounting period relate to the full revaluation of Land
and Buildings as at 31 March 2016, undertaken by professional valuers GVA Grimley
holding appropriate Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors qualifications.
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12.1 Property, plant and equipment 2016/17
Total

Land

Assets Under
Buildings
excluding Construction &
POA
dwellings

Plant &
Machinery

Information
Technology

Furntiure
& Fittings

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

136,499

6,385

82,385

10,336

29,344

6,321

1,728

Transfers by absorption - Normal

61,845

4,317

31,431

2,140

15,348

8,126

483

Additions - purchased

23,026

-

1,038

19,863

1,690

417

18

513

-

22

-

476

9

6

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2016

Additions - donations of physical assets (non-cash)
Additions - assets purchased from cash donations / grants

2,030

-

724

1,306

-

-

-

Reclassifications

(29)

-

2,170

(2,885)

516

170

-

Revaluations

486

-

-

-

387

68

31

Disposals
Valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2017
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2016
Transfers by absorption - Normal
Provided during the year

(2,249)

-

-

-

(2,249)

-

-

222,121

10,702

117,770

30,760

45,512

15,111

2,266

23,611

-

-

516

18,712

3,225

1,158

16,950

-

487

-

11,526

4,624

313

5,152

-

1,978

-

2,074

997

103

Revaluations
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2017

294

-

-

-

247

26

21

(2,248)

-

-

-

(2,248)

-

-

43,759

-

2,465

516

30,311

8,872

1,595

167,405

10,702

107,327

30,220

12,422

6,136

598

Net book value at 31 March 2017
Owned
On-SoFP PFI contracts

3,398

-

3,398

-

-

-

-

Donated

7,559

-

4,580

24

2,779

103

73

178,362

10,702

115,305

30,244

15,201

6,239

671

NBV total at 31 March 2017

All property, plant and equipment within the Group belongs to the Trust.
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12.2 Property, plant and equipment 2015/16
Total

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2016
Additions - purchased

Land

Assets Under
Buildings
excluding Construction &
POA
dwellings

Plant &
Machinery

Information
Technology

Furntiure
& Fittings

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

136,447

15,648

79,805

5,168

28,651

5,513

1,662

11,657

-

2,007

7,850

1,715

40

45

Additions - donations of physical assets (non-cash)

282

-

-

-

282

-

-

Additions - assets purchased from cash donations/grants

484

-

167

106

211

-

-

Impairments charged to operating expenses

(3,677)

(691)

(2,986)

-

-

-

-

Impairments charged to revaluation reserve

(10,058)

(8,602)

(1,456)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,768

(2,794)

247

754

25

3,651

30

3,463

6

136

20

(4)

Reclassifications
Revaluations
Disposals
Valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2016
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2015

(2,287)

-

(383)

-

(1,898)

(6)

-

136,499

6,385

82,385

10,336

29,344

6,321

1,728

25,654

-

3,018

516

18,616

2,454

1,050

5,028

-

2,261

-

1,885

771

111

Revaluations

(4,805)

-

(4,896)

-

88

6

(3)

Disposals

(2,266)

-

(383)

-

(1,877)

(6)

-

23,611

-

-

516

18,712

3,225

1,158

Provided during the year

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2016
Net book value - 31 March 2016

104,955

6,385

75,770

9,714

9,498

3,076

512

On-SoFP PFI contracts

Owned

3,618

-

3,618

-

-

-

-

Donated

4,315

-

2,997

106

1,134

20

58

112,888

6,385

82,385

9,820

10,632

3,096

570

NBV total at 31 March 2016

All property, plant and equipment within the Group belongs to the Trust.
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13
Economic life of intangible assets
			
Min Life Years Max Life Years

Combined revenue figures for the two Trusts for the full financial year are given in the
following table. Synergies derived from operating as a single Trust have not been
taken into account in these figures.
£000

Intangible assets - purchased
Software

1

5

14 Economic life of property, plant and equipment
			

Min Life Years

Max Life Years

Land

Infinite

Buildings excluding dwellings

5

Plant & machinery
Information technology
Furniture & fittings

Operating income from continuing operations

400,729

Operating expenses of continuing operations

(385,805)

Total operating expenses of continuing operations

14,924

Net finance costs

(5,120)

Other gains and losses

(755)

Infinite

Surplus for the year

9,049

85

Other comprehensive income

3,584

1

25

Total comprehensive income for the year

1

12

1

12

15 Transfer by absorption
On 1 February 2017, Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust acquired
Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust (BWNFT) and was renamed Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust. Reasons for the acquisition are
described in the Performance Report in section 2 of the Annual Report.
The financial statements represent the results of Birmingham Children’s Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust for the ten months to 31 January 2017 and the combined
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust for the two months to 31
March 2017. All prior year comparatives are those of Birmingham Children’s Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust.

12,633

15.1 Gain on transfer by absorption
The assets and liabilities of BWNFT as at 31 January 2017 were transferred to the
Trust’s Statement of Financial Position. In line with the requirements of the DH GAM
2016/17, these were transferred at book value and were not adjusted to fair value
prior to recognition.
A gain on transfer by absorption equal to the book value of the net assets of BWNFT
on the date of acquisition is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for
the Trust.
The value of assets and liabilities acquired is below.

£000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment

Combined revenue figures for the two Trusts for the full financial year are given in the
following table. Synergies derived from operating as a single Trust have not been
taken into account in these figures.

Intangible assets
Current trade and other receivables

44,895
571
10,090

Inventories

1,174

Cash and cash equivalents

1,539

Total assets transferred

58,269

Liabilities
Current trade and other payables

(9,093)

Current other liabilities and other financial liabilities

(6,075)

Current provisions
Total liabilities transferred
Total net assets transferred

146
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15.2 Revaluation reserve
BWNFT had a revaluation reserve of £5,725k as at 31 January 2017. As per the
Statement of Changes in Equity, this was recreated in the Trust immediately on
acquisition by transferring £5,725k from the income and expenditure reserve to the
revaluation reserve.

15.3 Transaction support
As part of the integration with Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust,
Birmingham Children’s Hospital requested a support package for the transaction. This
included £1,900k funding for transaction and transition costs incurred in the outturn
year (2016/17) with further support required through to 2018/19. This was agreed by
NHS Improvement although as at 31 March 2017 the funding for 2016/17, although
approved and confirmed, had not been received.

17.2 Disclosure of aggregate amounts for assets and liabilities
of jointly controlled operations
Neither the Trust nor the Group held any investments in associates or jointly controlled
operations in either the current or previous accounting periods.

18.1 Non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups
Neither the Trust nor the Group had non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal
groups at either the current or previous year-end.

18.2 Liabilities in disposal groups
Neither the Trust nor the Group had liabilities in disposal groups at either the current
or previous year-end.

16.1 Investments

19 Other assets

The Trust holds 100% of the share capital of Birmingham Children’s Hospital Health
Services Ltd, a holding company for further trading subsidiaries, with share value of
£1k. This investment was also held during 2015/16. This company is incorporated in
the UK under company number 08103783.

Neither the Trust nor the Group held any pension scheme assets or other assets at
either the current or previous year-end.

Birmingham Children’s Hospital Health Services Ltd holds 100% of the share capital
of Birmingham Children’s Hospital Pharmacy Ltd, also with share value of £1k. This
company is incorporated in the UK under company number 08104635. The principal
activity of Birmingham Children’s Hospital Pharmacy Ltd is to provide an outpatient
pharmacy service.

The working capital for Birmingham Children’s Hospital Pharmacy Ltd has been
provided by way of a cash loan from the Trust which is subject to interest at a
commercial rate (7%) plus a principal repayment schedule. At 31 March 2017 the
remaining value of this loan was £300k. This is a financial asset to the Trust that is
eliminated on consolidation.

20 Other financial assets

The transactions of the wholly-owned subsidiaries are consolidated into the accounts
of the Trust where appropriate and presented under the ‘Group’ heading.

16.2 Investment property
Neither the Trust nor the Group held any investment property in either the current or
previous accounting periods.

17.1 Fair value of investments in associates
and jointly controlled operations)
Neither the Trust nor the Group held any investments in associates or jointly controlled
operations in either the current or previous accounting periods.
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21.1 Inventory movements – 2016/17

22 Trade and other receivables
			

Group

Total

Drugs

Consumables

£000

£000

£000

Carrying Value at 1 April 2016
Transfers by absorption-Normal

Carrying Value at 31 March 2017

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

NHS receivables - revenue

11,771

4,603

11,117

4,603

1,315

3,429

1,174

-

1,174

776

142

634

(768)

(102)

(666)

Provision for impaired receivables

(2,186)

(1,677)

(2,186)

(1,677)

5,926

1,355

4,571

Prepayments (non-PFI) - revenue

3,789

3,238

3,789

3,190

15,682

3,775

15,682

3,823

70

-

70

-

813

683

813

683

4,812

2,118

5,379

2,019

34,751

12,740

34,664

12,641

Other receivables - revenue

1,565

1,619

1,565

1,619

TOTAL NON-CURRENT TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

1,565

1,619

1,565

1,619

Current

Accrued income
Trust

Total

Drugs

Consumables

PDC dividend receivable

£000

£000

£000

VAT receivable

Carrying Value at 1 April 2016
Transfers by absorption-Normal

4,539

1,110

3,429

Other receivables - revenue

1,174

-

1,174

774

142

634

TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

Additions
Inventories recognised in expenses
Carrying Value at 31 March 2017

(768)

(102)

(666)

5,719

1,148

4,571

Non-Current

Neither the Trust nor the Group incurred any write-down of inventories or incurred any
expenses in relation to inventories in either the current or previous accounting periods.

21.2 Inventory movements – 2015/16
Group

Total

Drugs

Consumables

£000

£000

£000

Carrying Value at 1 April 2015
Additions
Inventories recognised in expenses
Carrying Value at 31 March 2017
Trust
Carrying Value at 1 April 2015
Additions
Inventories recognised in expenses
Carrying Value at 31 March 2017

Trust

4,744

Additions
Inventories recognised in expenses

Group

4,453

1,297

3,156

659

205

454

(368)

(187)

(181)

4,744

1,315

3,429

Total

Drugs

Consumables

£000

£000

£000

4,278

1,122

The Trust has considered the NHS Improvement requirements under IFRS 7 relating
to credit risk. The majority of the Trust’s financial assets relate to money due from
other NHS organisations. Other NHS organisations are extremely unlikely to default on
payments, and the Trust would only invest its cash deposits within a strict investment
policy. There are no transactions involving hedging, foreign currency or other
investments prone to market fluctuations. There is therefore no material exposure to
credit, market or liquidity risks.

3,156

454

-

454

(193)

(12)

(181)

4,539

1,110

3,429
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23.1 Provision for impairment of receivables

25.1 Cash and cash equivalents

			

			

2016/2017
£000

2015/2016
£000

1,677

1,698

At 1 April
Transfers by absorption-Normal

174

-

Increase in provision

986

649

At 1 April
Transfers by absorption-Normal

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

42,079

51,775

41,877

51,547

1,539

-

1,539

-

(11,939)

(9,696)

(11,981)

(9,670)

31,679

42,079

31,435

41,877

812

316

568

114

30,867

2,763

30,867

2,763

-

39,000

-

39,000

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP

31,679

42,079

31,435

41,877

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF

31,679

42,079

31,435

41,877

Net change in year

Amounts utilised

(112)

(283)

At 31 March

Unused amounts reversed

(539)

(387)

Broken down into:

At 31 March

2,186

1,677

Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government
Banking Service

23.2 Analysis of impaired receivables

Deposits with the National Loan Fund

			
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Up to 30 days

14

-

31 to 60 days

16

-

61 to 90 days

1

25

Ageing of impaired receivables

91 to 180 days

186

64

Over 180 days

1,969

1,588

Total

2,186

1,677

Up to 30 days

11,098

3,782

31 to 60 days

1,378

970

The National Loan Fund (NLF) is a Government-based short-term deposit account
that offers better credit interest rates than the Government Banking Service (GBS).
As detailed in note 1.16, deposits held within NLF as well as cash balances held within
GBS are excluded from the total assets used to calculate the Trust’s PDC dividend.

25.2 Third Party Assets
Neither the Trust nor the Group held any third party assets at either the current or
previous year-end.

			
Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date

61 to 90 days

901

305

91 to 180 days

1,608

755

Over 180 days

928

655

15,913

6,467

Total

24 Finance lease receivables
Neither the Trust nor the Group had any finance lease receivables at either the current
or previous year-end.
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27 Borrowings – Group and Trust

26.1 Trade and other payables

			

			
Group

		

31 March
2017
£000

Trust

31 March
2016
£000

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

5,300

2,731

5,300

2,731

-

84

-

84

6,749

1,899

6,749

1,899

13,541

9,768

13,541

9,742

Social Security costs

2,711

1,630

2,711

1,630

Other taxes payable

5,172

1,716

5,172

1,716

Other payables

1,009

1,723

1,014

1,723

13,564

10,079

13,564

10,079

-

12

-

12

48,046

29,642

48,051

29,616

Related party payables - capital
Other trade payables - capital
Other trade payables - revenue

Accruals
PDC dividend payable
TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

31 March 2016
£000

Obligations under PFI contracts (excl. lifecycle)

166

144

TOTAL CURRENT BORROWINGS

166

144

1,28

1,455

1,289

1,455

Current

Current
NHS payables - revenue

31 March 2017
£000

Non - current
Obligations under PFI contracts
TOTAL NON-CURRENT BORROWINGS

The Trust’s borrowings relate to a PFI scheme for the refurbishment and management
of previously dilapidated buildings at sites on Whittall Street and Steelhouse Lane,
entered into during 1998.

28.1 Other liabilities – Group and Trust

			
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Current

Neither the Trust nor the Group had any non-current liabilities in respect of trade and
other payables in either the current or previous accounting period.

Other deferred income

10,494

6,914

TOTAL OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

10,494

6,914

26.2 Early retirements included in NHS payables above

Other deferred income

-

536

TOTAL OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

-

536

Non - current

Neither the Trust nor the Group incurred any expenditure in respect of early retirement
in either the current or previous accounting period.

28.2 Other financial liabilities
Neither the Trust nor the Group has any other financial liabilities not previously stated
(31 March 2016: £nil).
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29.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges – Group and Trust

29.2 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis –

Group and Trust
			

			
Current

Non - current

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

Other legal claims

174

132

-

-

Transfers by absorption

Redundancy

299

907

-

-

Change in the discount rate

At 1 April 2016

Total
£000

Other legal
claims
£000

Redundancy
£000

Other
£000

2,904

132

907

1,865

122

36

-

86

20

-

-

20
4

Other

1,915

30

-

1,835

Arising during the year

309

6

299

Total

2,388

1,069

-

1,835

Utilised during the year - cash

(626)

-

(624)

(2)

Reversed unused

(313)

-

(283)

(30)

(28)

-

-

(28)

2,388

174

299

1,915

Redundancy provisions relate to staffing restructures associated with the acquisition
of Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust. Other provisions relate to settlements
under equal pay claims. Cash flows associated with these provisions are expected to
occur within the subsequent accounting period. Provision values are made according
to the most up-to-date information available at the reporting date, although these
figures are subject to estimation uncertainty. Provisions are discounted according to
the estimated timing of the associated cash flows utilising the discount rates described
in note 1.14.

Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2017
Expected timing of cash flows:
not later than one year

2,388

174

299

1,915

later than one year and not later than five

-

-

-

-

later than five years

-

-

-

-

2,388

174

299

1,915

TOTAL

The reversal of unused provisions relates to several provisions included in the
previous financial year that have been reassessed on current information and are no
longer required. The largest of these releases relate to the award of the Birmingham
0-25 Community Mental Health contract: £283k for TUPE costs that did not
materialise.

29.3
Clinical negligence liabilities
			
		

Amount included in provisions of the
NHSLA in respect of clinical negligence liabilities

31 March 2017
£000
270,000

31 March 2016
£000
88,650

The Trust is a member of the NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) Clinical Negligence
Scheme, therefore all clinical negligence claims are recognised in the accounts of the
NHSLA. Consequently, the Trust has no provision for clinical negligence claims. The
NHSLA will provide a schedule showing the claims recognised in the books of the
NHSLA on behalf of the Trust.
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Of the clinical negligence scheme liabilities as at 31 March 2017, £165,264k relate
to liabilities transferred from the scheme membership of Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust.

32 Related party transactions
Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust is a corporate body
authorised by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts in exercise of the
powers conferred by Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

30 Contingent (Liabilities) / Assets

			
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

270,000

88,650

-

-

Employee related litigation

(10)

(86)

Gross value of contingent liabilities

(10)

(86)

-

-

(10)

(86)

Value of contingent liabilities
		
NHS Litigation Authority legal claims

Amounts recoverable against liabilities
Net value of contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are recognised by the Trust in relation to on-going legal cases
where there remains uncertainty that a loss of economic benefit will arise. Cases
where a loss of economic benefit is probable have been provided for within the
Statement of Financial Position.

These entities are listed below with a disclosure of the total balances owed and owing
as at the reporting date and total transactions with the Trust for the reporting year.

31 Revaluation reserve movements – Group and Trust
			

Transfers by absorption

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

29,496

17,874

5,725

-

Impairments

-

(10,058)

Revaluations

192

8,456

Transfers from other reserves
Asset disposals
Revaluation reserve at 31 March

During the year, transactions took place between the Trust and its trading subsidiary
Birmingham Children’s Hospital Pharmacy Ltd. These transactions have been
eliminated on consolidation. The Trust purchased outpatient drugs from the subsidiary
to a value of £3,198k during the financial year, and the subsidiary purchased
management and other services from the Trust to a value of £559k during the same
period.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the period the Trust
has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the
Department is regarded as the parent Department.

The net value of contingent assets is £nil (2016: £nil).

Revaluation reserve at 1 April

During the year none of the Board members or members of the key management staff
or parties related to them has undertaken any material transactions with Birmingham
Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust.

-

13,269

(125)

(45)

35,288

29,496

The Executive Directors of the Trust all held Executive Director roles at Birmingham
Women’s NHS Foundation Trust prior to the acquisition on 1 February. The Trust’s
formal Service Level Agreement with Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust
was for a variety of services that were individually negotiated and agreed.
Ms Michelle McLoughlin, an Executive Director of the Trust, is the partner of
Mr Kevin Bolger, an Executive Director of University Hospital Birmingham NHS
Foundation Trust. The Trust’s formal Service Level Agreement with University Hospital
Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust is for a variety of services that are individually
negotiated and agreed.
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Receivables

Payables

Revenue

Expenditure

£000

£000

£000

£000

NHS England

10,171

267

191,314

230

NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG

745

844

32,290

819

NHS Birmingham South and Central CCG

2,294

1,525

23,541

-

NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG

1,210

-

16,424

-

Health Education England

530

140

9,448

19

Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust

-

28

2

7,067

University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust

559

2,608

2,006

4,342

NHS Litigation Authority

-

2

-

4,326

NHS Solihull CCG

360

-

2,608

-

NHS Dudley CCG

-

185

2,145

-

Department of Health

1,906

162

1,995

162

Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust

1,589

475

570

318

NHS Walsall CCG

202

-

1,520

-

The Royal Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

882

93

1,470

368

NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG

150

-

1,256

-

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

-

-

1,170

294

NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG

123

-

1,047

-

NHS Wolverhampton CCG

302

-

1,028

-

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

453

252

1,005

702

Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust

622

428

725

904

NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG

1

92

894

-

NHS South Worcestershire CCG

-

40

783

-

NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG

416

-

730

-

Birmingham Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

386

161

666

250

Community Health Partnerships

-

57

-

602

NHS Warwickshire North CCG

126

-

536

-

NHS South Warwickshire CCG

74

-

514

-

Other NHS

2,570

1,729

5,726

1,555

25,671

9,088

301,413

21,958

NHS in England

153
153
153

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Related party balances and transactions for the previous reporting period are listed in the below table:
Receivables

Payables

Revenue

Expenditure

£000

£000

£000

£000

NHS England

3,829

-

165,405

6

NHS Birmingham Crosscity CCG

705

-

21,831

-

NHS Birmingham South and Central CCG

1,066

-

16,157

2

NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG

187

93

10,541

-

Health Education England

249

77

8,422

-

NHS Litigation Authority

-

-

-

3,728

University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust

877

1,134

1,547

3,272

NHS Solihull CCG

203

-

2,107

-

NHS Dudley CCG

56

-

2,007

-

The Royal Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

411

51

1,493

375

NHS Walsall CCG

60

49

1,300

-

NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG

10

-

959

-

Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust

131

155

333

941

NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG

18

15

932

-

NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG

6

87

872

-

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

64

28

870

542

University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust

25

767

160

466

Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

701

116

741

560

Birmingham Community Healthcare NHS Trust

473

199

727

354

NHS South Worcestershire CCG

24

14

709

-

NHS Wolverhampton CCG

31

13

669

-

NHS Shropshire CCG

50

-

503

-

Other NHS

1,277

727

5,272

1,715

10,453

3,525

243,557

1,961

NHS in England
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33 Contractual capital commitments

35.1 On-SoFP PFI obligations (finance lease element)
			

Commitments under contract at the date of the Statement of Financial Position are:
			
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Property, plant and equipment

14,028

1,983

Total

14,028

1,983

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

2,348

2,740

391

391

1,566

1,566

391

783

Finance charges allocated to future periods

(893)

(1,141)

Net PFI obligation of which liabilities are due

Gross PFI liabilities of which liabilities are due
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

Contractual commitments at 31 March 2017 comprise major development schemes
for clinical buildings (£13.8m) and Estates maintenance/refurbishment commitments
(£0.2m).

34 Finance lease obligations
Neither the Trust nor the Group has any finance lease obligations arising in either the
current or previous accounting period other than those relating to an on-SoFP PFI
scheme.

1,455

1,599

- not later than one year;

166

144

- later than one year and not later than five years;

952

826

- later than five years.

337

629

35.2 Total On-SoFP PFI commitments
The Trust is committed to making the following payments for on-SoFP PFIs obligations
during the next year in which the commitment expires:
			

The on-SoFP PFI scheme is for the refurbishment and management of previously
dilapidated buildings at sites on Whittall Street and Steelhouse Lane, Birmingham,
to bring them into use as offices, on-call accommodation and general staff
accommodation. The Scheme is with Riverside Housing Group (previously with
English Churches Housing Group (ECHG) who, in October 2006, merged with
Riverside Housing Group).

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Total future payments committed of which due
		

5,172

6,034

862

862

- later than one year and not later than five years;

3,448

3,448

862

1,724

- not later than one year;

The main agreements made between the Trust and ECHG (dated 22 August 1997 and
11 May 1998) outline the arrangements for land and premises on 3 related sites of
the former Birmingham General Hospital to be transferred to ECHG under 3 separate
Headleases for a term of 99 years at a peppercorn rent.

- later than five years.

The current on-SoFP PFI obligations are due to expire on 31 March 2023.

ECHG were to undertake development / refurbishment works in respect of the
premises under a separate Development Agreement. On practical completion of those
works ECHG granted secondary Underleases of the newly refurbished premises to the
Trust. These three Underleases are for a period of 25 years. The Trust has an option
to extend the Underleases in 5 yearly increments up to a maximum of 50 years.
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38.2 Financial liabilities by category

35.3 Analysis of amounts payable to service

			
concession operator

			

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

862

984

Unitary payment payable to service
		
concession operator

Group

Trust

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

1,455

1,599

1,455

1,599

Liabilities as per SoFP

Consisting of:
- Interest charge

247

265

Obligations under PFI

- Repayment of finance lease liability

145

152

Trade and other payables

48,046

29,642

48,051

29,616

83

69

Other financial liabilities

12,882

10,354

12,882

10,354

Total

62,383

41,595

62,388

41,569

- Service element
- Contingent rent

387

498

Total amount paid to service concession operator

862

984

36 Off-SoFP PFI commitments

38.3 Fair values of current and non-current financial assets
and financial liabilities at 31 March 2017

The Group has not entered into any off-SoFP PFI agreements.

37 Events after the reporting period
There have been no events after the reporting period having a material effect on the
accounts.

38.1 Financial assets by category

The Trust has considered the values of current and non-current financial assets
and current and non-current financial liabilities and has concluded that there is
no significant difference between book values and fair values that requires further
disclosure in either the current or previous accounting period.

38.4 Maturity of financial liabilities

			

			
Group

The financial assets as recorded above are denominated entirely in £ Sterling.

Group

Trust

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

20,392

11,650

20,392

11,650

31 March
2017
£000
In one year or less

Assets as per SoFP
NHS Trade and other receivables
Other Financial Assets

-

-

300

400

Cash and cash equivalents

31,679

42,079

31,435

41,877

Total

52,071

53,729

52,127

53,927
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60,928

31 March
2016
£000

Trust
31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

37,769

60,933

37,743

In more than one year but not more than
166
two

680

166

680

In more than two years but not more
than five

952

2,517

952

2,517

In more than five years

337

629

337

629

Total

62,383

41,595

62,388

41,569
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39 Changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan
assets during the year for the amounts recognised in
the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Neither the Trust nor the Group held any plan assets at either the current or previous
year end.

40.1 Losses and special payments

31 March 2017

31 March 2016
Number
of cases
£000

Total value
of cases
£000

Total value
of cases
£000

LOSSES:
Losses of cash due to:
other causes

The Trust did not receive any funding from the Department of Health during the year in
the form of Public Dividend Capital (PDC).
PDC equivalent to the book value of the net assets of Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust on the date of acquisition was recognised by the Trust in the form
of a transfer from the income and expenditure reserve. The value of this transfer has
been agreed by the Department of Health.

42 Risk management policies

The Trust incurred losses or made special payments as follows:
			
Number of
cases
£000

41 Public Dividend Capital

3

20

5

9

private patients

-

-

1

175

TOTAL LOSSES

3

20

6

184

Bad debts and claims abandoned
in relation to:

SPECIAL PAYMENTS:
Ex gratia payments in respect of:
personal injury with advice

3

4

1

14

TOTAL SPECIAL PAYMENTS

3

4

1

14

TOTAL LOSSES AND SPECIAL
PAYMENTS:

6

24

7

198

40.2 Recovered losses
Neither the Trust nor the Group recovered any losses in either the current or previous
accounting period.

The Trust’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, though due to their nature
the degree of the exposure to financial risk is substantially reduced in comparison with
that faced by business entities. The financial risks are mainly credit risk and inflation
risk, with limited exposure to market risks (currency and interest rates) and to liquidity
risk.
Financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards may
apply. The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial
assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than
being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance
department, within parameters defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial
instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. Trust treasury activity is
subject to review by the Finance and Resource Committee.
Credit risk
As a consequence of the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust
has with NHS commissioning organisations and the way those organisations are
financed, the Trust is exposed to a degree of customer credit risk, but substantially
less than faced by business entities. In the current financial environment where
NHS commissioning organisations must manage increasing healthcare demand and
affordability within fixed budgets, the Trust regularly reviews the level of actual and
contracted activity with commissioning organisations to ensure than any income at risk
is discussed and resolved at a high level at the earliest opportunity available.

157
157
157

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

As the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public bodies,
there is limited exposure to credit risk from individuals and commercial entities.
The Trust mitigates its exposure to credit risk through regular review of receivables
due and by calculating a provision for impairment of receivables. An analysis of
the provision for impairment of receivables, along with an aging of non-impaired
receivables past their due date, can be found in notes 23.1 and 23.2.
Inflation risk
The Trust has exposure to annual price increases of medical supplies and services
(pharmaceuticals, medical equipment and agency staff) arising from its core
healthcare activities. The Trust mitigates this risk through, for example, transferring the
risk to suppliers by contract tendering and negotiating fixed purchase costs (including
prices set by nationally agreed frameworks across the NHS) or reducing external
agency costs via operation of the Trust’s own employee ‘staff bank’.
Market risk
The Trust has limited exposure to market risk for both interest rate and currency risk.
Currency risk - the Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority
of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and Sterling based. The Trust
has no overseas operations nor investments and all Trust cash is held in Sterling at
UK banks: Royal Bank of Scotland and the Government Banking Service (GBS).
The Trust therefore has minimal exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
Interest rate risk - other than cash balances, the Trust’s financial assets and all of its
financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. Cash balances at UK banks earn
interest linked to the Bank of England base rate. The Trust therefore has minimal
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
Liquidity risk
The Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under annual service level agreements
with NHS commissioning organisations, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The Trust ensures that it has sufficient cash to meet all its
commitments when they fall due and retains sufficient cash balances to facilitate this.
The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors and board of
Directors of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust
Opinion on financial statements of Birmingham Women’s
and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust

Summary of our audit approach
Key risks

In our opinion the financial statements:
l

		
		
l

		
		
l

		

l recognition of NHS clinical revenue; and
l property valuations and capital developments.

give a true and fair view of the state of the Group and Trust’s affairs as
at 31 March 2017 and of the Group and Trust’s income and expenditure
for the year then ended;

In 2015/16 we had additional risks relating to financial
sustainability, non NHS accruals and provisions and
deferred income. In the current year, these have not had
a significant effect on our audit strategy, the allocation
of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the
engagement team and therefore have been excluded
from our report.

have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies
directed by NHS Improvement – Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
National Health Service Act 2006.
Materiality

The materiality that we used in the current year was
£6.3m which was determined on the basis of 2% of
revenue.

Scoping

The focus of our audit work was on the Trust, with work
performed at the Trust’s head offices in Birmingham
directly by the audit engagement team, led by the audit
partner. Our audit covered all of the entities within the
Group, including the Trust’s subsidiaries and the two
month’s activity relating to Birmingham Women’s Hospital
following the merger on 1 February 2017.

Significant changes
in our approach

In the current year our materiality was changed from 1%
to 2% of revenue, as detailed later in this report.

The financial statements that we have audited comprise:
l

the Group and Trust Statements of Comprehensive Income;

l

the Group and Trust Statements of Financial Position;

l

the Group and Trust Statements of Changes in Equity;

l

the Group and Trust Statements of Cash Flows; and

l

the related notes 1 to 42.

The key risks that we identified in the current year were:

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by NHS Improvement –
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts in accordance with
the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006
and the Code of Audit Practice.
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Going concern

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement

We have reviewed the Accounting Officer’s statement contained within the Annual
Report that the Group is a going concern.

The assessed risks of material misstatement described below are those that had
the greatest effect on our audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and
directing the efforts of the engagement team. In 2015/16 we had additional risks
relating to financial sustainability, non NHS accruals and provisions and deferred
income. In the current year, these have not had a significant effect on our audit
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the
engagement team and therefore have been excluded from our report.

We confirm that:
l

		
		
l

		

we have concluded that the Accounting Officer’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate; and

Recognition of NHS clinical revenue

we have not identified any material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Risk description

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this
statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Independence
We are required to comply with the Code of Audit Practice and Financial Reporting
Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors, and confirm that we are independent of
the Group and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with those standards.

As described in note 1.4 Accounting Policies and note
1.23 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty, there are significant judgements in
recognition of revenue from care of NHS service users and
in provisioning for disputes with commissioners due to:
l The complexity of the Payment by Results regime, in
particular in determining the level of over-performance
revenue to recognise; and
l The judgemental nature of provisions for disputes,
including in respect of outstanding over-performance
income.
Details of the Group’s income, including £282.3m of
Commissioner Requested Services are shown in note 2.3 to
the financial statements. NHS debtors are shown in note 22
to the financial statements.

We confirm that:

The Group earns revenue from a wide range of
commissioners, increasing the complexity of agreeing a final
year-end position.

We confirm that we are independent of the Group and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those standards.
We also confirm we have not provided any of the prohibited non-audit
services referred to in those standards.

How the scope of our audit We evaluated the design and implementation of controls
over recognition of Payment by Results income and
responded to the risk
assessment of provisions for disputes with commissioners.
We performed detailed substantive testing on a sample
basis of the recoverability of over-performance income and
adequacy of provision for underperformance and disputes
through the year, and evaluated the results of the agreement
of balances exercise.
We challenged key judgements around specific areas
of dispute and actual or potential challenge from
commissioners and the rationale for the accounting
treatments adopted. In doing so, we considered the
historical accuracy of provisions for disputes and reviewed
correspondence with commissioners.
Key observations
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Based on the audit evidence obtained, we conclude that
NHS revenue is appropriately recognised.
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Property valuations and capital developments
Risk description

How the scope of our audit We evaluated the design and implementation of controls
over property valuations.
responded to the risk

The Group holds property assets within Property, Plant
and Equipment at a modern equivalent asset valuation of
£126.0m as per note 12.1. The valuations are by nature
significant estimates which are based on specialist and
management assumptions (including the floor areas for a
Modern Equivalent Asset, the basis for calculating build
costs, the level of allowances for professional fees and
contingency, and the remaining life of the assets) and
which can be subject to material changes in value, as
described in note 1.23 Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty.

We have challenged management’s decision not to align
the accounting policies in relation to the valuation and
useful economic lives during 2016/17 and have sought
evidence to determine the financial impact of this in
2017/18.
We have reviewed the disclosures in notes 1.7 and 1.23
and evaluated whether these provide sufficient explanation
of the basis of the valuation and the judgements made in
preparing the valuation.

The Trust commissioned a full revaluation as at 31 March
2016. No revaluation exercise has been undertaken
during 2016/17.

We evaluated the design and implementation of controls
over capitalisation of expenditure and tested spend on
both capital additions and revenue and maintenance
on a focused sample basis to confirm that it complies
with the relevant accounting requirements, and that the
depreciation rates adopted are appropriate.

Following the acquisition of Birmingham Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust on 1 February 2017, the Trust has
considered the requirement per paragraph 4.79 of the
Group Accounting Manual to align accounting policies.
There is a difference in accounting policy with regards to
the useful economic lives of the asset base. As detailed in
note 1.23 Accounting Policies, the Trust has not aligned
the accounting policies in 2016/17 on the grounds of
materiality and intends to perform the alignment exercise
in 2017/18.

Key observations

Based on the audit evidence obtained, we conclude that
the valuation of the Trust’s estate is appropriate. We did not
identify any issues with the capital additions recognised.
We note that the impact of management’s decision not
to align the accounting policies of Birmingham Women’s
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in respect of the useful
economic lives of the asset base is not material. We
are satisfied that management have made appropriate
disclosures in the financial statements.

Capital additions for the year were £25.6m as shown
in note 12.1. Determining whether expenditure should
be capitalised can involve significant judgement as to
whether costs should be capitalised under International
Financial Reporting Standards, and when to commence
depreciation.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.
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Our application of materiality

An overview of the scope of our audit

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial
statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably
knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both
in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its
environment, including group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material
misstatement at the Group level.
Our audit covered all of the entities within the Group, including the Trust’s
subsidiaries Birmingham Children’s Hospital Pharmacy Limited and Birmingham
Children’s Hospital Health Services Limited, which account for 100% of the
Group’s net assets, revenue and surplus (2015/16: 100%). Our work also covered
the two months activity relating to Birmingham Women’s Hospital following the
merger on 1 February 2017 and the Balance Sheet absorbed at that date.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial
statements as a whole as follows:
Group materiality

£6.3m (2016: £2.4m)

Basis for determining
materiality

2% of revenue (2016: 1% of revenue)

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

Our audit work was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual
entity which were lower than group materiality. The range of materiality used was
£3.2m to £6.0m.

We reassessed the percentage used in the context of our
cumulative knowledge and understanding the audit risks
at the Group and our assessment of those risks for this
year.

At the Group level we also tested the consolidation process.

Revenue was chosen as a benchmark as the Trust is a
non-profit organisation, and revenue is a key measure
of financial performance for users of the financial
statements.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the National
Health Service Act 2006
In our opinion:
l

		
		

Group materiality
£6.3m
Revenue
£316.7m
Revenue
Group materiality

l

		
		

Component
materiality range
£3.2m to £6.0m

the parts of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Staff Report to
be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the National
Health Service Act 2006; and
the information given in the Performance Report and the Accountability
Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements.

Audit committee
reporting htreshold
£0.25m

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all
audit differences in excess of £250,000 (2016: £124,000), as well as differences
below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified
when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Reports in the public interest or to the regulator

Annual Governance Statement, use of resources, and compilation of
financial statements

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are also required to report to you if:
l

any matters have been reported in the public
interest under Schedule 10(3) of the National
Health Service Act 2006 in the course of, or at the
end of the audit; or

l

any reports to the regulator have been made
under Schedule 10(6) of the National Health
Service Act 2006 because we have reason to
believe that the Trust, or a director or officer of
the Trust, is about to make, or has made, a
decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely
to cause a loss or deficiency.

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if,
in our opinion:
l

the Annual Governance Statement does not
meet the disclosure requirements set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual,
is misleading, or is inconsistent with information
of which we are aware from our audit;

l

the NHS foundation trust has not made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources; or

l

proper practices have not been observed in
the compilation of the financial statements.

We have nothing
to report in
respect of these
matters.

We have nothing
to report in
respect of these
matters.

Our duty to read other information in the Annual Report

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether the Annual
Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are
satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to
report to you if, in our opinion, information in the annual report is:
l

materially inconsistent with the information in the
audited financial statements; or

l

apparently materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the
Group acquired in the course of performing our
audit; or

l

otherwise misleading.

We confirm
that we have
not identified
any such
inconsistencies
or misleading
statements.

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any
inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired during the audit and the
directors’ statement that they consider the annual report is fair, balanced and
understandable and whether the annual report appropriately discloses those
matters that we communicated to the audit committee which we consider should
have been disclosed.
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Respective responsibilities of Accounting Officer
and auditor

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the Group’s and the Trust’s circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by the Accounting Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in
the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

As explained more fully in the Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities Statement, the
Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is
to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland). We also comply with International Standard on Quality Control 1
(UK and Ireland). Our audit methodology and tools aim to ensure that our quality
control procedures are effective, understood and applied. Our quality controls and
systems include our dedicated professional standards review team.
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors and Board of Directors
(“the Boards”) of Birmingham Women’s and Children’s NHS Foundation Trust,
as a body, in accordance with paragraph 4 of Schedule 10 of the National Health
Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Boards those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Boards as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Ian Howse (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Birmingham, United Kingdom
30 May 2017
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